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Section 1: Introduction
1.       In his letter of resignation Frangos summarised what he described as
"differences of opinion" about the investment in Netainment/Cytech as
follows:
"A lack of disclosure to shareholders of a company which made a material
contribution to profits.
Frustrating the efforts of the non-executives to obtain information.
No full audit of the entity.
No independent valuation, despite the potential conflict of interest.   A
valuation took place in a different context at the time of the merger, and at
the time of the audit for August 2002, at my instigation.
Management given a significant role during the 'independent valuation.'
Use of intimidatory tactics by management against me."
In this chapter, the pure Netainment/Cytech issues, such as the valuations,
the accounting policies applicable to Netainment/Cytech, disclosure, and so
on are dealt with.
2.       The submissions made to the Minister on behalf of Frangos identified four
"direct issues in relation to Cytech":
"(1) the manner in which Cytech was valued by the executives of the
Corpcapital Group and whether such values were unjustifiably inflated to
boost profits artificially and possibly fraudulently, such profits in turn
being used as the basis to pay bonuses and restraint of trade payments;
(2) the actual beneficial ownership of Cytech is also unclear. It appears as if
Cytech may initially have been 100% owned by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Corpcapital and that subsequently 52,5% was disposed of for
no consideration to persons who have never been identified.
Alternatively, the shareholding in Cytech was always 47,5%, with the
identity of the remaining shareholders not being disclosed;
(3) the appropriateness of the accounting treatment applied to Cytech ... the
two independent reports indicate that Corpcapital and old Corpcapital did
1 Applic 260.
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not comply with material sections of the Companies Act, and [GAAP];
and
(4) the adequacy of disclosures made about the investment to directors, audit
committees and ultimately to shareholders. The reasons underlying the
inadequate disclosure should be investigated to ascertain whether
information was deliberately withheld to avoid scrutiny of the valuations
and accounting treatment applied."
3.       The investment in Netainment/Cytech attracted so much attention in this
investigation for a number of reasons :-
Firstly, an investment of Rl,83 million some time in 1998 translated
into the following "fair values" of the investment being included in
the Corpcapital Group annual financial statements:
31 August 1999
R4,5 million
31 August 2000
Rl 49 million fair value
31 August 2001
R221 million fair value
31 August 2002
Rl 10 million equity accounted
31 August 2003
R20,1 million
2 Applic para.3 p.9.
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Secondly, the value placed on Netainment was material for old
Corpcapital, particularly in 2000, the year Payne did not cover in his
report:
2000
Corpcapitial's profit before taxation
242 109 000
Contribution from unrealised revaluation surplus
of Netainment investment
144 500 000
(59,68%)
2000
Total assets
2 198 849 000
Carrying value of Netainment investment
149 000 000
(6,8%)
Corpcapital's shareholders equity/net assets
940 409 000
Contribution from Netainment investment:
cumulative after-tax unrealised revaluation surplus
103 019 000
(10,95%)
3 KPMG p. 189.
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Thirdly, the value of Netainment relative to the three pre-merger
entities in early 2001 is illustrated by the following schedule
produced at the time by KPMG:
Value
Total
R million       R million
Corpgro
416.1
Old Corpcapital (excluding Corpcapital Bank)
471.9
Unlisted
Netainment
223.7
Corpcapital Bank
407.1
________
Equity value for new Corpcapital Ltd
1 295.1
Cytech accounted for almost half of the Corpcapital valuation,47.4%, and 17.3% of the total valuation of the merger. This was material.
fourthly, the experts appointed by Frangos raised major concerns
about the accounting policy and the level of disclosure of
information regarding the Netainment investment in the Group's
financial statements, particularly during the 2000 and 2001 financial
years, when the investment increased significantly in value;
fifthly, the experts appointed by Frangos raised major concerns about
the accounting treatment and the disclosures regarding the Cytech investment in the group's 2002 financial statements, when the
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investment suffered a major decline in value and the classification of
the investment was changed resulting in the decline being excluded
from the headline earnings for the year. This was an alarm call.
4.       No less than ten experts devoted time and energy to Cytech. All the experts
filed statements, some more than one.  Abrahams, Collett, Adam, Wilmot
and Coppin gave evidence and were questioned by the inspectors. A short
resume of each expert is given:
Experts appointed by Frangos:
Abrahams is a chartered accountant who was an International
Partner of Arthur Andersen World-Wide from 1980 to 1999, Managing
Partner of the Durban office until 1996, and National Practice Director of
its South African Assurance practice from 1990 to 31 May 2001. He has
been closely involved in implementation and interpretation of accounting
and auditing standards in South Africa. He has served on committees of the
South African Institute of Chartered Accountants ("SAICA") and the Public
Accountants' and Auditors' Board ("PAAB").
Collett is a chartered accountant who consults on various matters,
including preparation of financial statements, valuations of shares, advising
on audit standards and he does forensic investigations.
Adam is a chartered accountant who has lectured on taxation and
auditing at the University of Pretoria.    He is the head of the largest
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empowerment firm of chartered accountants in South Africa. He serves on
various boards of directors and committees of SAICA.
Experts appointed by Corpcapital:
Wilmot is a chartered accountant who practised for 41 years before
retiring as chairman of Deloitte & Touche. He has served in various
capacities on SAICA , the Advisory Council of the International
Accounting Standards Board and is a member of the GAAP Monitoring
Panel of the JSE ("GMP").
Coppin is a chartered accountant and partner in Ernst & Young, is
the head of the technical department of Ernst & Young, is a member of the
Auditing Standards Board, and is a member of the GMP.
Everingham is a chartered accountant who is a Professor of
Accounting, University of Cape Town; he has published widely; and he has
been a member of PAAB, chairman of SAICA's Employee Reporting
Awards Panel, a member of the Accounting Practices Committee, and the
GMP.
Armitage is a chartered accountant who worked as an analyst at
Deutsche Bank and Merrill Lynch and was CEO of AfriCam, South
Africa's most visited internet site. He is presently employed by Nedcor
Securities as head of research (non-mining).
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Meyersfeld has a BCom (Honours) LLB degrees from the University
of the Witwatersrand and an MPhil from the University of Cambridge. He
was a lecturer in corporate finance investment in the business economics
department of the University of the Witwatersrand. He is at present
associate director equity research, UBS Investment Bank.
Knight (MA (Oxon), MCom, PhD) is a chartered accountant who is
Dean Emeritus Templeton College, University of Oxford. He is chairman
of Oxford Metrica and has extensive experience in working and consulting
in the financial and corporate sectors. He is an expert in corporate
valuations and consults extensively with leading firms.
Cohen is the CEO and chairman of eCompany Holdings Limited
("eCompany"). eCompany has completed twelve acquisitions of internet
technology companies, including three in online gambling. He has worked
closely with eCompany's principal investors, highly regarded private equity
investment companies, to value those companies and then negotiate
acquisitions. At peak, eCompany employed 200 people in 8 divisions.
Between 1999 and 2003 Cohen achieved extensive exposure to the online
gambling industry.
Section 2: Background, formation and Group structure
1. The background to the formation and development of the
Netainment/Cytech group of companies revolved largely around the
activities and friendship of a group of young South African chartered
accountants who had studied, worked and lived together at various times in
the mid to late 1990's, both in Johannesburg and in London.
2. One of the members of this group, Evan Hoff, after qualifying as a CA(SA),
joined an online casino business venture owned by a Martin Moshal. The
Moshals had apparently developed proprietary internet gaming software,
which they had branded under the name of MicroGaming. Hoff became
involved in the establishment of VR Services (Pty) Ltd ("VR Services"), an
online casino management/administration company based in Cape Town.
VR Services administered a number of MicroGaming casinos. Two other
members of the group of young chartered accountants, Sean Rose and Tal
Harpaz had developed a business plan for the establishment of an online
gaming company. Hoffs proximity to the industry and his close
relationship with Rose and Harpaz resulted in the latter two being provided
with first hand knowledge of the growth and profitability of the industry at
the time.
' Hamburger's statement pp.3-10.
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3. Harpaz and Jade Hamburger, another member of this group of young
chartered accountants, were living in London at the time. Harpaz and Rose
approached Hamburger to assist them in preparing a business plan for the
establishment of an online gaming operation.
4. This business plan formed the basis of a presentation made by Rose and
Harpaz to old Corpcapital in May 1998. Four key strategies were
identified in the presentation:
the casino would be located in an offshore jurisdiction;
the administration would be based in London;
the Middle-Eastern markets (non-English speaking territories) would
be targeted for growth;
MicroGaming was identified as the most likely casino software
provider.
Nowhere was there an objective to develop the company for short term sale.
5.
Rose and Martin Sacks, an executive director of old Corpcapital, were close
friends. Hamburger, who met Sacks through his relationship with Rose, was
approached by Sacks to join old Corpcapital as an executive. Hamburger
then joined old Corpcapital in July 1998. This was a good indication that the objective was not a short term sale of the company. Hamburger not only change his job, but also his location because of Cytech.
2Cytech(l)2&217.

3 Hamburger's statement pp.3 & 5.
3
6. Rose and Harpaz had formed a company in the United Kingdom, Global
Admin UK Limited ("Global"), with the idea that Global would comprise
an online gaming/casino business as well as a "back-office" gaming
administration business. Another company, Interactive Online Limited
registered in the British Virgin Islands ("Interactive"), was also established
to provide consultancy services to internet businesses. Did the inspectors pierce the veil of why the structure was so complex? Complexity facilitates deception and discovery.
7. Following the Rose and Harpaz presentation to old Corpcapital and further
negotiations, a letter of intent5 was signed in Johannesburg on 29 July 1998
by B Liebmann on behalf of old Corpcapital and by Rose and Harpaz
("Letter of Intent"). While the Letter of Intent constituted a binding
agreement, it was intended to serve as a basis for the preparation of a
comprehensive "Definitive Agreement" to replace it. In terms of the Letter
of Intent, it was the intention of the parties, inter alia that:
old Corpcapital acquire 50% of the equity in the company or
companies which together would derive the entire benefits arising
from the internet gaming business of Global;
4 Hamburger's statement para.36 p.9.
5Cytech(l)59.

6 Cytech( 1)60-65.
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the  agreement would be  conditional upon the  conclusion  and
implementation of agreements with VR Services and MicroGaming
Systems Anstalt ("MicroGaming");
the agreement would be subject to the approval of the South African
Reserve Bank ("SARB") for the investment;
Rose   and  Harpaz  would   conclude   suitable   service   contracts,
including restraint of trade agreements;
the total shareholders' investment in [the company] would be US
$600 000. A nominal sum would be allocated as share capital (with
old Corpcapital being allotted 50% of the shares and Rose and
Harpaz 25% each).   The remainder of the investment was to be
contributed as loans; US $40 000 by Rose and Harpaz and US
$560 000 by old Corpcapital.  The loans would be advanced on an
"as needed" basis;
all major activities and decisions with regard to the running of the
business "may not be undertaken by Global without the express
written concurrence of [old] Corpcapital or the director/s nominated
by it and either one of the Vendors ...".    These activities and
decisions included:
"15.1   Any decision which ordinarily requires approval of a company in
general meeting.
15.2    Any capital expenditure not contemplated in the Presentation
Document or a written signed budget.
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15.3 The conclusion of any contract between Global and a Vendor or a
Vendor's family (or entities controlled by them).
15.4 The conclusion of any material supply contract (e.g. the VR
Services or MicroGaming Systems Agreements).
15.5 The conclusion of any licence or management agreement which
transfers the whole or part of the business or effective control
thereof to a third party.
15.6 Any alteration of capital.
15.7 The appointment and/or removal of professional advisors, bankers
and the like.
15.8 Any increase in or change to the basis for calculating any
management fees payable to a shareholder."
in order to secure the VR Services Agreement, 5% of the total issued
share capital would be allotted and issued to VR Services on certain
terms, including that the shares would carry no votes;
the auditors of Global would be Fisher Hoffman & Sithole or its
appointee/s in the relevant jurisdiction.
The above agreements provide Corpcapital with “significant influence” at the very least. Where a company has these provisions in a joint venture it is obliged to take a close personal interest in the company. Hamburger confirms in his statement that in fact this is exactly what happened.
8.       Following the signing of the Letter of Intent, a company, Netainment NV
("Netainment"), registered in the Netherlands Antilles, was formed to house
o
the online casino operation of Global. According to Hamburger , as it was
not legal for a London based company to own and operate an online casino,
Rose and Harpaz decided to form the Netainment company to overcome
this problem. The shareholders of Netainment were Corpcapital
Investments (Pty) Ltd (formerly Corpgro Capital (Pty) Ltd) ("Corpcapital
Investments") 47,5%; Bell Trust (with Sean Rose as beneficiary) 23,75%,
7Cytech(l)63.

8 Hamburger's statement para.41 p.9.
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Dolphin Trust (with Tal Harpaz as beneficiary) 23,75%, and VR Services
5%. VR Services later transferred its 5% interest to Dawson Systems
Limited ("Dawson").9
9. Cyber Finance Investments Limited ("CFI"), a British Virgin Islands
registered company, was formed to facilitate the e-commerce banking
activities of the online casino operation. The shareholders of CFI were
Corpcapital Investments 50%, Gandolf Trust 25% (beneficiary: Sean Rose),
and Big Blue Trust 25% (beneficiary: Tal Harpaz). Why was this company formed separately? Did the inspectors ask further questions? Complex structures and over-elaboration are generally signs that the true purpose is concealment in the event of discovery. Even of there was a legitimate explanation the inspectors were obliged to penetrate the veil. 
10. Global performed the "back-office" administration work, supporting the
online casino business of Netainment. Service agreements were signed
with VR Services for the provision of assistance with regard to the start-up
phase of the operation as well as other technical support, strategic
marketing plans and internal control procedures, and with MicroGaming for
the provision of the online casino software. VR Services received its equity
in lieu of fees for providing its services to the start-up business. There were many other entities within the “Cytech constellation”. Did the inspectors ask why, for example, each game was housed in a separate entity? The on-line gaming business has high start up costs for games. The purpose of separation may have been to shield Cytech from these costs.
11. Although a draft shareholders' agreement between Global Admin,
Corpcapital Investments, Rose and Harpaz was prepared10, it was never
signed. Why? It is surprising that the inspectors did not ask further questions.
9 Hamburger's statement para.39 p.9; Cytech(2)51.
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12. Similarly no written restraint of trade agreements were concluded between
Rose, Harpaz, Global and old Corpcapital. This is even more surprising, as is the lack of further information from the inspectors. Had the executives disclosed Cytech to the board the board would have insisted on signed restraints. If it was not done initially it was mandatory when the notional profits from Cytech became material in 2000. 
13. No written purchase agreement for the acquisition of the shares in
Netainment, CFI and Global was prepared and there is also no written
record or notes of any oral agreement with regard to these matters. Why not? This is normally mandatory, and if not done deserves a full explanation. Share certificates of Global, Netainment and CFI in the name of Corpcapital
Investments (Pty) Ltd (or one of its wholly owned subsidiaries) which
provides evidence of CorpcapitaPs 47,5% interest (Netainment) and 50%
interest (Global and CFI) respectively in these companies were shown to
the inspectors. These were certificates 9 to 12. 1 to 8 never appeared, even though they were requested.
14. On the basis of the evidence, the inspectors find that the beneficial
ownership of Netainment and Cytech resided in Corpcapital Investments
(47,5%), Rose (23,75%), Harpaz (23,75%), and Dawson (5%). Unless the inspectors have seen certificates 1 to 8 they cannot make this finding. If they have seen them they should have disclosed this information.
15. Old Corpcapital did not pay any monetary consideration for the right it
acquired to its interest in Global11 12. Why not. Did the inspectors ask for reasons? This right was subsequently
"swapped" for a 47,5% equity interest in Netainment and 50% equity
,0Cytech(l)136.

"R459, line 3.

12 Cytech(5)5 (point 1.6.2).
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interest in Global and CFI. The "cost" of the Netainment investment
(Rl,83m), shown in Corpcapital's records13, represented an estimate of the
costs incurred by Corpcapital Investments with regard to investigating and
setting up the investment opportunity.
16. On 11 November 1998 old Corpcapital, via First National Bank ("FNB"),
applied to the SARB for approval to invest US $600 000 through a wholly
owned British Virgin Islands registered subsidiary, which would deploy the
funds to acquire 50% of the share capital of and provide loan funds to
Global.14 The applicant anticipated a 100% return on its investment within
3 years and thereafter continuing benefits exceeding R5m per annum. This was material, and should have been disclosed to the board. The
SARB responded on 19 November 1998, raising questions as to what the
"quantifiable benefits" to South Africa would be, how the company would
ensure that Exchange Control Regulations would be adhered to with regard
to electronic cash transactions, and requiring an undertaking that South
African residents would not be able to have access to the online casino
services.15
13 Cytech(2)49.
,4Cytech(l)182.
15 Cytech( 1)208.
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17. According to Hamburger16, following the SARB response, FNB expressed
the view that the application would be better received by the SARB if it
were made by a company operating in the IT industry rather than an
investment bank. At that time, old Corpcapital was said to be far advanced
in discussions to set up a separate e-commerce entity, which turned out to
be the precursor to the establishment of the Aqua Group. Did the inspectors obtain information on how this was to be achieved? The SARB
application by old Corpcapital was put on hold at that stage, pending the
outcome of those initiatives. What happened then? And what did the executives do while this matter was pending?
18. Netainment applied for and received a licence to operate an online casino in
Antigua. Netainment's gaming servers were then physically transported to
Antigua. Netainment commissioned the development of its website and the
establishment of its call centre infrastructure. Global implemented this.
The King Solomon brand was the first casino to be established by
Netainment. The online casino commenced operations in December 1998.
19. Schindlers Reg Treuuntemehmen ("Schindlers"), a trust company based in
London and Lichtenstein, was appointed to assist in the administration of
the corporate structure and became the initial corporate directors for
Netainment, CFI and Interactive. Schindlers was the company which controlled all off-shore investments for Liebesman and Liebmann. Did the inspectors ask penetrating questions about the relationship and prior transactions? They were given sufficient information from NJF to do do.
Hamburger's statement p.8.
17 Hamburger's statement para.5.2 p.l 1.
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20.
Market-related   service   contracts   between   Netainment,   Global   and
i o
Interactive were concluded. On what basis can this definite statement be made. It would imply that the inspectors received persuasive evidence that the contracts were market related.
21. Although Netainment focused a large portion of its marketing resources in
the early stages on the American market, it recognised early that a
competitive advantage could be gained by targeting unique countries with
language specific content and call centre support. The Israeli market was
targeted with a Hebrew version of its King Solomon brand and this proved
to be very successful. A second online casino, "Lucky Liner" was launched
on 1 November 1999.19
22. An additional company, Corpcapital Investments BVI was formed as a
wholly owned subsidiary of Corpcapital Investments to serve as the
offshore advisory subsidiary of the Corpcapital Group. Was this transaction approved by the board of directors? If so, what mandate was given to the executives? Initially Corpcapital
Investments, a wholly owned subsidiary of Corpcapital Limited, held the
Corpcapital Group's 47,5% interest in Netainment, 50% in CFI and 100%
in Corpcapital Investments BVI. It was, however, decided to form an
offshore company, Mikado Group Holdings Inc ("Mikado"), registered in
the British Virgin Islands, as a wholly owned subsidiary of Corpcapital
18
Hamburger's statement para.5.3 p.l 1.
19
Cytech(5)8.
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Investments, to hold the Group's non-South African investments. Mikado
was, therefore, interposed between Corpcapital Investments and the three
companies (Netainment, CFI and Corpcapital Investments BVI) and
thereafter held the Group's direct interests in these three investments. According to the Joselowitz statement the purpose of Mikado was to ring-fence Cytech from litigation arising from the cancellation of the software licence with MGS.
23. Between July and December 2000, protracted negotiations took place with
regard to a proposed merger between Netainment and a Canadian online
casino business, English Harbour Entertainment Limited ("English
Harbour"). In anticipation of this merger, for technical reasons regarding
one of the proposed terms of the merger relating to pre-emption rights, it
apparently became necessary to interpose another company, Blue Eagle
International Investments Limited ("Blue Eagle"), a British Virgin Islands
company, between Mikado and Netainment. Blue Eagle was incorporated
as a wholly owned subsidiary of Mikado, with the latter company selling its
interest in Netainment to Blue Eagle.
24. With effect from 1 October 2001 Netainment sold, as a going concern, its
business to Cytech Limited ("Cytech"), a company incorporated in Berlize.
Cytech is a wholly owned subsidiary of Netainment. The only asset or
liability excluded from this sale was the licence agreement between
Statement of Joselowitz, pp.2-9.
Statement of Joselowitz, p.2 para.2.6.
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Netainment and MicroGaming. The reason for the sale was a decision
taken by Netainment to migrate off the MicroGaming software platform
onto a new software platform. In terms of the agreement with
MicroGaming, Netainment was effectively prohibited from migrating to a
new software platform. Corpcapital believed that the only legal method of
effectively achieving such a migration was for Netainment to sell its
business operation and for Netainment to retain the licencing agreement
with MicroGaming. By selling the business operation to its wholly owned
subsidiary, Netainment effectively retained its interest in the business,
while enabling itself to migrate off the MicroGaming software platform.
Corpcapital's effective interest in the online casino business was
maintained in that way. MicroGaming has instituted legal proceedings
against Cytech, Rose and Harpaz for breach of contract. The tactics employed by Corpcapital may have provide a legal shield but there is no question that they were unethical, and predictably gave rise to litigation. This matter should have been disclosed to the board, because Cytech, bu September 2001, was material to Corpcapital.
Record 1047-8, Evidence of Harpaz.
Section 3: The accounting policy (1999-2001)
1. Although old Corpcapital's right to acquire its interest in the Netainment
business was established in terms of the Letter of Intent dated 29 July 19981
(i.e. during old Corpcapital's financial year ended 31 August 1998), the
Netainment business did not start operating until December 1998. The
investment in Netainment was, therefore, accounted for the first time in old
Corpcapital's financial statements for the year ended 31 August 1999. Was there any disclosure?
2. Before examining the method of accounting used by old Corpcapital to
account for its investment in Netainment, an outline of the requirements of
the relevant South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice ("GAAP") is provided.
Accounting for associates
3. GAAP Statement AC 110, dealing with accounting for investments in
associates, underwent some amendments during the 1990s.
4. AC 110, Accounting for Investments in Associates and Non-consolidated
Subsidiaries, was revised and issued in 1991 and was effective for financial
1 Cytech(l)59.
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periods commencing on or after 1 January 1992 ("the 1992 version of
AC110"). In this Statement, an associate was defined as:
"... an incorporated or unincorporated enterprise in which an investor has long
term interests and over which it has the ability to exercise significant influence
and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture of the investor."
Significant influence was defined as:
"... the ability to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but it is not control over those policies." Corpcapital had this.
Some guidance was provided as to what was meant by significant influence
in paragraphs 13 and 14 of the Statement:
"If an investor directly or indirectly holds 20% or more of the voting power of the
investee, it is presumed, for the purpose of equity accounting, that the investor has
significant influence, unless it can be demonstrated that this is not the case....
The existence of significant influence by an investor may be demonstrated in one
or more of the following ways:
representation on the board of directors or equivalent governing body of
the investee
participation in policy making processes
material transactions between the investor and the investee
interchange of managerial personnel
provision of essential technical information."
5.       The 1992 version of the Statement provided that:
"Associates are accounted for under the equity method in either:
consolidated financial statements of the investor, or
the investor's own financial statements, where consolidated financial
statements are not presented.
Where  the   investor   is   a  wholly  owned   subsidiary   of another  company
incorporated in the Republic, the equity method need not be applied by the
investor as its associates and non-consolidated subsidiaries will be accounted for
under the equity method by the investor's holding company."5
2
ACl 10 (1992 version), para.05.
3
ACl 10 (1992 version), para.07.
4
ACl 10 (1992 version), para. 19.
5
ACl 10 (1992 version), para.20.
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6.
Under the equity method the investment is initially recorded at cost and is
increased/decreased subsequently by the investor's share of the associate's:
net profit for the periods subsequent to the date on which the
investment was acquired, and
other changes (e.g. revaluation surpluses) to the associate's equity.
The investor's share of the associate's net profit is credited to income in the
investor's consolidated income statement while the investor's share of other
post acquisition changes to the associate's equity is taken directly to equity
on the investor's consolidated balance sheet.
Dividends received from the associate by the investor are credited to the
carrying value of the investment (rather than to income) by the investor, as
the investor's share of the associate's net profit has already been credited to
consolidated income.
7. It follows that under the equity method, therefore, the carrying value of the
investment in the associate in the investor's consolidated financial
statements changes directly in line and proportionately with the changes in
the underlying equity of the associate itself. What does the term “equity” mean? The only change permitted is investor’s share of the incremental taxed profit for the year of the investment.
8. In November 1996 a new Exposure Draft 108, Accounting for Investments
in Associates, was issued with a view to amending the 1992 version of
4
AC110.  The revised AC110 ("the 1998 version of AC110") was issued in
April 1998 and was to be applied "as soon as possible and regarded as
standard for financial statements covering all periods commencing on or
after 1 July 1998".6 The 1998 version of ACllO amended the definition of
an associate by deleting the reference to the underlined words "an
incorporated or unincorporated enterprise in which an investor has long
term interests ...". The new definition of an associate was:
"... an enterprise in which the investor has significant influence and which is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture of the investor."
This statement required that:
"An investment in an associate should be accounted for as an investment in
consolidated financial statements under the equity method except where the
investment is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its disposal in the near
o
future, in which case it should be accounted for under the cost method." This statement appears to support Abrahams that regardless Cytech should have been equity accounted.
9. Under the cost method the investment in the associate is carried at cost in
the consolidated balance sheet of the investor and only dividend income
from the associate is included in the consolidated income statement.
10. Another change that was made from the 1992 version of the statement to
the 1998 version was that whereas the 1992 version provided that the equity
method of accounting should be used in the investor's own financial
6
ACl 10 (1998 version), para.29.
7
AC110 (1998 version), para.02.
8
ACl 10 (1998 version), para.07.
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statements where the investor does not present consolidated financial
statements9, the 1998 version provided that under these circumstances, an
investment in an associate, in the investor's own (or "separate") financial
statements should be either:
"(a) accounted for using the equity method or the cost method, whichever
would be appropriate for the associate if the investor issued consolidated
financial statements; or
(b) carried at cost or revalued amounts under the accounting policy for long-
term investments. If the equity method would be the appropriate
accounting method for the associate if the investor issued consolidated
financial statements, the investor should disclose what would have been
the effect had the equity method been applied, together with the reasons
for not using the equity method."
This latter change was, however, irrelevant for old Corpcapital as far as the
investment in Netainment was concerned, as old Corpcapital did present
consolidated financial statements.
11. ACllO was again revised and reissued in June 1999. The revisions this
time, however, were minor and did not affect the basic requirements from
old Corpcapital's point of view. The 1999 version of AC110 retained the
same effective date applicable to the 1998 version, i.e. 1 July 1998.11
12.     ACllO was yet again revised when in April 2001, a new AC 102 (Income
Taxes) was issued and, curiously, certain amendments to various other
9
ACl 10 (1992 version), para.42.
10
AC110 (1998 version), para. 13.
" ACl 19 (1999 version), para.29.
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GAAP statements were included as an add-on to the new AC 102. In terms
of this revised AC 102, AC110 was amended to provide that where an
investment in an associate is acquired and held exclusively with a view to
its subsequent disposal in the near future or where the associate operates
under severe long-term restrictions that significantly impair its ability to
transfer funds to the investor, then such investments should be accounted
for in accordance with the statement on financial instruments: recognition
and measurement.
13. With no implementation (or effective) date specifically stated in this
amendment to AC110, it could be argued that the date of issue (April 2001)
was intended to be the effective date applicable to this amendment.
14. Coppin, an expert from Ernst & Young, appointed by Corpcapital to
comment on certain accounting issues, in his statement points out that this
change to AC110 followed the same change made to the international
equivalent of AC 110, namely IAS28, in October 2000, which was before
Corpcapital's 2000 financial statements were approved on 17 November
2000. Coppin, therefore believes that while the amendment to AC110 was
certainly applicable to the 2001 financial statements, a case could also be
made for it being applied in the 2000 financial statements. This is taking advantage of the flexibility built into accounting standards.
12 Coppin's statement para.3.1.5, p.8.
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Accounting for joint ventures
15. GAAP Statement AC 119, Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint
Ventures, also underwent some amendments during the 1990s. A January
1993 version of AC119 was revised and reissued in 1997. The 1997 version
was again revised slightly and reissued in June 1999. The effective date of
1 March 1997 applicable to the 1997 version, was retained for the 1999
version. This 1999 version of the statement, therefore, would have been
applicable to Corpcapital as far as the investment in Netainment is
concerned. The problem for Corpcapital is that at the time of Payne they did not classify Cytech as a joint venture.
16. AC 119 defines a joint venture as:
"...  a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an
economic activity that is subject to joint control."
Joint control is defined as:
"... the contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic activity."
The Statement emphasises that the existence of a contractual arrangement
distinguishes  interests that involve joint control  from  investments  in
associates in which the investor has significant influence.   Activities that
13
ACl 19 (1999 version), para.48.
14
ACl 19 (1999 version), para.02.
15
ACl 19 (1999 version), para.02.
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have no contractual arrangement to establish joint control are not regarded
as joint ventures for purposes of the Statement.16
"The contractual arrangement may be evidenced in a number of ways, for
example by a contract between the venturers or minutes of discussions between
the venturers. In some cases, the arrangement is incorporated in the articles or
other by-laws of the joint venture. Whatever its form, the contractual arrangement
is usually in writing and deals with such matters as:
(a) the activity, duration and reporting obligations of the joint venture,
(b) the appointment of the board of directors or equivalent governing body of
the joint venture and the voting rights of the venturers,
(c) capital contributions by the venturers, and
(d) the sharing by the venturers of the output, income, expenses or results of
the joint venture."17
The contractual arrangement establishes joint control over the joint venture. Such
a requirement ensures that no single venturer is in a position to control unilaterally
the activity. The arrangement identifies those decisions in areas essential to the
goals of the joint venture that require the consent of all of the venturers and those
decisions that may require the consent of a specified majority of the venturers."
The Statement requires as its "Benchmark" treatment that:
"In its consolidated financial statements, a venturer should report its interest in a
jointly controlled entity using one of the two reporting formats for proportionate
consolidation."
As an "Allowed alternative" treatment, the Statement permits the use of the
equity method for an investment in a jointly controlled entity in the
consolidated financial statements of the venturer.
Proportionate consolidation is defined as:
"... a  method of accounting and reporting whereby a venturer's share of each of
the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a jointly controlled entity is
combined on a line-by-line basis with similar items in the venturer's financial
statements, or reported as separate line items in the venturer's consolidated
financial statements."
16
ACl 19 (1999 version), para.04.
17
AC119 (1999 version), para.05.
18
ACl 19 (1999 version), para.06.
19
ACl 19 (1999 version), para.26.
20
ACl 19 (1999 version), para.02.
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17. The Statement provides an exception to the benchmark treatment (i.e.
proportionate consolidation) and the allowed alternative treatment (i.e.
equity accounting) where:
(a) an interest in a jointly controlled entity is acquired and held
exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near future,
or
(b) an interest is held in a jointly controlled entity that operates under
severe long-term restrictions that significantly impair its ability to
transfer funds to the venturer.
In these cases the venturer should account for the investment either in terms
of the cost method or in accordance with the statement on financial
instruments: recognition and measurement (AC133).21
The revised version of AC 102, issued in April 2001, referred to above, also
included an amendment to ACl 19. This amendment eliminated the use of
the cost method where the exceptions in terms of (a) and (b) above applied,
and required in these cases that the venturer should account for the
investment in accordance with the statement on financial instruments:
recognition and measurement. This is where Corpcapital identified the escape hatch. They had to show that Cytech was held “exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near future.” The manner in which they present this case must be placed under close scrutiny by the inspectors.
ACl 19 (1999 version), para.36.
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Financial instruments: recognition and measurement (AC 133)
18. GAAP Statement AC133, was based on International Accounting Standard
(IAS) 39, which came into effect for financial years ended on or after 15
March 1999.
Although AC 133 was issued in December 1999 and was intended to come
into effect for all periods commencing on or after 1 January 2001 (with
early compliance being encouraged22) implementation was later delayed by
eighteen months. To August 2002. The fact that the old Corpcapital year end was 31 August
1999 and that AC 133 was not yet issued at that time is not considered to
have been a valid reason for old Corpcapital not to have applied the
principles outlined in the statement if it wished to, as both AC110 and 119
referred to the statement on financial instruments: recognition and
measurement, the local one had not yet been issued and the equivalent
international one (IAS39) was in effect by 31 August 1999. What does this mean? Given the
harmonisation project in operation in South Africa for some years, whereby
South African accounting standards have been brought into line with the
international standards, it is generally accepted accounting practice to refer
to international standards on a topic where no local standard on the topic
has been issued.
ACl33, para. 172.
IAS39,para.l71-2.
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19. In considering the issues regarding the method of accounting for
Corpcapital's investment in Netainment the following extracts from AC133
are relevant:
"A financial asset is any asset that is:
(a) ...
(b) ...
(c) ...
(d) an equity instrument of another enterprise.24
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged ... between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction.25 This appears to mean willing buyer and willing seller where a transaction ensues.
A financial asset... held for trading is one that was acquired ... principally for the
purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or dealer's
margin. A financial asset should be classified as held for trading if, regardless of
why it was acquired, it is part of a portfolio of which there is evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking .. .26 this was not the case at Corpcapital.
Available-for-sale financial assets are those financial assets that are not:
(a) loans and receivables originated by the enterprise,
(b) held-to-maturity investments, or
(c) financial assets held for trading.27
67 When a financial asset ... is recognised initially, an enterprise should
measure it at its cost. ...
70
After initial recognition, an enterprise should measure financial assets ...
at their fair values, except for the following categories of financial assets,
which should be measured under paragraph 74:
(a) ...
(b) ...
(c) any financial asset that does not have a quoted market price in an
active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. This was the case with Cytech.
71
There is a presumption that fair value can be reliably determined for most
financial assets classified as available for sale or held for trading. This can only mean that fair value can be established because the asset is in the process of negotiation , and both parties agree to use this method for establishing a basis from which to negotiate. 
However, that presumption can be overcome for an investment in an
24AC133,para.09.
25AC133,para.09.
26AC133, para.ll.
27 AC133.para.il.
28AC133, para.67.
29AC133,para.70.
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equity instrument... that does not have a quoted market price in an active
market and for which other methods of reasonably estimating fair value
are clearly inappropriate and unworkable. ...30
74 Those financial assets that are excluded from fair valuation under
paragraph 70 and ... that do not have a fixed maturity should be measured
at cost ...31
96 The fair value of a financial instrument is reliably measurable if (a) the
variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is not significant
for that instrument PwC proved conclusively that the range was significant in their valuation of 2002 or (b) the probability of the various estimates within
the range can be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value. Neither of these was applicable in the case of Cytech.
Often, an enterprise will be able to make an estimate of the fair value of a
financial instrument that is sufficiently reliable to use in financial
statements. Occasionally, the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is so great and the probabilities of the various outcomes
are so difficult to assess that the usefulness of a single estimate of fair
value is negated. Good description of Cytech.
97 Situations in which fair value is reliably measurable include (a) a financial
instrument for which there is a published price quotation in an active
public securities market for that instrument, (b) a debt instrument that has
been rated by an independent rating agency and whose cash flows can be
reasonably estimated, and (c) a financial instrument for which there is an
appropriate valuation model and for which the data inputs to that model
can be measured reliably because of the data come from active markets.32 None of these applied to Cytech.
101 ... In other circumstances, as well as when a quoted market price is not
available, estimation techniques may be used to determine fair value with
sufficient reliability to satisfy the requirements of this statement.
Techniques that are well established in financial markets include reference
to the current market value of another instrument that is substantially the
same, discounted cash flow analysis. ... If DCF is used the inputs must be critically analysed.
104 A recognised gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a
financial asset... should be reported as follows"
(a) A gain or loss on a financial asset ... held for trading should be
included in net profit or loss for the period in which it arises ...
(b) A gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset should be
either:
(i)        included in net profit or loss for the period in which it
arises, or
30AC133, para.71.
31 AC133,para.74.
32AC133,paras.96-97.
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(ii) recognised directly in equity, through the statement of
changes in equity ... until the financial asset is sold,
collected, or otherwise disposed of ... at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity
should be included in net profit or loss for the period.33
105 An enterprise should choose either paragraph 104(b)(i) or paragraph
104(b)(ii) as its accounting policy and should apply that policy to all of its
available-for-sale financial assets. ...34
108 Because the designation of a financial asset as held for trading is based on
the objective for initially acquiring it, an enterprise should not reclassify
its financial assets that are being remeasured to fair value out of the
35
trading category while they are held...."
(Emphasis is added).
20. To return to the issue of the accounting method or policy used by old
Corpcapital in accounting for its investment in Netainment, reference is
made to the Corpcapital group structure and to the manner in which the
Group's effective interest in Netainment/Cytech was held.
21. The ultimate holding company of the Group at the 1999 and 2000 financial
year ends was Corpgro Limited. Corpgro's interest in old Corpcapital was
61% in 1999 and 58% in 2000. Corpcapital Investments was a wholly
owned subsidiary of old Corpcapital. Following the merger in 2001,
Corpgro and old Corpcapital (and Corpcapital Bank) combined to form new
Corpcapital Limited, which then became the ultimate holding company and
sole listed company of the Group.
33 AC133,para.l04.
34AC133,para.l05.
35AC133,para.l08.
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22. The Group's 47,5% interest in Netainment has, since its original
acquisition, been held either by Corpcapital Investments or by a wholly
owned subsidiary of Corpcapital Investments. The ultimate holding
company's effective interest in Netainment, therefore, changed from
28,98% in 1999 to 27,55% in 2000 and increased to the full 47,5% in 2001
following the merger.
23. Corpcapital Group's accounting policy for associates in its 1999-2001
financial statements defined an associate as "... an entity in which the
group has a long-term interest and over which it has the ability to exercise
significant influence but not control." As pointed out above, an amendment
to GAAP statement AC 110 in 1998 eliminated the reference to "long-term
interest" in the definition of an associate, making an investment over which
an investor has significant influence, an associate, whether the investment is
held for the long-term or whether it is intended to dispose of the investment
in the near future. Corpcapital had significant influence, and by their own definition should have classified Cytech as an associate.
24. In the Corpcapital Group's financial statements of 1999-2001 the
Netainment investment was not referred to separately and it was classified
neither as an associate nor a joint venture. It was simply included on the
balance sheet under the headings "investments" (2001), "investments and
15
trading assets" (2000) and "investments and securities (1999). The
investment was accounted for on a "mark-to-market" basis with the
resultant unrealised surplus on the revaluation of the investment during
each of these years being credited to income and included in headline
earnings.
The following unrealised surpluses arising on the revaluations of the
Netainment investment were included in profit before and after taxation
figures in the 1999-2001 financial years:
Unrealised surpluses recognised:
Corpcapital
Old Corpcapital    Old Corpcapital
2001
2000
1999
R
R
R
-before taxation
72 147 000
144 500 000
2 670 000
- after taxation
50 502 900
101 150 000
1 869 000
The revalued carrying values of the Netainment investment in the balance
sheets at the end of each of these financial years were as follows:
Corpcapital       Old Corpcapital    Old Corpcapital
2001
2000
1999
R
R
R
Investment in
221147 000
149 000 000
4 500 000
Netainment at valuation
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26. To place the materiality of old Corpcapital's interest in Netainment into
perspective, the contributions by the Netainment investment to
Corpcapital's income, total assets and year end equity for the 1999-2001
financial years are examined below (the 1999 and 2000 figures are given
for old Corpcapital - a separate listed company - whereas the 2001 figures
are for the post-merger (new) Corpcapital.
2001
2000
1999
Corpcapital's profit
before taxation
Contribution from
unrealised revaluation
surplus of Netainment
investment

557 500 000        242 109 000       201263 000
72 147 000
144 500 000
2 670 000
(12,94%)
(59,68%)
(0,01%)
2001
2000
1999
Total assets                             4 998 440 000
2 198 849 000
2 935 314 000
Carrying value of
Netainment investment              221147 000
149 000 000
4 500 000
(4,4%)
(6,8%)
(0,002%)
Corpcapital's shareholders
equity/net assets
1 357 880 000
940 409 000       774 755 000
Contribution from
Netainment investment:
cumulative after-tax
unrealised revaluation
surplus
153 510 900
103 019 000
1 869 000
(11,3%)
(10,95%)
(0,002%)
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27.
While the Netainment investment was not significant to old Corpcapital's
1999 results or net asset value, the contribution of the investment to the
2000 old Corpcapital and the 2001 new Corpcapital results and net asset
value was material. In 2000 particularly, the unrealised surplus arising
from the revaluation of the investment made up 59,68% of the pre-tax profit
of old Corpcapital, which was very significant. The contribution of
Netainment to old Corpcapital's net asset value for purposes of the swap
ratios in the merger of 2001 is examined in more detail later.
28.
In their evidence before the inspectors, the Corpcapital executives testified
that the Netainment investment was acquired and was held up to the 2001
year end, exclusively with a view to its disposal in the near future. Cytech was not disclosed to the board. How did the executives arrive at this conclusion? Who authorized it? Where are the official papers for the audit committee and the board? What evidence was presented to support the averment? There appears little doubt that these statements by the executives were manufactured after the fact. The
investment was held by Corpcapital Investments (formerly Corpgro
Capital), which in turn was 100% owned by old Corpcapital. While the
operating businesses acquired by Corpgro were bought with the intention of
holding them for the long-term, "growing them by acquisition and
organically, and getting them into dominant positions"36, old Corpcapital's
philosophy was to "invest in minority stakes in businesses in which we
could add value in order to sell the investment for a profit in as short a
period  as  possible"37.  This statement by Liebesman  was never put to the board, nor was it ever approved. Corpcapital was explicitly set up by negotiation with the board of Corpgro. No such policy was ever put to Corpgro.  The fact that Liebesman makes this statement is evidence that he and the executives did not believe it was necessary to obtain board approval for policy decisions. Liebesman  also  described  the  old  Corpcapital
JL, p.2 para.ll.
JL, p.4 para. 19.
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philosophy as follows: "[Grolman] was executive chairman of [old]
Corpcapital and his view, that investments were stock in trade, that an
investment banker made more money by realising shortly after acquisition,
was the accepted strategy." Why was it then that there was no case of an investment which was sold. The inspectors appear to believe anything Liebesman says to them, even though they later prove that he lied to the biggest shareholder Old Mutual. So, it turns out that the concept on which Corpcapital took advantage of AC133, after the fact, was the creation of Liebesman, and his statements appear to have been accepted by the inspectors.
29. For the financial years ended 31 August 1999-2001, the questions that need
to be addressed covering the accounting policy used for Netainment, based
on the issues raised by Frangos, are as follows:-
Should the investment have been classified as an "associate" or
"joint venture"?
Which of the GAAP statements, AC110, 119 or 133 were applicable
to the investment?
Was the fair value of the Netainment investment reliably measurable
at the respective balance sheet dates?
Should the change in the carrying value of the investment each year
have been included in income and in headline earnings?
JL, p.21 para.99.
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Should the investment have been classified as an "associate" or "joint venture"?
30.
Abrahams, an expert appointed by Frangos, in his report dated 6 June 2003,
which formed part of Frangos' application to the Minister, states:
"6.1 Throughout the period under review a 47,5% equity stake was held
and Corpcapital would have been deemed to have 'significant influence'. I
have no information which would suggest that Corpcapital (OLD) and
Corpcapital, did not have 'significant influence'. Accordingly Cytech
should appropriately have been disclosed as an 'associate' throughout the
in
period under review and accounted for on this basis. ..."
31.
At the time of drafting his report, Abrahams did not have access to various
Corpcapital documents, in particular the Letter of Intent.40
Having been presented with this document subsequently during the
interview stage, his view was that the investment was in fact not an
associate, but rather a joint venture.41 Also in his later statement to the
inspectors, following his examination of Coppin's statement, he confirms
his view that the investment should have been classified as a joint venture.4
39 Applic 86, paras.61; 8.5.15 p.157.
40Cytech(l)59.

41
Record 265, lines 15-20/
42
Abrahams' statement, para.91 p.32.
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32. Collett and Adam, experts appointed by Frangos, in their joint report which
formed part of the application to the Minister, assumed that the investment
in Netainment was an associate. This assumption was based on the
information available to them at the time of their report.43
33. After they had read the Letter of Intent44, in their interview with the
inspectors they initially felt strongly that this gave control of Netainment to
old Corpcapital, but later conceded that this might more appropriately be
described as "at least joint control" and based on the numeric voting rights,
not necessarily outright control over the investment.5
34. In their first submission to the inspectors in October 2003, Fisher Hoffman
PKF, auditors of Corpcapital, indicated that:
"4.3.1  Cytech was considered an investment (not being an associate) held for
disposal in the near future." Where was the evidence? This is heresay.
In concluding that the investment was an "investment" and not an associate,
Fisher Hoffman's submission refers to the 1992 version of AC110 which
included in its definition of an associate the intention to hold the investment
in the long-term. As pointed out earlier, AC110 was amended in 1998 and
the reference to "long-term interests" was excluded from the definition.
43 Applic 431, paras.7.1-7.3; p.434 para.8.6.
""CytechO^S*.

45
Record p.358 line.7.
46
FH (1st submission), p.21 para.4.3.1.
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Had this been known to the auditors at the time, presumably they would
(incorrectly) have considered the investment to have been an associate. In
the financial statements the investment was not classified as an associate,
but rather just as an "investment" during the 1999-2001 financial years.
No reference at all is made in their submission to the possibility of the
investment being classified as a joint venture. Fisher Hoffman testified
later, however, that the investment had unfortunately been classified in the
2002 financial statements as an associate whereas it was a joint venture.47 it seems that even those involved changed their tune with the wind,
35.     Coppin and Wilmot, experts appointed by Corpcapital, in their evidence to
the inspectors were of the view that:
for the period 1999-2001 the investment was not governed by
AC110 or AC 119 at all, as it was acquired and held exclusively for
sale in the near future. Did Coppin and Wilmot see direct evidence of this, or did they merely accept the word of the executives? They, therefore, did not regard it, technically,
as an associate or a joint venture, as both AC110 and 119 required
such an investment to be accounted for in terms of AC 133;
for 2002 the investment was a joint venture although it was
classified in the financial statements as an associate;
Record p.902, line 9 and pp.975-981.
Record pp.1201 & 1211.
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they did not regard this wrong classification as a material error as
they considered the disclosure requirements for the two categories to
be "virtually the same".49 It is not for experts to override GAAP
36.
In his statement submitted to the inspectors, Coppin indicated that:
"The accounting treatment and accounting policies used for Cytech were
appropriate, except that Cytech should have been regarded as a joint venture and
not an associate, but this difference would have had little effect on the financial
statements."50 if it was a joint venture it should have been accounted for on the basis of proportional consolidation.
37. As far as the Corpcapital executives were concerned, the investment in
Netainment was a joint venture from the outset. Why was it that during the Payne investigation the issue of a joint venture was never raised? Is it possibly because the letter of intent was not disclosed to Payne? The Letter of Intent was
often referred to as "the joint venture agreement"51 and the terms of this
letter made it clear that joint control between Corpcapital on the one hand
and Rose and Harpaz on the other, was envisaged.
38. In terms of the definition of a joint venture as per ACl 19, there can be no
doubt that the investment complied with the requirements of a joint venture
from the outset and should have been classified as such. The implications
of this for accounting purposes are examined later in this report.
49
Record p.1214, line 20.
50
Coppin's statement, p.l 1 para.1.12.2.
51 Liebmann's letter to inspectors dated 18 September 2003, p.17, para.2.8 and BL, paras.11.1 & 11.3 p.5.
52Cytech(l)59.
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Which of the GAAP statements. ACl 10. 119 or 133 were applicable to the
investment?
39. As the investment in Netainment was a joint venture, the question as to
which GAAP statement was applicable as far as the accounting for the
investment in the financial statements of Corpcapital was concerned, is one
that needed to be addressed.
40. ACl 19, "Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures", would appear
to be the simple answer. Whereas the usual or "benchmark" treatment of a
joint venture is to account for it on the proportionate consolidation basis in
terms of AC 119.26, with the allowed alternative treatment being to equity
account the investment (ACl 19.33), an exception to the benchmark and
allowed alternative treatments is provided for in ACl 19.36. In terms of
ACl 19.36 a venturer (Corpcapital in this case) should account for its
investment in a jointly controlled entity that is acquired and held
exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near future either at
cost or in accordance with the statement on financial instruments:
recognition and measurement (i.e. AC 133 - viz at fair value).
It is regarded as inappropriate to use either the proportionate consolidation
or the equity methods when the interest in the jointly controlled entity is
24
acquired and held exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the
near future. Where is the evidence that this was the intention? Evidence must be in the form of policy approvals from the audit committee or board, otherwise the evidence is not independent and cannot be properly tested. 
41. On the question as to whether the investment in Netainment was acquired
and held exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near
future, the Corpcapital executives were clear on this point. The philosophy
of old Corpcapital was indeed to acquire and to hold investments
exclusively with a view to early disposal, and Netainment fell into this
category up to the date of the merger. Not so. This was never discussed when Corpcapital was set up. There was no mandate.
42. While "the near future" is not defined in AC119 and it is clear that the
investment has, in fact, been held by Corpcapital for a number of years
since its date of acquisition, there is evidence that old Corpcapital made a
number of attempts to sell the investment from about May 2000. Where is the evidence? And why were the sales never completed? Perhaps the sales were a fiction, or the price was too high. Where GAAP provides orthodox methods for treating assets, such as the cost method or proportional consolidation, and a different method is selected I would have thought that the inspectors would apply the closest scrutiny to the variation to saitsfy themselves that the flexibilities in the accounting methods were not being taken advantage over. The
English Harbour agreement was signed, but ultimately failed due to non-
compliance with one of the suspensive conditions, MicroGaming
effectively blocking the merger.
43. Abrahams in his submission to the inspectors dated 24 November 2003
commented as follows:
"It is however necessary that it was acquired 'exclusively' with a view to its
subsequent disposal in the near future. It is not clear to one that Cytech was
acquired 'exclusively' for this purpose and the afs have not expressly articulated
25
this purpose at any time. Disposal in the 'near future' also required that there was
no impediment to the disposal that could not be removed in the 'near future'. ...
there were significant impediments to the sale of Cytech that fell to be addressed
over the period. In particular MicroGaming had a right of veto which it could and
did use to prevent a disposal." This is a very valid point by Abrahams. How could Cytech have been held for short-term sale if MGS had veto rights on any sale?
44. Abrahams believes that Coppin's point that "if shares are not likely to be
sold within twelve months, it does not necessarily prevent such investments
being considered as being held for disposal in the near future" should be
questioned.54 Abrahams' view is that it should be questioned as to "whether
it was reasonable at the various stages to conclude that the share(s) in
Netainment could be sold at all at the then carrying value especially in the
light of the fact that MicroGaming could and did prevent a disposal. It is
noted however that despite Corpcapital's attempt to sell, merge or list
Netainment over a protracted period, their efforts were to no avail."55
45. Abrahams further points out that the statement in Corpcapital's 2001
financial statements to the effect that "the division follows a strategy of
maximizing the value of strategic investments through active management",
in fact is in conflict with a view that Netainment was held "exclusively"
with a view to resale in the near future.56 Agree. Why do the inspectors not take this matter further?
Abrahams' statement of 24 November 2003, p.30 para.87.
Abrahams' statement of 24 November 2003, p.33 para.95.
Abrahams' statement of 24 November 2003, p.30 para.87.
Abrahams' statement of 24 November 2003, p.40 para. 103.
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46.     Coppin makes the following point on this matter:
"3.1.20
Regarding the intention to sell Cytech I have been provided with
the following information:
3.1.20.1 In May 2000 a sponsoring broker pitched to list
Cytech on the Alternate Investment Market ('AIM')
in London. Where is the evidence? What transpired? How serious was the approach? What results did it bring? Why was a sale not concluded?
3.1.20.2 Discussions regarding this listing were put on hold
as a result of discussions to merge Cytech with
another online casino business. Nonsense. This is not a plausible reason. One example was a
heads of agreement signed in August 2000. The
intention was to list the merged group. If the intention was to list, how could Cytech have been available for sale? Merger
agreements were signed in October 2000, with due
diligence completed in November 2000, but the
merger failed in March 2001 when one of the
parties required to consent to the merger, namely
the software supplier, withheld their consent. This pre-existing condition was known to the parties. Why did they not clear it first in order to demonstrate good faith to the other party?
3.1.20.3 In March 2001 merger discussions were held with
another internet gambling company but were
terminated as a result of the other shareholders in
Cytech not wanting to merge with a company that
was less profitable than Cytech and thereby
believing they were giving away too much of the
potential upside value in Cytech. Where is the evidence? Were the other party contacted in order to test the veracity of the evidence?
3.1.21
Based on this information there is evidence that the group were
actively looking to realise their investment in Cytech at the August
2000 year-end. This is skimpy at best, and appears to be an attempt to circumvent the intentions of GAAP. There is one crucial factor which is being lost sight of. The intention of the revaluation must be examined. If the intention was to sell Cytech, then DCF could only be used if both parties agreed to use it as a basis to negotiate. However, if the intent was to take notional profits into Corpcapital the inspectors were obliged to penetrate the veil. At August 2001 there would have been evidence
of two merger attempts during the year, which would have been
grounds to support a contention that the group were still looking to
sell Cytech, unless there was any evidence to the contrary. Do not agee. It is one thing to use DCF for a merger, and quite another to take notional profits into a public company. The
fact that the mergers were not successful was not because of an
unwillingness to sell Cytech. Accordingly there appears to be
grounds that the Cytech investment could be regarded as being
held for disposal in the near future in both the 2000 and 2001
57
financial statements." These expalanations are not plausible. 
47. In a February 2004 submission by Corpcapital to the inspectors (page 1),
Corpcapital explained that MicroGaming did not have veto rights with
regard to the sale of CorpcapitaPs equity interest in Cytech.
MigroGaming's consent was required to transfer the software licence
Coppin's statement p.22.
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agreement out of Cytech, but this agreement could not be unreasonably
withheld. Corpcapital was free to sell their interest in Cytech and this
applied also to Rose and Harpaz. This appears to be an about face because Corpcapital realized that they were in a cul-de-sac based on Abrahams objections. Their explanation is not plausible. In any event the inspectors were required to obtain direct evidence on this matter from the Moshals. Did they do so/
48.
The inspectors find that the investment in Netainment was a joint venture
which was acquired and held exclusively with a view to its subsequent
disposal in the near future:
that was management's evidence of the view it took of this
investment;
the evidence was consistent with management's conduct in making
various attempts to dispose of Netainment;
the fact that there were possible impediments to a disposal, such as
MicroGaming's "veto power" does not detract from the view which
old Corpcapital took of this investment: its intention was to dispose
of it;
there was no other intention - such as to hold it indefinitely - as
there was with the Corpgro assets.  Cytech was a joint venture and should have been accounted using the proportional consolidation method. No evidence is presented that supports management’s assertion that Cytech was held for short term disposal. At the very least such an important policy should be supported by audit committee and board minutes. If management did not disclose their intentions to the formal structure the inspectors cannot give credence to their statements.
49.
In terms of AC 119.36 the investment in Netainment should have been
accounted for either at cost or in accordance with the statement on financial
instruments: recognition and measurement. Is this a free choice? Surely the selction must be motivated by sound logic. There was no South African
statement on financial instruments: recognition and measurement in effect
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at the time, although draft AC 133 was in the public domain. That draft was
based on the equivalent international statement IAS39, which was in effect.
50.
AC 133 and IAS39 require that the investment be measured at "fair value" if
the fair value can be "reliably measured". If the fair value cannot be
reliably measured, then the investment should be carried at cost.
Was the fair value of the Netainment investment reliably measurable at the
respective balance sheet dates?
51.
AC133.70 requires that a financial asset, after initial recognition, should be
measured at its fair value except"... any financial asset that does not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured". In the case of the Netainment investment the
requirement of AC 133.74 is that where the fair value cannot be reliably
measured, the investment should be measured at cost.
Para.71 stipulates that:
"There is a presumption that fair value can be reliably determined for most
financial assets classified as available for sale or held for trading. However, that
presumption can be overcome for an investment in an equity instrument ... that
does not have a quoted market price in an active market and for which other
methods of reasonably estimating fair value are clearly inappropriate or
unworkable." I would assume that the logic for this is that a sale negotiation will determine what a willing seller and a willing buyer will settle on. However, what is the postion if the intent is to provide notional profits to a public company? I would think that in a sale situation the company can use any valuation method it choses because the ultimate test will be the sale. However, in accounting for the investment the company is obliged to meet the test of “fair presentation”.
Para.97 indicates that:
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"Situations in which fair value is reliably measurable include (a) a financial
instrument for which there is a published price quotation in an active public
securities market for that instrument, (b) a debt instrument that has been rated by
an independent rating agency and whose cash flows can be reasonably estimated,
and (c) a financial instrument for which there is an appropriate valuation model
and for which the data inputs to that model can be measured reliably because the
data come from active markets." The emphasis is on the inputs. It is essential that they are realistic and are properly tested.
Situations (a) and (b) above are clearly not applicable, with the Netainment
investment representing a 47,5% equity interest in an unlisted company.
Whether the fair value of the Netainment investment could be reliably
measured, therefore, depended upon whether the valuation model used to
value the investment was "appropriate" and on whether the "data inputs" to
the model were reliably measurable "because they came from active
markets". There can be little doubt that the model used, the Gordon's
Growth model (or Discounted Cash Flow Model), is widely used
internationally, and is generally regarded as an appropriate model for
valuing equity investments. This is an irrelevant statement. In terms of this model the present value of the
estimated future net cash flows (profits or losses) is determined using a
suitable discount rate (the weighted average cost of capital ("WACC")).
Such future net cash flows are forecast for as long a period as the
investment is expected to generate such cash flows, usually in perpetuity.
The Corpcapital executives as well as the experts appointed by Corpcapital
were of the view that the valuation model used was indeed appropriate for
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purposes   of  valuing   an   equity   investment,   in   this   particular   case
Corpcapital's 47,5% interest in the Netainment joint venture business.
54. Abrahams, as well as Collett and Adam, while not criticising the valuation
model itself, criticised the use of the model for the valuation of the
investment in Netainment on the basis that the data inputs (the estimated
cash flows or profits) were not considered to be reliably determinable, in
that the business in 2000 was less than two years old and did not have a
solid track record. This is precisely the point.58 
55. Collett & Adam, in their submission to the inspectors and before they
became aware of the Letter of Intent, also criticised the use of the valuation
method used on the basis that the method present valued 47,5% of the
estimated future profit of Netainment in perpetuity while they believed, at
that stage, that a minority shareholder was not in control of the profits of
business and should concern itself with the estimated future dividends
only.59
56. Based on the existence of the joint venture agreement and on the evidence
that Corpcapital, together with their co-venturers Rose and Harpaz, were
Evidence of Abrahams, record pp.282-298; Evidence of Collett and Adam, pp.373-6.
Applic 439-441.
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jointly seeking to sell the business, this particular criticism has been
overcome. The proof was in the eating. Cytech was never sold. Did the inspectors penetrate the reasons as to why? Did the inspectors interview Rose and Harpaz? If so what was their evidence, and how was it tested?
57. The inspectors are of the view that the valuation model used was
appropriate for the valuation of the Netainment investment. This means that the inspectors were satisfied that in a non-sale situation, namely the preparation of the AFS of a public company it was OK to transfer notional profits, and secondly they were satisfied with the inputs.
58. The question as to whether, at the time of the valuations, the data inputs to
the model were "reliably measurable because they came from active
markets" was probably one of the most important matters that needed to be
addressed throughout the investigation. This is so because the answer to
this question effectively determined whether it was appropriate for the
Netainment investment to be included in the financial statements at fair
value (and thereby increasing the profits of Corpcapital by very significant
amounts in the 1999-2001 periods), or whether the investment should have
been carried at its original cost. While AC 133.97 referred to the need for
the data inputs to come from "active markets", in terms of AC133.101,
where a quoted market price is not available, estimation techniques (such
as discounted cash flow analysis) may be used to determine fair value with
sufficient reliability to satisfy this requirement of the statement. The proof was in the eating. Corpcapital conducted six valuations in different periods. In no single case was the range of error at  a level which justified the use the method. (Insert valuations and actuals)
59. Abrahams' view for both years 2000 and 2001, in his initial report which
formed part of Frangos' application to the Minister, was that:
1
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"there was, or should have been, doubt as to whether the valuation was
sufficiently reliable for it to meet the test of 'reliability' .. ."60
60.
Other comments made by Abrahams concerning the question as to whether
the data inputs or the fair value could be reliably measured are:
"The investment was in an unlisted online gaming operation where there were
significant potential regulatory concerns. It was a comparatively new operation
and was started in 1998. It had shown explosive growth in revenue in the initial
stages of operation and while market research predicted that the market would
continue to grow at a rapid rate it was also apparent that there would also be a
significant increase in competition. The investments had been valued on forward
projections of revenue. It was, in my opinion, a risky investment, the fair value of
which was difficult to determine and which would be subject to potential
volatility. ..."61
... the Directors should have given explicit consideration to whether the Cytech
valuation was sufficiently reliable for incorporation in the afs and the detailed
valuation workings should have been considered by the board. (I am informed that
this detailed information was not available to the board at the time)."
61. In commenting on the trend in the monthly revenues and profits of
Netainment, Abrahams made numerous comments concerning the decline
in Netainment's revenues and profits and management's apparent failure to
take note of these in their "aggressive" forecasts of future cash flows.
62. In his supplementary submission to the inspectors dated 24 November
2003, Abrahams comments as follows:
"... the value of Cytech was subject to such a degree of volatility and subjectivity
that at least the material assumptions as regards its valuation had to be disclosed
6OApplicp.l62para.8.5.2.7.1;p.l84para.l0.5.1.7.3.1.

61
Applicp.l54para.8.3.1.

62
Applicp.161 para.8.5.2.6.
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to comply with GAAP and/or to achieve 'fair presentation' and that I was not
satisfied in the circumstances that the value could in fact be 'reliably
measured'."63
63.      In commenting on whether the estimates of future revenue and profits were
"reasonable", Abrahams states:
"At 31 August 2000 the Cytech operation had been in existence for less than two
years, initial growth rates were significant, but there was little objective evidence
to suggest that the growth rates would continue at those levels, that Cytech had a
sustainable competitive advantage, stable management, an effective and cost
efficient platform for delivering its gaming services or that regulatory constraints
would not significantly effect its growth. These were all significant risks that
impacted on the reliability and reasonableness of the estimates. In addition not
only were significant growth rates in income and revenue assumed but it was also
assumed that growth would continue in perpetuity (albeit at a lower rate). It also
appears on the facts before me that from late 2000 (indications of potential
regulation in the USA) and after March 2001 a series of events and setbacks took
place that should have given and, it appears, did give management some concern
as to the sustainability of future income streams at least in the short term.
Management took the view that these setbacks were temporary and did not impact
on their 'fair value' assessment. In my opinion however, the impact of these
setbacks was to increase the risk of a miss-estimation in the fair value of the
investment. This made it even more important that the material assumptions be
disclosed to the Board and Shareholders. ...,,M
What is disputed and what falls to be considered is whether in the light of the
known uncertainties and setbacks suffered by Cytech over the years and the
known constraints on CorpcapitaPs ability to dispose of this investment, a 'fair
value' could be 'reliably measured' in respect of Cytech at various stages."
64.      Collett and Adam,  in their initial  report which  formed part  of the
application to the Minister, pointed out that:
"... [Netainment] did not produce audited financial statements that were approved
and signed by the directors.
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.41 para.105.
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, pp.42-43 para. 109.
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.68 para.175.
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11.4
The valuation was done by old Corpcap's management based on:
11.4.1 Financial information supplied by management and directors of
'Netainment', and
11.4.2 Discussion with management and directors of 'Netainment' and
Aqua Online UK Limited.
11.5 The information utilised in the valuation was not independently verified
by old Corpcap's management. Neither old Corpcap not its officers or
employees accepted any responsibility or liability for the accuracy of the
valuation.
11.6 The valuation documents were apparently (based on evidence available to
us) not disclosed to or approved by the non-executive directors of the
ultimate holding company (Corpgro) until 2002. ...66
11.14 In determining any future trends in the growth of revenue and net profits, a
valuator would give most consideration to the history of actual results of a
business as set out in the past five audited F/S, as a starting point. Where
no such information exists, a valuator should consider that assuming or
forecasting any future trends are fraught with uncertainty and dangers. In
such circumstances a prudent valuator and/or investor should not assume a
future trend forecasting results, which is materially better than the current
results. This prudent attitude should even be more prevalent in a situation
where the business was started up only recently and had shown
exponential growth from a very low revenue base. ... It would also be
over optimistic to assume that such a business would fulfil future industry
predictions for growth set in a historically high bull market (1990-2000). It
is highly likely that a young start-up business, though growing fast from a
low base, will hit resistance to growth in the foreseeable future. Such
business or management has not yet proven that they can sustain and
match industry growth (least of all forecasted industry growth). It is
unlikely that a prudent valuator or potential buyer would assume forecasts
materially better than actual results in such circumstances. In addition,
statistics suggest that there is a very high failure rate in young start-ups.
Where a company is managed by a group with relatively little experience
in the gaming industry, one would imagine that the risks of failure would
even be higher.
11.15 Even where a valuator or potential buyer may be prepared to accept such a
forecast where actual results (even for a short period of time) reflect
growth trends as forecasted, his opinion would undoubtedly change once
there is any indication that actual results do not follow the forecasted
trends.
Applic pp.438-439 paras.l 1.2-11.6.
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11.16 Where a young business's initial growth turns negative after a relatively
short period it is inconceivable that an objective valuator and/or potential
buyer would assume future forecasts that express continuing positive
growth. Even the honest intentions of management of the business that
such profit results can be improved by future restructuring is unlikely to
convince an investor, for he values it at a specific date for acquisition and
he is unlikely to pay for potential positive results flowing from actions
and/or reconstruction that may have occurred after the acquiring date of
the investment."67
65.     Commenting on the August 2000 valuation of Netainment, Collett and
Adam state:
"11.21.2
The actual revenue growth ... from October 1999 to August 2000
... shows a trend which supports the revenue forecasts ... on face
value. To assume that this growth rate could continue for the next
36 months, increasing the August 2000 monthly turnover by +
225% was not prudent and reasonable in the specific
circumstances. The historical conditions in world markets (1990-
2000) especially on the NASDAQ, may have influenced the
forecasts optimistically. One should bear in mind that the stock
markets (NASDAQ) only peaked in October 2000.
11.21.3 The actual profits ... reflects a more volatile pattern, but does
indicate a general upward trend, which on face value lend some
support to the forecast. To assume that the monthly-profit of
August 2000 ($400 000) would grow to above $1 million in 36
months was not prudent and reasonable in the specific
circumstances. The volatile and short history of profits should
have made a valuator and/or potential investor very wary about the
future especially as 'Netainment' has not produced any audited
financial statements.
11.21.4 Although we reject the basis of evaluation (DCF or earnings
model) one should probably gives some credit and/or recognition
to the forecast on revenue and profits, which is only one element of
the total valuations. The reason being that, despite our
reservations, the actual trends do lend some support to an upward
forecast."68
Applic pp.441-443 paras. 11.14-11.16.
Applic pp.444-445.
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66.      Their comments on the August 2001 valuation included the following:
"11.23.1
The  actual  revenue-line  ...   indicates a downward  trend.   ...
Downward trends in business and stock markets supported this
actual revenue trend. The forecasted revenues ... again do not
seem prudent and reasonable in the circumstances.
11.23.2 The actual profit-line ... indicates a strong downward trend with
extreme volatility. ... In addition, the lack of stability and audited
figures should have made any valuator or potential buyer very
wary.
11.23.3 What is especially noticeable is that although the forecasts on
revenue are visibly more moderate compared to previous forecasts,
the profit-forecasts, in value terms as a percentage of forecasted
revenue, is relatively more aggressive and over optimistic. The
forecast is not prudent or reasonable in the circumstances.
11.23.4 The above forecasts (especially profit forecasts) could not, in our
opinion, have fallen in the acceptable range of values to which an
objective valuator could arrive. The valuation that was based on
these forecasts must, in our opinion, be rejected as unacceptably
high and/or misleading as to the true and fair value of the
Netainment business."69
67.     Hamburger in the executive summary to his statement to the inspectors,
pointed out the following:
"1 I am a qualified chartered accountant. Prior to joining Corpcapital in 1998
I had both local and international experience in the field of valuations.
2 Since inception of CorpcapitaPs investment in Cytech I have been
intimately involved in Cytech's affairs and the developments in the online
gaming and related industries worldwide. I have travelled extensively,
virtually every month, to visit Cytech's operations and to attend industry
conferences and numerous meetings regarding corporate opportunities
relevant to Corpcapital's investment in Cytech.

3 I was responsible for the preparation of all Indicative Valuations of Cytech
on behalf of Corpcapital for the purposes of determining the fair value of
Corpcapital's investment for accounting purposes.

Applic p.446.
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4 After Mark Matisonn joined Corpcapital in January 2001, he too was
intimately involved in the preparation of the Indicative Valuations.
5 The sole purpose of the Indicative Valuations was to arrive at an honest
and reasonable estimate of the value of Corpcapital's investment in
Cytech. We did not inflate any of the valuations. Nor were we ever
requested to do so.

6 For each valuation Corpcapital employed a valuation control process
which ensured a series of checks and balances with the object of arriving
at the fair value of the investment for the purposes of Corpcapital's
financial statements. Briefly the process entailed the following:
6.1      Financial information emanating from the business was carefully
scrutinised and tested for integrity:
We    had    continuous    interaction    with    operational
management and a close proximity to the information from
the business.
Monthly management accounts were submitted to us and
were carefully considered by us.
Monthly   management   meetings   were   held   with   the
operational executives to analyse performance.
We made monthly submissions to CorpcapitaPs investment
banking executive committee meetings.
We continuously kept executive directors of Corpcapital
informed and in addition they had direct access to and
regular interaction with operational executives.
We, and other Corpcapital executives including executive
directors,   were   closely   involved   with   the   corporate
activities and opportunities relating to Cytech.
As a result Corpcapital enjoyed a deep insight into the
70
business."
68. With regard to the August 1999 valuation of the Netainment investment he
indicates that he valued the investment (a 100% interest) at $3m on a
forward PE ratio of 3 times based on the annualised August 1999 profit. He
notes that listed comparable multiples of 58 times and 19 times were being
used in the market for Boss Media and Tropika respectively. This valuation
JH executive summary, pp. 1-2.
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resulted in the Rl,83m cost of the investment (i.e. a 47,5% interest) in
Corpcapital's financial statements being restated to a fair value of R4,5m.
69. Fisher Hoffman's view on this valuation was that the amount was not
material and they "would not have paid a great deal of attention to the
amount." What was FH attitude the next year when it was material?71
70. The fair value of Corpcapital's 47,5% interest in Netainment was revalued
to a fair value of R149m in August 2000 and R221m in August 2001.
Hamburger's comments on the background to these valuations and the
valuations themselves are quoted extensively from his statement to the
inspectors, in view of the materiality of the increase in the valuations and
the strong views that were expressed by Frangos and the experts appointed
by him regarding the appropriateness of these valuations.
71. Hamburger describes the events leading up to the August 2000 valuation
and the valuation process itself as follows:
"93 By the beginning of the year 2000, the dot.com listings boom was in full
swing on the London stock exchanges. Corpcapital felt that to unlock the
value of its investment in Aqua and Netainment and to obtain a listed
currency for Netainment's acquisitive growth strategies, it would require a
London listed presence for these businesses.
94 Industry trade journals (RedHerring) justified PE ratios in excess of lOOx
for listed internet companies on the basis that e-commerce companies
71 Evidence of Katzenellenbogen, record p.946 line 7.
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exhibited exponential growth.  These multiples were not unusual for the
time.
95
Corpcapital firmly believed that a London listing was an attractive strategy
for its internet assets for the following reasons: This was never disclosed to the board
95.1 There was a strong investor appetite for internet stocks at the time.
95.2 London was proving to be a jurisdiction that supported online
gaming companies (Sportingbet, Gaming Internet).
95.3 Netainment and Aqua were profitable, cash generative and
growing. This, we felt, was a unique selling point relative to the
other internet listings that were 'burning' cash.
95.4 The London listing would facilitate a consolidation strategy, using
paper for acquisition of comparable businesses.
95.5 Sean and Tal were physically based in London.
95.6 A listing would enable Corpcapital to exit its investment optimally.
96
There were three London listing initiatives to list on AIM or the LSE
through an IPO or reverse-listing namely:
96.1 An e-commerce group listing (consisting of a merged Aqua,
Netainment and CFI business). This was not well supported by
Sean and Tal.
96.2 A separate Netainment listing. This was supported by Sean and
Tal; and
96.3 A separate Aqua listing promoted by the executive Aqua board of
directors.
97 Insinger Townsley (who later pitched for the sponsoring broker role for
the Netainment London listing), released its internet stocks research
report. This report detailed the prevailing London listed pricing values.
Additionally, the report detailed the prospects of Gaming Internet a direct
competitor to Netainment.
98 In March 2000 I dealt closely with Doug MacDonald (a deal broker) who
was eager to introduce Netainment to institutions in London. He informed
Corpcapital (Benji and me) about current strong demand for AIM listings
(particularly in the internet sector). He also mentioned there should be no
resistance to an online gaming listing (which was a concern that we had at
the time).
99 The press at the time confirmed that the Netainment corporate structure
was not unique. Sportingbet.com for example, had established operations
in the Channel Islands.
99.1 Mark Blandford (from Sportingbet.com), in his RedHerring article,
confirmed my thinking at the time that the online gaming industry
would regulate and that the young, recently established online
gaming brands would establish a first-mover advantage in the
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internet gaming space long before the land based competitors
entered the market.
100 DataMonitor, a London based research group, predicted that online
gambling would be a $5.5 billion market by 2001. Their forecast in online
gamblers was expected to double annually.
101 These reports encouraged us. It was clear that the London financial
markets were receptive to online gaming and internet opportunities. Sean
and Tal were based in London. We were bullish that a London listing
could be successfully achieved.
102 In April 2000 Jeff went to London to meet with various promoters,
sponsoring brokers and investment banks to investigate the London listing
of our e-commerce assets. In April 2000, I flew to London to visit the
operations and follow up on the listing initiatives started by Jeff.
103 The good progress made in London at the time prompted Benji's memo in
April 2000. Where was this memo before? Was it another manufactured after the fact memo? This memo summarised the importance of the proposed
listing transactions to Corpcapital and all stakeholders at the time.
Additionally prevailing governance issues were highlighted. The
following points are extracts from the memo.
103.1 Corpcapital needed to be conscious of conflict of interest issues at
all times.
103.2 Sufficient diligence was to be placed on the valuation process for
the purpose of any capital raising. I was instructed to analyse
international pricing models and prepare forecast earnings.
Additionally it was anticipated that these valuation methodologies
might be tested by London sponsoring brokers looking to place
capital for the company in contemplation of a listing. I was
therefore advised to be prepared to defend calculations at all times.
(Benji is particularly fastidious on matters of process. As a result I
kept detailed records and provided regular feedback to ensure that
Benji (and later Martin, Jeff and Shane) were always updated about
developments).
103.3 Project Management of the listing process was considered vital
(information needed to be comprehensively prepared and
efficiently distributed, confidentiality was to be adhered to at all
times and due attention needed to be given to timetables, agendas
and minutes).
103.4 It was noted that all contractual, statutory and regulatory
compliance issues needed to be dealt with (Benji lists some of
them).
103.5 Benji was conscious of the distracting nature of a London listing
and emphasised the need to stay focused on the Aqua JSE listing
initiatives and management of the operational business.
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104 I established a project management framework to consider the listing and
began a process of weekly Netainment listing steering committee
meetings. I prepared regular status reports and minuted all meetings. The
documents were circulated to all members of the project team including
Kevin Joselowitz, David Joselowitz, Benji and Jeff. Corpcapital
Corporate Finance was engaged to advise on two matters that could arise
as a result of the London e-commerce initiatives; namely conflict of
interest issues and exchange control issues. We were highly aware of
these concerns at the time.
105 There were various corporate listing opportunities that presented
themselves for both Netainment and Aqua during the period April to
August 2000. I took the presence of these opportunities into account in
my assessment of market conditions for the purpose of my valuations.
The various alternative listing opportunities were:
105.1
In May 2000 Insinger Townsley (a London based sponsoring
broker) pitched to list Netainment on the AIM market in London.
Insinger believed that they could raise between £3m - £5m new
capital at a pre-new-money valuation of between £30m - £50m
($50m - $83m). This appears to be a contradiction with the so-called held for sale approach.
They recommended a placement at a price acknowledged to be
lower than market value in order to give initial outside investors
(their clients) a good profit opportunity and thereby create an
active market for the remaining listed shares;
105.2 Reverse listing of the e-commerce group into a London cash shell
(Crestan);
105.3 E-commerce group Aim listings (discussed with sponsoring
brokers Warburg, Henderson Crosswaith, J P Morgan, Salomon
Bros, Merrill Lynch and Insinger Townsley);
105.4 Preliminary investment interest in Netainment expressed by
Investec on behalf of its client BskyB Where is the evidence? Was it verified?;
105.5 Doug McDonald initiatives (discussed earlier);
105.6 In June 2000, Jonathan Schneider advised the non-executive board
of Aqua of his initiatives to merge Aqua with Amaze. Amaze had
a valuation of approximately £45m. At the time Jonathan was
arguing that the Aqua share price, given the thin volumes,
undervalued the true market capitalisation of Aqua;
105.7 In July 2000 Jonathan Schneider advised that Beeson Gregory
were eager to assist Aqua to list on AIM. Beeson had confirmed
an initial valuation on the Aqua business of between £35-40m.
Additionally they indicated an appetite in the London market for a
fund-raising of between £5-10m. Notwithstanding the differences
in the Aqua and Netainment businesses, this gave us a strong
indication that the London market was still receptive to internet
listings at this time and that company valuations were still trading
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on high multiples. Aqua was trading at a market capitalisation of
approximately R250m at the time.
106 The interest in Aqua (noted above) fortified our assessment that the
financial markets (particularly London) were hungry for e-commerce
opportunities at particularly attractive valuations.
107 In early May 2000 Sean informed Corpcapital of a potential opportunity to
merge the Netainment operations with a Canadian based online casino
called English Harbour. Notwithstanding the signing of a binding merger
agreement, the English Harbour merger (to form a company called
'Amalco') was ultimately not pursued as the consent of MicroGaming, a
condition precedent to the deal, was refused.
108 The key relevant facts arising out of the English Harbour negotiations for
the purpose of this statement are:
108.1 The opportunity presented was for Netainment to merge its
business with a larger industry player;
108.2 Notwithstanding that Netainment's results were smaller than
English Harbour's, Corpcapital, Sean and Tal managed to
negotiate for 50% of Amalco (primarily because of the higher non-
US player component of the business);
108.3 This transaction provided valuable insight into a competitors'
business validating Corpcapital's growth assumptions for the
industry and Netainment. Corpcapital was able to analyse the
English Harbour financials as a result of discussions with English
Harbour executives (predominantly Paul Sudolski the CEO) and
the subsequent due diligence investigation performed on the
English Harbour business;
108.4 The parties considered an Amalco listing on the London AIM
exchange highly achievable within a year of the merger;
108.5 The merger anticipated that Aqua would service Amalco at fees
approximating 6% of Amalco revenue, in line with the existing
English Harbour infrastructure costs (this was a reduction of the
then current 12.5% fee levied by Aqua on Netainment's revenue);
108.6 English Harbour and Netainment were the subject of mutual due
diligence reviews that were satisfactorily concluded.
109
In May 2000 I received an instruction from the Investment Banking Exco
to have an independent expert value the Netainment asset. ... The result of
the process was a decision by the Corpcapital board not to proceed with
the substantial expense of a third party valuation, given Corpcapital's
internal expertise and the roll played by Corpcapital's auditors to audit the
internal valuation.
Was there a board minute to verify this? Did Trengove confirm?
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110
In my July 2000 investment banking Exco report, I commented on
Netainment's June 2000 results and noted that revenue was slightly up by
10%. My choice of words indicates that I believed a 10% monthly
increase was a slight improvement in performance. Profit, however, was
down (as a result of large marketing spend). July's results were forecast to
improve substantially I understand and mention that a potential reason for
month-on-month volatility in profits may be a result of matching issues
relating to the accounting for marketing expenditure. This is due to the
following factors:
110.1 Marketing spend in a month only yield returns in future months.
Players attracted in month one may only start playing actively in
subsequent months.
110.2 Marketing payments were sometimes prepaid. The business would
pay in advance for a campaign that would run over a few months.
111 The above points are important to consider when understanding the
valuations. It is necessary to determine the trend in profits over a period
rather than on one month in isolation. Additionally as this is a casino
business there is always an inherent volatility of a player winning an
abnormally large amount in a month. Over time these effects are
neutralised to give a true reflection of performance (i.e. a trend).
112 Stanley Leisure released its annual results with a 32% rise in earnings.
Additionally, the company commented on the initial success of its internet
casino acquisition and stated that they believed this business was a growth
area for the company.
113 Industry press at the time July 2000 reinforced the thinking that it would
be difficult to enforce any legislative ban on online gaming.
114 On July 20th 2000, the House of Representatives failed to pass a bill
banning internet gaming. This further reinforced Corpcapital's thinking
that the industry would continue to maintain the current status quo for the
foreseeable future.
115 Starnet Communications International (market cap of $83m) announced in
July 2000 that it was launching a Chinese internet gaming site. This
indicated that there was a potential Asian market worth pursuing.
(Netainment subsequently, yet unsuccessfully launched a Korean website
in April 2002).
116 The Credit Suisse / First Boston analyst reports on Stanley Leisure was
noted in August 2000. The relevant analyst commented that Stanley
Leisure was a "strong buy" noting that future growth would come from the
recent online gaming acquisitions. These reports confirmed our
conviction that the London financial market identified and valued the
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importance of land based gaming operations that developed online casino
strategies. Stanley Leisure's WACC was 7.6% at the time.
117 In September 2000 the second largest Israeli newspaper Ma'ariv published
a list of the most widely recognised gaming brands in Israel. King
Solomon's was voted third behind the state run lottery and sports betting
business. This confirmed our belief that the Hebrew version of our online
casino was a dominant brand in its Israeli market. It explained our success
in the region and reinforced our confidence of the intrinsic value of the
business.
118 A bullish BOE securities brokers report dated 26th September 2000 was
released with respect to Aqua. BOE recommended a strong buy. The
indicative forecast PE ratio used by BOE for the purposes of their Aqua
valuation was 21x.
THE AUGUST 2000 VALUATION
119 In the beginning of August 2000 I developed the financial model used to
determine the indicative valuation of Netainment.
120 The importance of this first valuation was debated at various investment
banking operational meetings and Investment Banking Exco meetings. Where is the evidence? 
121 This was Corpcapital's first attempt at a comprehensive discounted cash
flow ('DCF') valuation of the Netainment business. The executive
directors and I were very conscious of its importance given the material
nature of the asset. Was it considered important enough to share with the board of directors and shareholders? Apparently not.
122 I was particularly aware that this valuation would provide a benchmark
and framework for all future valuations. The methodology would need to
be consistently applied in future periods.
123 Additionally, my valuation methodology and assumptions would need to
withstand scrutiny from within Corpcapital and from our auditors. This never took place. Cytech was not audited, and there is no board minute to support that any scrutiny took place.
(Additionally, when I developed the August 2002 (2000?) valuation model
I believed we were going to get an external advisor to prepare an
independent valuation). What was this belief based on, and why did it not happen?
124 I had previous experience (as noted earlier in this statement) in performing
valuations at university, PwC Johannesburg and PwC London. At the time
of preparing the model I performed research that consisted of a review of
my university textbooks and previous valuation financial models used at
PwC to ensure that the methodology used was appropriate.
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125 I spent a lot of time consulting with Shane (who has a strong technical
ability) to refine the model. Shane was a junior, and hardly a substitute for the audit committee and the board.
126 ...
127 My research and experience led me to the conclusion that a discounted
cash flow basis of determining value was the most appropriate valuation
model. Netainment was no longer a start-up company. By the time of the
August valuation it had a track record of increasing turnover and cash
profits.
127.1 DCF is recognised as conceptually the most appropriate method of
valuing a business. It is particularly relevant for cash generative,
high growth businesses that require little re-investment/capex for
future growth.
127.2 An earnings yield or PE valuation cannot adequately provide for
future anticipated changes in the business. Future events like the
renegotiation of Aqua fees, change in royalty basis or movement in
operational margins can never be adequately dealt with using the
comparable multiple approach.
127.3 PE valuations use comparable data businesses and indices that are
not strictly comparable.
127.4 Turnover and earnings multiple bases were, however, performed to
benchmark the DCF value.
127.5 The PwC (London) valuation proposal provided a useful indication
of the methodology they would recommend to value Netainment.
PwC proposed performing a valuation based on a discounted cash
flow analysis supported by an analysis of multiples from listed
companies.
127.6 The ABN Amro Broker's report at the time of the Aqua listing
supported a DCF basis of valuation. ABN Amro note that 'the
valuations of e-commerce and internet-related players are
increasingly difficult to determine given the disparities in demand
forecasts and the evolving business model'. Notwithstanding, they
propose two techniques to determine fair value being a
discounted/free cash flow and the PE Relative method. In
performing their DCF valuation, ABN Amro determined the
discount rate using the CAPM model.
127.7 I point out that the use of the DCF model was subsequently
confirmed as appropriate in the Merrill Lynch report (January
2001). All of this is after the fact justification.
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In respect of the August 2000 valuation:
128.1 I circulated the indicative valuation document to Benji, Martin,
Shane and Jeff for their comments and discussion. I clearly
marked the first draft as such and mentioned to Benji that the
values would be adjusted after debate and discussion. With who? Where were the external independent checks?I was aware
46
that all my assumptions would be tested and debated for
reasonableness and conservatism. By who?This occurred in a series of
meetings with Shane, Benji, Jeff and Martin referred to in the
various email correspondence. All internal.
128.1.1
The draft version was inadvertently given to Mr
Frangos in my submission to him of 21 June 2002
instead of the final version referred to below. Inadvertantly?
128.2 Benji commented on this first draft in a memo dated 14 August
2000. He mentioned that the numbers had not been reviewed and
re-iterated the point that FHS must perform sufficient and adequate
work on the accounts prior to finalisation of the valuation. Why were these documents not given to me? What proof is there that they were not manufactured for the occasion?
128.3 I asked Benji and Shane for further comment on my Netainment
valuation prior to a meeting scheduled with Jeff on August 15
(Jeff, Shane and myself attend). Additionally, on August 17 the
Netainment valuation was debated with Peter Katzenellenbogen
('Kay'), Shane, Jeff and myself. Where was the venue? What evidence is there that this took place? Although I cannot recall
specifically what was said in this meeting, I have no doubt that we
debated the methodology for valuing the business and determined
appropriate audit tests to ensure that the value was based on
accurate financial information and assumptions. This aa contradictory statement.
128.3.1
I included the narrative summary of the indicative
valuations in my submission to Mr Frangos of 21
June 2002. I did not include the Excel models part
of the valuation workings. There was nothing
sinister in this omission. ? It is clear to a reader of the
narrative that there is a detailed financial model to
support the calculations of the valuation ranges. I
would have provided these models to him if he
requested them. So it was my fault? I requested all relevant information.
After interactive exchanges between me, Shane, Martin, Jeff, Benji and
Peter Kay I finalised my August 2000 indicative valuation in September
2000.
A summary of the key business drivers of the indicative valuation at this
date were:
130.1 The business had grown exponentially in both turnover and
profitability.
130.2 Market conditions were very favourable.
130.3 Potential listings and merger opportunities were on the table.
130.4 The prognosis was excellent.
In August 2000 the fair value of the business was determined to be $44.8m
(100%) and $21.3m (47.5%). Was this debated at the audit committee? Where is the evidence? By the board?72
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In his comments on the August 2001 valuation, Hamburger refers, amongst
others, to the following matters:
"140 In January 2001 Merrill Lynch released its in-depth report on E-gambling.
This report confirmed our thoughts on the industry at the time. In
summary Merrill Lynch believed the online gaming market would
demonstrate superior growth prospects and that internet gaming properties
were very valuable.
141 Merrill Lynch valued the Stanley Leisure and Ladbrokes online casinos
businesses. Notwithstanding these casinos had less operating track record
and profitability compared to Netainment (they were in fact loss making at
the time of valuation), Merrill Lynch valued these businesses in excess of
Corpcapital's Netainment valuation. Netainment was an identical
business, trading in the same markets with a similar product offering
(Ladbrokes operated off the MGS platform).
142 The material assumptions used by Merrill Lynch with respect to growth
and discount rates were more aggressive than those applied in the
Corpcapital valuation.
143 The Merrill Lynch report validated the approach, methodology and
material industry assumptions used in the Corpcapital valuations.
144 In December 2000 Evan Hoff ("Evan") was identified as the potential
CEO for Netainment. Sean, Tal and I believed that Evan was responsible
for the success of VR Services. The MGS casinos established and
managed by VR Services were industry leaders.
145 When Evan joined I insisted on a strategic planning session (held in South
Africa on 28 March 2001) to align Sean/Tal and Corpcapital's thinking
with respect to the future of the business (and to give Evan a carefully
articulated plan going forward). To facilitate a meaningful session I
prepared a comprehensive strategy document outlining plans to form a
diversified online gaming group that could take advantage of the growth
opportunities in the industry. This document sets out our views at the time
and was the factual underpin for the February 2001 valuation. The key
points are highlighted below:
147.1 Cytech was viewed as a cash cow (generating regular cash flow
profits). It had no large capex needs. Shareholders could elect to
receive regular dividends without impairing the business.
147.2 The business was growing exponentially.
147.3 The business had one product (the online casino) operating in an
increasingly competitive market.
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147.4 There was debate over whether barriers to entry were high or low.
(Merrill Lynch in particular believed that the emergence of
dominant online brands would create barriers to new entrants). This implies that Merril were consulted. Did anyone verify this/
147.5 Merrill Lynch assumed that the marginal incremental cost of
attracting a new player would cost less over time (therefore
assuming that financial margins of the internet casino would
increase). Notwithstanding this view of increased margins,
Corpcapital and management were more conservative in its
forecasting of future Netainment margins. Is this Hamburger’s assumption?
147.6 Merrill Lynch predicted super normal profits for the next ten years
followed by a transition phase of five years up to industry
maturation in year 15. 
147.7 Merrill Lynch forecast that the completion prohibition of e-
gambling in North America, if successful, would only reduce the
total market size by 33%. Merrill Lynch do not expect this to
happen and forecast some regulation (which was welcomed by
Netainment) within the next four years. Given that Netainment's
business at the time was approximately 50% outside of the US and
growing, this threat was viewed as less important. Additionally, I
felt that this made Netainment an attractive business relative to its
peers.
146 The conclusion drawn by the strategy document was that Netainment
should develop a multiple product strategy to leverage off the industry
knowledge and skills of its management team and its existing customer
base. This would reduce reliance on the online casino and create synergies
to leverage across various other applications (cross marketing to each
products' client base was particularly appealing).
147 The strategy document was circulated within Corpcapital (to Martin,
Benji, Jeff and Mark Matisonn). It was considered to accurately reflect
the views of Corpcapital at the time. The strategic initiatives proposed in
this document were widely accepted as the way forward for the group to
deliver on the growth opportunities. Evan was the champion to drive this
strategy forward. Where is the strategy document?
151 Although the strategy session was held after the formulation of the
February 2001 valuation conveniently, the facts and circumstances contained within the
strategy document (prepared by me) were known to me at the time of
executing the indicative valuation.
152 The February 2001 indicative valuation was performed and finalised in
March 2001.
153 A summary of the key business drivers of the indicative valuation at this
date were:
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153.1 Actual profits were ahead of forecasted profits.
153.2 The business continued to grow.
153.3 The trend continued to be very positive.
153.4 Relevant industry analysis supported our valuation assumptions.
153.5 A strategy for future growth had been articulated.
154 In February 2001 the fair value of the business was determined to be
$57.1m (100%) and $27,lm (47,5%).
158
March 2001 the Bear Stearns gaming industry report was released:
158.1 Bear Stearns updated their opinion on the industry. In
February 2000 they characterised the online gaming
industry as having low barriers to entry.
158.2 Bear Stearns now concluded that barriers were rising. This
favoured Netainment and I was of the view that increased
barriers meant fewer competitors and improved margins.
As a result, Netainment, given its critical mass, capital
invested in infrastructure, significant client database and
brand name would consolidate its position in the market.
Undercapitalised new entrants would fail, the industry
would consolidate and the larger players (like Netainment)
would benefit.
158.3 Notwithstanding the concerns raised by Bear Stearns in this
report, they will forecast compound annual growth rates to
2003 of 36,4% for online casinos.
158.4 Bear Stearns also forecast that new payment technologies
would mitigate the risk of credit card legislation.
159 On April 6th 2001 my investment banking Exco report covered the results
to February 2001. In this report I note the non-recurring executive 'bonus'
and legal fees (in respect of the English Harbour merger).
160 The May 2001 investment banking Exco report contained results to March
2001. This report included the following information:
160.1 The growth strategy adopted by Netainment that would result in
the employment of more people in London.
160.2 In the Netainment results there was approximately $50 000 of
abnormal marketing expenditure relating to the once-off purchase
of a car in support of an Israel marketing initiative.
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In May 2001 I proposed that a company valuation of approximately $70m
could be used for the purpose of determining executive options for Evan
and Alex. I argued that the business could be worth $60m - $70m on the
basis of 12 months forecast profits of $6m - $7m and a PE of lOx (using a
recent Aspinals acquisition multiple as a benchmark). Given that a
discount would be given to the staff the company valuation would range
50
between $40 and $50m for staff incentive purposes for the purposes of
awarding options.
In my Exco report of June 2001, Netainment results to April 2001 were
represented. I mentioned that approximately $100 000 was spent to
establish the new office infrastructure. I note that April's profit was
approximately $230 000 which was a decrease of 40% from March ($379
000). Evan had begun to significantly increase marketing expenditure
without concomitant increases in revenue. Profits were less as a result of
an inefficient marketing and abnormal infrastructure establishment costs.
After removing the infrastructure set-up costs of $100 000 profits were
only 13% below the previous month on a like for like basis. Revenue was
4% ahead of March. I was unconcerned as I felt the decline was not
indicative of a trend.
162.1 We did not adjust these infrastructure costs in our determination of
sustainable profits for the purpose of the indicative valuations.
In June 2001 an article in the LA-Times forecasted that Nevada land-based
casinos would soon legally be entitled to migrate their businesses online.
In a Benji memo dated 7th June 2001 to Martin, Dave Leibowitz and
myself he confirmed our thinking that this was an opportunity to become
acquired by a Nevada operator who would require an instant entry into the
market. Additionally Benji mentioned that this is good for the industry
because it 'undermines the basic argument that online gaming is illegal
and unwanted'.
Evan maintained in June 2001 that a sustainable marketing efficiency for
the business was 4x (marketing expense as a percentage of revenue equals
25%). Both Corpcapital's August 2001 and February 2002 valuations
adopted more conservative marketing efficiency ratios.
KPMG tested my February 2001 valuation for reasonableness for the
purposes of the Corpcapital group merger. This never took place. It was a lie. KPMG's findings are
contained in KPMG's report. These findings were updated by KPMG in
August. (In August 2001 we would have been aware of June's results).
Although I have no specific recollection of my conversation with KPMG probably because it never happened I
have no doubt that I relayed the following facts to KPMG as these facts
were directly relevant to an update performed by them:
165.1 Revenue from February to April had increased. May had
decreased but in relation to forecast in February this was not
considered a trend as June was showing signs of growth.
165.2 Profits were volatile and had decreased but were affected by the
abnormal infrastructure costs in support of the multi-product
strategy (+ $100 000) and inefficient marketing campaigns
assumed to be abnormal.
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165.2.1
I was still confident that the growth strategy was
going to be successful.
165.2.1.1
The credit card issue had not impacted the business
yet but the software deal had been anticipated. I
was aware by July that this deal was imminent and
that this would improve the inherent value of the
business. Was this verfied with KPMG by the inspectors?
167 Evan complained that the Aqua fees were not market related relative to the
cost of performing the service. This confirmed the evidence of the
relatively low administration overheads required to support the English
Harbour business (evidenced during the due diligence).
168 In the July management pack Evan states that 'much of the increase [of
marketing spend] was unsuccessful due to the purchased inefficient ad-
buys'. This implies that at a point there are diminishing returns from
additional ad spend.
169 The London infrastructure costs were increasing rapidly. Evan justified
the increase in overheads as necessary to support the growth strategy.
170 In July (2001), as a result of the June USA 'credit card issue', I sent an
email to Sean and Evan (dated 23 July 2001). The casino's numbers had
not been affected discernibly by this banking initiative (primarily at the
time because not all the major banks had began to block gaming
transactions and because the business was not reliant solely on the US
market). There were a number of facts and circumstances which in my
view impacted positively on the prospects of the business as a result of the
credit card issue. They were:
170.1 barriers to entry had significantly increased which could decrease
competition;
170.2 it would be more difficult for a customer to switch casinos
(customer loyalty would increase);
170.3 the larger sufficiently capitalised casinos would outperform smaller
casinos that were expected to fall away or be consolidated;
170.4 I believed that MicroGaming's royalty fee was unsustainable in an
environment of decreasing margins and they would ultimately
agree to a reduction across the industry. I also stressed that the
business should continue to focus on the following identified
growth strategies;
170.5 diversifying its customer base outside of America;
170.6 identifying alternative payment mechanisms;
170.7 entrenching customer loyalty; and
170.8 considering a consolidation strategy to acquire smaller casinos.
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171      In July 2001 I was convinced that the 'credit card issue' was not an issue
of substance.
172
By July 2001 discussions were underway with IMS regarding a change to
the casino software used by Netainment.
New software
173 The relationship with MGS (MicroGaming) had been strained for some
time. Sean and Tal resented MGS's frustrating actions in respect of the
English Harbour merger. Were independent discussions held with MGS by the inspectors. Additionally Sean, Tal and Corpcapital believed
that the MGS licence fee was uncompetitive (relative to the industry) and
too expensive to the alternative of building your own product.
174 Sean and Tal had built up a relationship with Jack Stroll, the operator of
the Golden Palace online casino. Golden Palace was one of the first and
larger online casinos in the world. Golden Palace was one of MGS's
initial clients.
175 Jack had recently migrated his players onto a software platform that he
had effectively developed in-house. Jack informed Sean and Tal that he
was very pleased with the results of the migration and that he had lost very
few of his player database during the move. Additionally, Jack mentioned
that his business quickly returned to pre-changeover revenue levels (this
indicated to us that the software was of equal quality to the MGS system).
176 Sean and Tal were very excited to hear of an alternative MGS product and
began to discuss the opportunity to licence the software.
177 The negotiations culminated in the IMS/Cytech software license
agreement that was concluded with effect from 1 October 2001. Was this a breach of the MGS agreement? If so, was it discussed with the board? By now it is common cause that Cytech was material to Corpcapital.
178 The key terms of the software agreement were largely agreed by
September 7, 2001 as follows:
178.1 A licence fee calculated at 7.5% with reference to revenue (after
deducting promotional money and credit card charge-backs). As
MGS royalties were calculated with reference to revenues only, the
equivalent effective royalty on the IMS software for comparative
purposes (i.e. the IMS royalty calculated as a percentage of
revenue alone) was approximately 6.75%;
178.2 A minimum monthly royalty of $100 000. Cytech monthly
revenues never consistently grew above the level ($1.3m) required
to avoid paying the minimum.
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179 The positive effect on the financial margins of the business as a result of
this agreement are dealt with in detail in the 'Cytech Valuation' document.
180 Stanley Leisure released its results and I considered approaching them for
a trade sale in July 2001.
181 In the July management pack Evan says 'much of the increase [of
marketing spend] was unsuccessful due to the purchase of inefficient ad-
buys'.
182 In an email from me to Martin dated 12 June 2001 I mentioned that
Netainment had approximately $5m in free cash. I proposed distributing
this to shareholders and then raising new money from outside shareholders
at a pre-new-money valuation of $60m. At the time Corpcapital was
considering creating an 'investors club' of high net-worth individuals Was this independently verified?
183. In September 2001, RedHerring published an article detailing the average
PE ratio on a basket of 1000 domestic and foreign technology companies.
The average PE ratio was 26x 2002 earnings (a forward multiple).
Additionally RedHerring expected earnings for technology companies in
the S & P 500 to increase by an average of 55% in 2002.
184. In September 2001:
184.1 Stanley Leisure, Sportingbet and MGM Mirage were believed to
be the 3 casino groups awarded licences to operate in the British
Isles;
184.2 Sun International announced that they had been awarded one of
three gaming licences by the Isle of Man to operate an online
casino. This was interesting as Kevin Joselowitz had a good
working relationship with Sun International. I believed that in the
medium term they could be approached as a potential trade buyer
ofNetainment.
These developments reinforced our thinking that the UK market
was the most receptive jurisdiction to online gaming businesses.
185.
In September 2001 (after the September 11th events) Nomura pitched to
assist in Aqua's London listing. Nomura's view on the then current market
conditions was that notwithstanding the fall in technology indices
worldwide, the AIM market had proved extremely resilient. They further
noted that a shift in sentiment towards the technology sector may be
occurring and that Aqua's track record and profitability should provide a
good platform from which to approach the market. They were confident
that Aqua could raise between £3-5m within the following six months.
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New Aqua contract
186. Aqua and Netainment entered into a new administration services contract
with effect from 1 October 2001. The commercial terms of this contract
were negotiated well in advance of October 2001. The August 2001
valuation forecasts therefore included reference to the reduction of this
expense. The terms of this contract included:
186.1 A reduced administration fee calculated at 7.5% of Cytech
revenue.
186.2 The purchase of the Aqua / Kings Solomon marketing team from
Aqua at a capital cost of $600 000 payable in twelve equal
instalments of $50k per month.
THE AUGUST 2001 VALUATION
187 The preliminary Netainment audited results for the 36 months ended 30th
September 2001 were presented to Corpcapital in or around September /
October 2001. As expected, these results reconciled to the management
accounts that we had been reviewing, giving us further comfort on
financial results for the purpose of the August 2001 valuation.
188.
I was confident that that the prospects for the business leading up to the
August 2001 valuation were attractive based on the following:
188.1 Alternative growth strategies were identified during the strategy
session.
188.2 Evan was a new CEO with relevant industry experience to assist in
the implementation of the growth strategy.
188.3 The business was investing capital in new infrastructure to fund the
growth.
188.4 New software was identified.
188.5 Aqua contract had been renegotiated.
189. The August 2001 valuation was finalised in September 2001
190. A summary of the key business drivers of the indicative valuation at this
date were:
190.1 Revenue was forecast to be 19% less than the prior years actual
revenue.
190.2 In August and September there was an international reduction of
turnover.
190.3 The credit card issue had not yet affected the business materially.
190.4 The reduction in software royalty and Aqua fee were forecast to
significantly increase margins.
190.5 This was a margin driven valuation. We held the view that the
business would be more profitable off a lower turnover (due to
variable expense savings).
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191. In August 2001 the fair value of the business was determined to be $55.4m
(100%) and $26,3 (47,5%).
192. Soon after the software switchover Netainment management indicated that
the player acceptance of the new software had been very good. This view
was supported in the following email correspondence.
192.1 12th October 2001 - Evan stated that every day since the
changeover had resulted in an increase in player purchases.
192.2 On 22nd October 2001 - Sean enthusiastically reported that the
previous weekends' total player purchases was $324 000 verses a
typical MicroGaming weekend of $320 000.
193. By the time of the release of Corpcapital's August results in [October
2001] the initial indications were that the casino migration had occurred
successfully and the business was on-track to meet forecasts.
194. The actual revenue and profit earned for the months of September and
October approximated forecast (if you remove the abnormal promotional
expense relating to the migration-refer "Netainment Valuation"). I would
not have had the actual results for October before the release of
Corpcapital financial statements. Detailed below is a review of the
forecast and actual revenues and profits immediately post year-end. As
results approximated forecast there would have been no need to consider
changing the fair value for the purpose of releasing the Corpcapital
financial statements.
	Netainment results versus forecast

	Revenue ($'000)
	Sept 01
	Oct 01

	Forecast at August 2001
	1969
	1750

	Actual
	1885
	1750


	Profit ($'000)
	Sept 01
	Oct 01

	Forecast at August 2001
	379
	250

	Actual
	434
	88*


Note: *Promotional spend +$700000 in October compared to a
normal month of $150000."73
73.     The valuation methodology was described by Hamburger as follows:
JH,pp.31-45.
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"The methodology as detailed below was consistently applied for reporting
periods August 2000 - February 2002. In August 2002 PWC (Johannesburg)
performed a valuation on their own basis to assist the board in determining fair
value.
1. Indicative Valuation prepared by Jade Hamburger, assisted by Mark
Matisonn (primarily) for discussion with senior management and auditors
in preparation for decision on Fair Value.
2. Indicative valuation was prepared using a Discounted Cash Flow ("DCF")
valuation model by discounting three years of forecast earnings and a
terminal value calculated using Gordon's Growth Model. Forecasts were
prepared using historic sustainable earnings (excluding non-recurring
expenses) as a base. Profits were assumed to approximate cash flows on
the assumption that capital expenditure would approximate depreciation
and working capital would be neutral. These assumptions were based on
historic performance and the nature of the business. The valuations
incorporated the assumptions that market participants would use in their
estimates of fair value.
3. Forecasts for a period of three years were compiled taking into account
reasonable estimates using industry background, operational issues,
analyst reports, historical performance and operational management input.
Relevant future operational initiatives were incorporated in the forecasts at
the valuation date if management felt there was a strong likelihood of the
events occurring.
4. Forecasts were prepared in US dollars. The forecast depreciation of the
rand:dollar exchange rate was not taken into account. The terminal value
was calculated using a 5% growth rate in August 2000 and a 3% growth
rate thereafter. The terminal growth assumption is based on a long-term
inflation assumption for the US. US inflation over the last 18 years has
averaged 3%.
5. The discount rate ("WACC) used was conservative comparable to the
prevailing rate of returns for financial investments bearing substantially
the same characteristics and was calculated using the Capital Asset Pricing
Model for a dollar income stream.
6. WACC of 24% used for all reporting periods.
Example of the assumptions used in the August 2000 valuation.
	Risk free rate:
	6.0%
	10 years US Gov't bond yield
(August 2000)

	Market risk premium
	4.5%
	Historic English market risk
premium

	Debt:
	0.0%
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	Beta
	2.0
	Average Beta of companies listed
on the IT section of the JSE was
1,85% (August 2000). Stanley
Leisure's (UK listed industry
comparable) beta was 1,6.

	Additional risk premium
	9.0%
	Further premium applied


The additional risk premium was intended to take into account the risk in
forecasting a relatively young business in a dynamic, developing industry.
The premium is considered relatively high compared to other valuations
prepared for comparable businesses. Merrill Lynch in their valuations of
online casinos used a WACC of 14.5% and CSFB in their valuation of
Stanley Leisure used a WACC of 7.6%.
(During the period under review the 10-year US government bond yield
reduced as a result of the declining interest rate environment. However
the WACC was not reduced in the interests of consistency and
conservatism.)
7. Turnover and earnings based valuations were also calculated as part of the
Indicative Valuation with reference to the current market value of other
instruments that were substantially the same. A range of values was
calculated after performing sensitivity analysis on the respective earnings
and revenue bases.
8. The DCF valuation was compared for reasonableness to these turnover
and earnings valuations.
9. At each valuation date there were active markets where equity interests in
online gaming operations were traded and from which, independently of
the company itself and its management, information regarding operating
trends (revenue) could be extracted. Corporate activities relevant to the
company were also considered. After every valuation date regard was had
to these active markets to verify assumptions, forecasts and valuations for
reasonableness.
10. Senior management and directors of Corpcapital reviewed the Indicative
Valuations. Based on the Indicative Valuation, numerous informal
debates, auditors and audit committee inputs of value for reporting
purposes was recommended for inclusion in the financial statements,
which were then approved by the board of directors."74
JH, pp.59-60.
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74.     Abrahams comments on the factors to be considered in a determination of
"measured reliably" as follows Prinsloo repeatedly quotes Abrahams and Collet, but pays no attention to their findings and evidence:
"114.   Specific considerations as per AC 133 in particular
114.1
The existence of an active market or an appropriate surrogate. In
my opinion, these conditions were not met.
114.1.1
There was no market for Cytech shares and the
deals that are referred to as 'validating' or providing
'reasonableness checks' should not, in my opinion,
have given management or the Board comfort that
Cytech itself was in a position to consummate a
deal. Corpcapital were unsuccessful in their
endeavours to sell or merge or list despite sustained
efforts.
114.2
The ability to project cash flows from operations reliably and
without a high degree of volatility in the projections. This in turn
depends to a large degree on the track record and history of
operations of either the Company or the Industry.
114.2.1 Cytech started in December 1998. In my opinion a
history of less than two years is not sufficient to
enable reliable forecasts to be made. Hence
objective and reliable benchmarks were not
available.
114.2.2 The industry itself was a new industry, reliable
competitor information was not available and
although in January 2000 Bear Steams published its
industry analysis, it was at best a Bear Steams' view
on market developments and could not in my
opinion be used as a reliable indicator of future
revenues that would be earned by Cytech. The size
of the market and its projected rate of growth as
indicated by Bear Steams were speculative at best.
114.2.3 There was also little comfort to be derived from past
forecasts and their reliability. It does appear that in
the very early stages Cytech achieved forecasts.
However a comparison of the forecasts in later
years with actual results achieved indicated that by
and large there was little correlation between them.
115. In the circumstances, in my opinion, I consider there to have been
significant doubt at all relevant stages as to whether the "fair value" of
Cytech could have been reliably measured. It is in my opinion not
sufficient for management to have been comforted by the other deals that
were being done by other companies or by the perception that e-business
or e-gaming companies were easily saleable.   The question which fell to
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be answered was could Cytech reasonably have found a buyer for its
operation at the "fair value" that it ascribed to it over the years and was
Cytech in a position to sell its operations. I am not satisfied on the facts
that are available to me that either of these questions could be answered
positively. There needed to be more than a hope or expectation especially
in view of the fact that the "fair value" revision had a material impact on
reported earnings over the years.
116. The involvement of the Board and in particular the non-executive directors
was an imperative as was keeping the use of independent professional
advisors and keeping them appraised of material changes in
circumstances."75
75. Abrahams' overriding concern was "that the projections and the cash flows
were uncertain and subject to significant potential volatility.76 He believed
that the "cash flows in later periods played a significant role in determining
value in the model. (They were subject to even more uncertainty and
volatility).77
76.     His view was that there was no active market for the shares and that there
was no reasonable assurance that Netainment would command similar
prices to other deals being done, particularly bearing in mind impediments
to a sale (ie. the MicroGaming veto rights).78 He believed that this meant
that:
"...it would be difficult to conclude at the various stages that the 'fair value' of
the Cytech investment could be reliably measured.
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Abrahams'supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, pp.50-51.
76
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.2 para.4.
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Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.2 para.4.1.
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Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.2 para.4.2.
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In addition the valuations were impacted by key assumptions as to revenue and
profit growth, increases in margin, a zero tax rate and significant adjustments to
actual figures to derive sustainable cash flows. These factors all added to the
potential unreliability and volatility of the valuation."
77.     Liebmann indicates that Corpcapital was "never in doubt that the value of
its   investment   in  Netainment   could  be   reliably   measured   and  that
consequently the investment was required to be shown in the financial
statements at fair value." Who was Liebmann to make this statement? 80 In support of this view and in expanding on
certain issues raised during his interview with the inspectors, Liebmann
made the following points in a supplementary statement to the inspectors:
"In the context of dot. com and technology businesses, two years is not a
short period for a business to develop a measurable value. This is an unsubstantiated opinion by a person who had no prior experience in the industry, and very little in business,
the business of Hotmail was started during 1996 with $300,000. In 1998 it
was sold to Microsoft for $400m. proves nothing.
In December 1998 Amazon.com was less than 4 years old and had a
market capitalisation of $18.96 billion actively traded on world stock
markets. It had not yet earned a profit You have got to be kidding. This is no comparison.
In July 1999 Webvan raised $275m by selling a 6.48% stake to investors
including Softbank and funds managed by Goldman Sachs. This valued
the company at more than $4 billion within a period of two months after
Webvan began trading. Not relevant.
The most sophisticated and informed investors in the world bought and
sold these shares based on these valuations. I have chosen a few out of
hundreds of examples.
The listing of Aqua is another example. Its largest asset was the Global
Admin   e-commerce   administration   business  which   was   established
concurrently with and depended materially on Netainment as a client.
Independent institutional investors and the general public were able to
measure its value sufficiently reliably to subscribe for and trade in Aqua
shares. Brait SA made a significant investment in Aqua following an
intensive   evaluation   process.   Analysts   performed   and   published
valuations.
The valuation of e-commerce enterprises was a widely debated subject. I
attach an extract from a Merrill Lynch Quarterly Investor's Handbook
published on 24 September 1999. It is helpful in showing the prevailing
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opinion. Of particular interest is the range of WACC rates used (9% to
13%) as opposed to Corpcapital's use of 24%.
The length of a business' history is only one factor relevant to its
valuation. The importance of this factor depends on the nature of the
business. For example, time will affect the extent and quality of reputation
which in turn affects the probabilities of achieving turnover targets and
turnover growth. In the e-commerce industry reputation grew much faster
than in conventional business because the reach of the internet penetrated
beyond traditional avenues of communication and opened new markets.
Netainment's brands had developed significant reputation and loyalty
amongst existing customers and found ready acceptance with new
customers, favourably comparable to other more mature businesses.
Another relevance of the length of a business' history is to ensure that it
has developed its business systems and that they can be relied on to apply
consistently into the future. Once again, the nature of e-commerce
business facilitated the development of systems quickly. In addition,
Netainment had the benefit of licensed systems from MGS which in turn
had extensive history. The business systems that subsisted in Netainment
in August 2000 were proven to be dependable.
A business with a short history might not have identified the liabilities it
would face in the longer term in the ordinary course of its activities. That
was not true of Netainment. The nature of its business is such that its
material liabilities were highly predictable from inception.
Corpcapital was not alone in valuing online gaming investments within
this time frame using the DCF method. Investors in listed online gaming
companies such as Cryptologics, Boss Media and Stanley Leisure, also did
so. In several cases they did so when the online gaming business under
consideration was considerably younger than two years and had not yet
shown profit. They did so on the strength of the fundamental online
gaming business model which can be predicted using business formulae
substantially the same as those used in the valuation of Netainment. In
addition to these public examples, private equity investors were
purchasing shares in private online gaming business and industry players
such as land based gaming operators (eg Stanley Leisure) were purchasing
online gaming businesses based upon their own valuations even though
these businesses had been operating for no longer than Netainment and
often for shorter periods."81
In August 2000 the profits were consistent. Not from month to month -
that is not the appropriate period to measure consistency in view of the
timing for marketing expenditure. At that date revenue and profit trends
can be demonstrated reliably historically and growth rates can be projected
accordingly, and were, based on this information and external market
information. It transpired that the predictions made at August 2000 for the
following year were reliable. The events that made turnover and profit for
the later years differ from what was projected in August 2000 could not
1 BL, supplementary statement, pp.5-8.
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possibly have been foreseen or expected. This inability was not a
consequence peculiar to Netainment or the online gaming industry, they
were the kind of events that might beset a business of any age in any
industry.
The rate of growth forecast for the first three years was lower than the
forecast growth for the industry made by reliable independent analysts. It
was later borne out by the actual growth.
The forecast growth in perpetuity was not "at huge amounts". Other
valuators and industry analysts were basing their valuations on extremely
high annual growth rates for ten to fifteen years (not three years) and then
in perpetuity. Corpcapital forecast high growth for three years and then
growth at a low rate in perpetuity. In this the valuation was conservative
compared to Netainment's peers.
There was no reason to believe that the business would not endure in
perpetuity. The DCF method entails an assumption that a business will
continue in perpetuity unless there is reason to believe otherwise (eg a
mining operation with finite reserves). In reviewing CorpcapitaPs
valuations FH, KPMG and PWC all presumed a value in perpetuity,
endorsing Corpcapital's approach.
Due to the high WACC rate applied and the low growth rate assumed after
three years (the rate into perpetuity approximates the US inflation rate
over the last 18 years) the arithmetic application of the terminal value
formula results in no value being added from year 20 onwards. By year 15
the contribution to the value falls below 1%. Consequently although the
method envisages an in perpetuity portion of value there is in fact none.
The term "reliably measurable" has a particular meaning ascribed to it by
GAAP. The application of the GAAP principles in relation to whether or
not the investment in Netainment was reliably measurable appears in my
statement. Reliably measurable should not be given a meaning other than
that ascribed to it specifically by the Statements. It is not used in the
Statements to inform the valuation itself but to determine whether an
investment should be reflected at cost or fair value. The Statements then
proceed to describe when in theory and by reference to examples an
investment should be treated as reliably measurable. Analysis of these
criteria reveals that Netainment fell to be shown at fair value.
Once that decision was taken fair value must be determined in accordance
with the Statements. What is then required by the Statements is that the
valuation should constitute a 'reasonable estimate' of value.
The Statements encourage the use of fair value in preference to cost. This
is in line with the requirements for fair presentation. By way of example:
if in August 2000 Netainment had been shown at cost (approximately
Rl,8m) but its value was, for argument's sake half of the fair value that
old Corpcapital determined — R75m, then old Corpcapital's accounts
would not have fairly presented its affairs (and would not be prudent)
because they would be significantly understated.
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For a company to show investments at cost when they have a market value
of many times that figure is misleading to investors.
Although FH had noted their view that the forecasts were 'fairly
optimistic' they nevertheless felt that the valuations were fair and
reasonable otherwise they would not have passed them for audit and in
fact said in conclusion that they felt they were conservative. The forecast
is only one input into the valuation model. Other inputs rendered the result
conservative in FH's view.
Our own management did not believe that the forecasts were optimistic.
They thought they were realistic. They proved to be so in the next year.
The forecasts should not be viewed in isolation. Uncertainties regarding
the realisation of those forecasts and any possible optimism is balanced by
the unusually high WACC rate applied to US$ income in the valuation
methodology. It is precisely to accommodate these uncertainties and as a
balance against possible optimism that I understood the WACC rate to
have been selected.
In valuing the kind of mature dependable business that the inspectors
identify, the WACC rate would be significantly lower with the result that
the valuation of the same earnings and cash flows would be significantly
higher. In the case of Netainment regard for youth of the business,
industry uncertainties and any consequent concerns about the reliability of
forecasts are reflected in the high WACC rate which significantly brings
down the value notwithstanding the projected earnings." I place no value on Liebmann’s comments.82
78.     Professor G K Everingham, an expert appointed by Corpcapital, comments
as follows:
"6. Paragraph 97 of AC133 attempts to assist by identifying three situations in
which fair value is reliably measurable. The third of these is "a financial
instrument for which there is an appropriate valuation model and for
which the data inputs to that model can be measured reliably because the
data come from active markets". AC 133 is not specific when it refers to
"the data inputs", which could relate either to projections of future cash
flows / income, or to the discount / capitalization rates used in deriving the
valuation. It would seem to me that the emphasis would be on the latter,
which are more likely to be in the public domain. In the event, the
'indicative valuations' did make use of an industry forecast, and used 4
companies (August 2000 valuation; more in later valuations) as points of
reference. The comparisons were hardly persuasive.
It appears therefore, that the valuations met one of the paragraph 97
criteria for reliable measurability. It should also be noted that the
paragraph 97 list is not exhaustive, and there is further guidance in
BL, supplementary statement, pp.13-17.
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paragraph 101, when the market for a financial instrument is not an active
one.
7.
AC 133:101 indicates that when a quoted market price is not available,
estimation techniques may be used to determine fair value with sufficient
reliability to satisfy the requirements of the Statement. The paragraph
adds that techniques that are well-established in financial markets 'include
reference to the current market value of another instrument that is
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing
models'.
The approach that was applied in the Cytech valuation entailed reference
to the current market value of similar companies, use of a discounted cash
flow analysis and reference to price earnings ratios (which tend to be a
traditional valuation mechanism - see below).
In my opinion, there would therefore be a strong case for a valuation to be
made of Cytech on this basis, particularly if the valuation was considered
using more than one approach, which was the case. The absence of an
active market in the shares would not preclude making a valuation. What information was provided to Everingham? What was his mandate? Was this checked?
Valuation approaches
8.
I do not attempt to summarise SAICA's Guide to Equity Valuations, but
would wish to make a few fundamental points.
Fundamentally, valuations involve estimating future flows of
income and/or cash to the holder of the instrument being valued.
There are various theories in the finance literature as to how this
should be done; in some cases, these are very complex, but the
general principle of looking to the future is applied.
Future flows must be discounted in order to allow for the time
value of money and the risks attaching to the projected inflows.
The risk reward relationship is fundamental to valuation in that the
greater the risks, the greater the discount rate of required rate of
return, which the holder will require.
9.
The SAICA Guide indicates a preference for the capitalization of income
approach (either earnings, i.e. using a price-earnings ratio or fair earnings
yield, or dividends) at paragraph 28 of the Guide. It refers to the
discounted cash flow approach, indicating that this is normally used where
the enterprise has a terminal life, but may be used for valuing an interest in
a profitable going concern, where it is possible to make realistic forecasts
of cash flows (paragraph 26); an approach which is quite often taken now
is to estimate the future cash flows for a given period and then to estimate
a capitalized value as of a number of years hence.
The Guide indicates that
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In capitalizing income, this will normally be based on what has
been achieved in the past, although due account would be taken of
expected trends, including growth in income.
Where there are difficulties in assessing projected returns and
growth, and where risks are perceived as high, this will be adjusted
for by the capitalization yield or the discounting rate used in the
valuation.
There were evidently a number of factors making the valuation of Cytech
difficult, namely
the relatively short life of the business
the fact that it operated in a new, fairly uncertain industry,
potentially subject to regulation.
It was therefore difficult to project forward with any degree of certainty.
These difficulties do not, of themselves, make a valuation unreliable; they
simply add a degree of uncertainty which would otherwise not be present
and which should be compensated for in the choice of capitalization rate. This statement cannot be correct. If an asset cannot be projected forward reliably then that is the issue. It is not for “experts” to place themselves in a position to override GAAP.
The Cytech valuation did incorporate this in that a 9% premium was added
to the weighted average cost of capital, and a high beta of 2 was used
(whereas the market beta would be 1; apparently the beta for the IT
industry at the time on the JSE was 1.85).
It may also be noted that the difficulties referred to also apply to the
companies used as proxies, and for which market values were available.
There are auditing issues relating to the reliability of the underlying
information derived from Cytech. The absence of audited financial
statements would not in itself preclude using the figures, provided some
other mechanism was in place to establish their reliability. What does this mean? Corpcapital
held 47,5 of Cytech and should therefore have been in a position to ensure
that the figures were reliable.
I am advised that Corpcapital's external auditors were able to do sufficient
work on the historical figures to ensure that they could serve as a reliable
base for the forecasts included in the valuation. This is not true. FH did not audit, and the inspectors themselves proved that Corpcapital lied about KPMG conducting an independent valuation. If they could all lie about this, what else would they lie about?
In estimating future profits or cash flows, it is legitimate, indeed necessary
to adjust for all items of a non-recurrent nature. The objective is to project
future maintainable earnings or cash flows as accurately as possible. I am
not, however, in a position to comment on the adjustments which were
made in relation to the valuations. This is is a positive indication that Everingham was given selective information and a limited mandate in order to support the hypertechnical defence.
There are two further issues which have been raised in relation to this
valuation:
Firstly, no tax was applied in relation to the profits and cash flows.
The figures to be used in the valuation should in principle be after
tax numbers. If the jurisdiction in which the entity operates is
indeed one in which no tax would be paid in the foreseeable future,
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it would be correct to disregard tax; if not, tax at the expected
effective rate should be allowed for. The logic is faulty. Corpcapital contend that the asset was held for disposal in the short term. If this was so, the most likely acquirer would have been a listed London company. The negotiation would have involved an examination of the future potential. In turn the London company would have applied notional tax to the projections. This argument was accepted bv PwC.
Secondly, the sharp increase in value from August 1999 to August
2000 may raise questions as to the correctness of the valuation. To
my mind, it would certainly underline the desirability of an
independent valuation, as suggested earlier. I would say essentiality. However, in the
context of a relatively young business, and of the conditions in
financial markets at the time, such a change in valuation would not
be totally unexpected. However, it was material to a public company, Corpcapital. In the case of start-up businesses, the
expectation from the perspective of a venture capitalist would be
that in some instances the business would succeed quite
spectacularly, whereas in others, failure would arise; the
expectation would be that substantial profits on the minority of
businesses, which proved successful, would be large enough to
offset the losses on those that failed. That may be, but the impact was on a public company, and it should have been looked at from this perspective. Financial markets in 1999
and 2000 were, with the benefit of hindsight, over-heated.
Earnings multiples in the United States were extremely high and in
many instances businesses were valued on a multiple of revenue
rather than earnings (this is touched upon in the Cytech valuation,
but was not used as a basis of valuation).
Conclusion
14. I profess no particular expertise as to the business in which Cytech was
engaged and thus do not comment on the projections which were used. Wise words. 
Given the requirements of AC133, I consider that the proper approach in
respect of Cytech was to seek to arrive at a fair value for the investment.
The techniques which were applied in doing so were, in my opinion,
consistent with the approach taken in the SAICA Guide on Equity
Valuations." Having made the disclaimer, and with a limited mandate Everingham cannot possibly arrive at this conclusion. At the least he would have had to scrutinize all of the inputs.83
79. Another expert appointed by Corpcapital to comment on the valuation of
Cytech, was Mr Peter Armitage, who submitted a statement to the
inspectors. Armitage points out that in the late 1990's thousands of internet
businesses were launched, valuations had risen rapidly for 5 years and an
unprecedented amount of venture capital funds was made available for all
the new ideas that surfaced.   This led to a listings boom and hundreds of
Everingham's statement, pp. 16-20.
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businesses listed on the Nasdaq and other similar markets around the world.
The Nasdaq index doubled from 1000 in 1995 to 2000 in late 1998. It
doubled again from 2000 to 4000 in late 1999. The index peaked at close to
5000 in early 2000. The state of NASDAQ is not relevant to Cytech. There was no intention to list Cytech on NASDAQ. What point is Armitage trying to make?
"There has never been a rise of this magnitude in any market in such a short time
period in history and valuations of internet shares rose to levels which defied any
logic. Historic valuation methodologies were abandoned and many shares traded
at 20x to 1 OOx their fundamental valuations."84
Virtually new businesses were routinely rewarded with valuations discounting the
next ten years of aggressive growth and it is not an overstatement to say that 'a
good idea could be listed.' A track record was not considered important.85
"The other key fact to bear in mind is that Cytech was and is a "real" business.
While 90% of internet businesses never reached profitability, Cytech was
generating strong cash flows (with a peak of US$718 000 in the month of January
2001). The company was in the fairly unique position of having an income
statement which justified a PE-based valuation. Hence the valuation was one
based on fundamentals rather than hype. This gave me a great deal of comfort in
arriving at my conclusions."
80. Corpcapital appointed two other experts, Messrs Rory Knight and Sheldon
Cohen. Knight expressed the opinion that Netainment "was evidently
capable of reasonable measurement at each valuation date". Obviously these experts were listened to despite Myburgh saying that their evidence did not affect the outcome. Cohen said
that it was correct to use the DCF model as the primary valuation
methodology because:
this is the most rigorous approach to valuations Does he define in which circumstances, or does he mean anywhere, anytime;
84
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Cytech had reached a stage, even in August 2000, where it was
generating cash and earnings, so the DCF approach was justifiable This is not sine qua non;
in later periods, it was appropriate in terms of both consistency and
the ongoing performance of the company, to continue with the DCF
approach;
as longer periods of historical information and deeper industry
knowledge was built, the DCF model became increasingly robust he is wrong here. the opposite occurred in 2001;
the business model was clear from the first valuation period, had
been proven in the industry and had predictable and measurable cost
and margin components.88
81. The inspectors find that the fair value of the investment in Netainment was
reliably measurable, despite various uncertainties referred to later, for the
following reasons:
the business was real,  from the outset  it generated real  cash This seems to be the evidence of Cohen, whose evidence apparently would not have made a difference.
revenues,  expenses  and profits which were very  significant in
relation to the cost of establishing the business;
from an early stage the business developed a loyal customer base Apparently not because revenues stabilized and then declined;
turnover grew rapidly, particularly in the first 30 months of its
operations;
Statement of Cohen, p. 139.
69
the business had developed certain branded products, one of which
was voted as the third most popular gaming brand in Israel in
September 2000 behind the state run lottery and sports betting
business this information takes matters no further;
despite the monthly results of Netainment not having been audited at
the time the valuations were done, the executives performing the
valuations had an intimate knowledge of the business this a telling statement. In the expert opinion of Cohen managements knowledge is a substitute for a proper  audit. I am sure that the Companies Act has something to say about this, visited the
business in the UK usually on a monthly basis and reviewed the
monthly accounts in detail on a regular basis. How does he know this? In addition, prior to
the finalisation of the 2000 and 2001 financial statements, the
Corpcapital Group auditors did a significant amount of review work
on the Netainment figures Where is the evidence? , sufficient to satisfy them as to the
reliability thereof for inclusion of the investment in the group
financial statements at fair value So, reviews in future are considered to be adequate substitutes to safeguard shareholders interests. Audits are not necessary.;
the experts, with the exception of Abrahams, who have had
considerable experience in the field of valuations, and who
conducted detailed reviews of the valuations concerned, were firmly
of the view that, based on the information available to them, the fair
value of the investment was reliably measurable at the respective
valuation dates.
Collett was conveniently ignored. More importantly. Only two of 10 experts were commented on by Abrahams and Collett. The other six were not, and their evidence simply accepted. So, it turns out to be a numbers game, not a question of principle and testing evidence properly.
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82. The existence of uncertainties, particularly with regard to the cash flow
forecasts which is the whole ball game , do not, of themselves, render a valuation unreliable. Such
uncertainties can be compensated for in the selection of a higher
capitalization rate (or WACC). Based on the levels of cash profits
generated, the business in anyone's language, was worth considerably more
than the original cost (Rl,83m). the inspectors have accepted the opinions and wording of the Corpcapital experts. This para cannot stand up to proper investigation.
83. The inspectors are of the view that in assessing whether the fair value of the
investment was capable of being reliably measured at the valuation dates,
the issue as to whether such fair value calculation was made prudently or
otherwise is not relevant. I do not believe what I am reading. In this respect, the bulk of Abrahams' comments
concerning whether the investment was reliably measurable are considered
to relate more directly to the issue of prudence and these are considered
below.
Should the change in the carrying value of the investment each year have been
included in income and headline earnings?
84.
On the basis that:
the Netainment investment was acquired and held exclusively with a
view to its subsequent disposal in the near future Evidence?;
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the investment is appropriately classified as an "available-for-sale"
financial asset, and
the fair value of the investment could be reliably measured,
Corpcapital had two options, in terms of AC133.104(b), as far as the
change in the carrying value of the investment each year was concerned.
Such gain or loss could be either: included in net profit or loss for the
period in which it arose, or recognised directly in equity (as a non-
distributable reserve) until the investment was disposed of, when the
cumulative gain or loss should be included in net profit or loss for the
period.
85. A point made by both Armitage and Wilmot relating to the question as to
whether a fair value for the Netainment investment was reliably measurable
and whether the asset should have been revalued, was that by not revaluing
Cytech, Corpcapital could have misled investors as to the true value of their
Corpcapital shares. This is difficult to understand.
86. Including the change in the carrying value in a non-distributable reserve in
terms of AC 133.104(b) would have been the more prudent method, in that
the revaluation surplus, while being incorporated into the carrying value of
the investment, would not have been included in net profit until the date of
disposal of the investment.
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87. While the trend in accounting in recent years has been to incorporate
revaluation surpluses, realised as well as unrealised, into net profit,
particularly in the case of financial institutions, this practice is based firmly
on the requirement that the fair value can be reliably measured.
88. Having expressed the view that the fair value of the investment was reliably
measurable, the inspectors find that the policy of including the revaluation
surplus into net profit and headline earnings each year was in accordance
with GAAP.It clearly conflicts with fair presentation, even if it did not comply in other respects.
Section 4: Was the investment in Netainment fairly valued in the period 1999 to
2001?
1.       The process of determining a fair value for the investment in Netainment
should have included the following:
ensuring that the forecasted net cash flows were realistic, took into
account past results and trends as well as the information available
from internal and external sources which would assist in forecasting
future trends; Clearly it did not. There was no statistical relationship between past results and future forecasts.
a  comprehensive  assessment  of the  assumptions  used  in  the
valuation exercise;There was no independent test of these assumptions.
an   appreciation   that   there   were   no   signed   management   or
shareholders agreements;
a detailed assessment of the risks facing the business and the
industry  in which the business  operated,  which  included the
following:- This exercise was not conducted at the time.
the possibility of new entrants into the market;
the relatively short track record of the business;
the industry was a new one with uncertain future potential;
the possibility of regulatory issues affecting the industry;
the change made in the software system used and the
uncertainty as to whether the customers would migrate to the
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new  system,  as pointed  out by  Liebmann,  Everingham,
Knight and others;
ensuring that the capitalisation rate (or WACC) took into
account all these risk factors; and
ensuring that at all times an appropriate degree of prudence
was exercised.
An analysis of the views of the experts follows. The experts appointed by
Corpcapital take the view that, in general, the valuations of Netainment
were fair, whereas the experts appointed by Frangos, take the opposite
view.
In addition to his comments referred to in section 3 above, other factors
which Abrahams refers to in assessing the fair value of the Netainment
investment at the valuation dates included the following:
"7.3 Hamburger relies heavily on management representations and their views
as to the attainability of future plans. It is unclear to me as to why such
reliance was warranted in the absence of a history of performance and
attainment of targets. Cytech did not achieve a number of targets after
January 2001. For example:
7.3.1 the forecast revenues for the period February to June 2001 were
not achieved. Hamburger concluded that the cumulative revenues
and profits for the period ended 31 May 2001 were not
significantly different from managements' forecasts. He does not
however deal with the fact that up to December or January 2001
the revenues were ahead of forecasts but from February 2001 the
forecasts were consistently not met,
7.3.2 the forecast timing of and benefits of renegotiation of certain
contracts were not achieved. Certain of these were planned to take
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place with effect from 1 March 2001 and where changes did take
place they were only effected much later,
7.3.3 the successful implementation of marketing strategies. For
example when Hoff became CEO he embarked in April and May
2001 on significant marketing expenditure to boost sales. Despite
these efforts sales for those periods and June and July 2001 were
below forecast. Hamburger however did not regard this as
significant, and
7.3.4 All these examples impacted net income significantly. Despite
these factors Hamburger continued to rely on management
representations. In any event however, if reliance was to be placed
on these representations and the basic assumptions underlying their
achievement they were in my opinion, so significant that the
specific targets and goals that were to be achieved needed to be
debated fully at the Board and Audit Committee level and a view
taken as to their likelihood of achievement.
Hamburger accepts the appropriateness of adjustments to actual profits. In
my opinion, the adjustments were problematic at best; certain of the
"capital adjustments" were in the nature of expenses paid in advance
(purchase of marketing team) or payment for both past services and to
retain future services (bonuses) and should at best have been spread over a
period. While there was a material adjustment for "management fees"
purportedly incorrectly reflected originally as dividends, there does not
appear to be any adjustments for a management fee for the extensive
involvement of Hamburger and others in Cytech. These adjustments are
dealt with more fully below and in particular in my comments on
Matisonn's Statement.
In my opinion the above factors are particularly relevant to the August
2001 valuation when, at the time of the valuation, there was information
that forecasts made in August 2000 and February 2001 were not being
achieved. Hamburger and Matisonn contend that they were aware of the
non-achievement but did not think that it was significant, in that it was
explainable and attributable to circumstances that could not be anticipated
at the time. The results of February, March, April, May and June and the
trend in revenues in this period are particularly relevant. They were well
below forecast. Hoff (the new CEO) had embarked on an intensive
(although Hamburger considered it to be misguided) marketing
programme on his appointment in April. The information fell to be
communicated to others who may have regarded it in a far different light.
Hamburger uses industry projections to justify forecasted revenue. It is
not clear to me why it was appropriate to place significant emphasis on the
projected figures of the industry to derive a reliable estimate of future
revenues.    I have seen no indication of a detailed marketing plan, the
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specific products or areas targeted and a monthly projection of sales so
that Cytech's performance could be monitored against this projection on a
regular basis. I have also not seen an indication that there was regular
monitoring of actual performance against monthly projections.
Management accounts reflected actual performance only. Cytech grew
from a low base of revenues and an explosive growth in industry revenues
would also be likely to give rise to growing competition. It is not clear to
me how this was factored into the estimates and why Hamburger should
have taken significant comfort from this projection. In any event this was
again a matter which should have been specifically considered as indicated
below.
7.7 The valuations were extremely sensitive to the achievement of goals and
targets. The effect on the valuation was amplified by the use of a terminal
value using the Gordon's Growth Model, i.e. a comparatively small
reduction in revenues in any one period would have amplified the effect
on the final valuation. In my opinion this meant that the revenues and
profits of Cytech should have been monitored against the projections on a
monthly basis and reasons for variations critically evaluated and their
impact on profit recognition in Corpcapital considered. The forecasts
included significant assumptions as to revenue growth in periods where
the validity of the assumptions could not reasonably be tested and
accordingly this also should have been dealt with as above.
7.8 Hamburger acknowledges that the "brand loyalty" is a significant factor
and that the operations are heavily dependent on the software being used.
It is not clear that the risks associated with a cutback in marketing
expenditure or changes in software have been appropriately evaluated.
The changes were potentially a high-risk strategy and by virtue of the
significance of the investment this should have been communicated to the
Board and evaluated at Board level.
7.9 Hamburger identifies the risk associated with the payment system in about
March 2000. He downplays the importance by indicating that the USA
was not the key area of focus. However during the period under review it
appears that the USA accounted for at least 35% of turnover and again this
risk was significant and needed to be debated at Board level.
7.10 Hamburger gives various comparative statistics which he indicates have
substantially the same characteristics as Cytech. It is not clear how he
arrives at a conclusion that these statistics are relevant or what specific
characteristics he believes Cytech has in common with these entities.
Importantly, however, it appears prima facie that the PE ratios quoted for
comparatives are historical PE ratios whereas Hamburger uses forward PE
ratios.
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7.11 Hamburger also appears to have identified inconsistencies/ inefficiencies
in management strategies and yet relied on their representations as to the
effect of their strategies on revenues and profits. These are more fully
dealt with in the detailed comments below. Despite management not
having achieved identified targets e.g. on renegotiation of the contract
with Aqua, reliance continued to be placed on their delivering to plan.
7.12 Hamburger himself was extensively involved in discussions with
management and review of the management accounts and appears to have
had some responsibility for monitoring and controlling the investment. In
these circumstances there may be perceived or actual pressure to favour
management's projections rather than review them critically. I would of
course not be able to express a view on his actual independence.
8. All the above factors emphasized the difficulties surrounding
measurement of the appropriate carrying value of the investment and the
importance of full disclosure. This was exacerbated by the perceived/
actual conflict of interests in that not only Hamburger but the executives
who reviewed his valuations also stood to benefit from unrealized upwards
valuations.
8.1 In the circumstances, in my opinion, there was at least significant doubt as
to whether the "fair value" of the Cytech investment could have been
"measured reliably" in August 1999 and August 2000. By virtue of the
operational and trading difficulties being encountered from January or
February 2001 and which should have been apparent to Hamburger within
a reasonably short period these doubts should have increased in August
2001 and August 2002.1
4. A concern which Abrahams had was that Hamburger appeared on a number
of occasions to exercise his judgment in an imprudent manner when doing
the valuations. He believes that where there was uncertainty, Hamburger
and the executives needed to "use an appropriate degree of caution to avoid
overstating the investment." He lists various examples of where prima
facie and in his opinion an appropriate degree of caution and prudence was
' Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, pp.6-10.
2 Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.3, para.5.
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not used by Hamburger and where the executives did not object to the
approach.   These include:-
The fact that in August 1999 it was concluded that the Netainment
investment could be reliably measured (at 3x its forward P/E) when
it had only been trading for some 8 months. In February 2000 this
was increased to 7x its forward P/E.3
The fact that in August 2000, after Netainment was in operation for
less than 2 years, the cash flows for the year ending 31 May 2001
(year 1) were forecast to increase by 159% over the actuals achieved
for the year ended 31 August 2000. For the year ending 31 May
2002 (year 2) they were forecast to increase by 136% over the
figures forecast for year 1, and for the year ended 31 May 2003 they
were forecast to increase by a further 8,5%. Thereafter he assumed
that they would grow in perpetuity at a terminal growth rate of 5%.4
In the valuation of 31 August 2000, Hamburger provided for an
increased margin on the basis that the deal contemplated with
English Harbour would enable them to negotiate better fees with
Aqua from March 2001. The deal was not consummated and the
fees were only renegotiated some time in September 2001. "When
the valuation was performed there does not appear to be a basis for
3
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.4 para.7.1.
4
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.4 para.7.2.
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Hamburger to have concluded that there was sufficient or reasonable
probability that the deal would be consummated."5
Savings in variable costs were provided for from 1 March 2001
based on "negotiations", while the change took effect some months
later.6
Additional costs associated with terminating the MicroGaming
contract were not provided for.7
The   severe   constraints   placed   on   the   marketability   of  the
MicroGaming "veto" was not taken into account in the valuation and
this should have been relevant, particularly taking into account the
massive revaluation that was proposed for inclusion in income for
the (2000) year.8
A zero tax rate was assumed in the 2000 and all subsequent
valuations.   This was a material assumption which Abrahams does
not believe could be justified (and in any event fell to be disclosed in
the financial statements).9
5
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.5 para.7.2.1.
6
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.5 para.7.2.2.
7
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.5 para.7.2.3.
8
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.5 para.7.2.4
9
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.6 para.7.2.5.
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While exceptional growth rates in revenues were forecast,
management bonuses in recognition of these contributions were not
provided for.10
5. The comments of Collett & Adam on this issue were combined with their
views on whether the fair value of the investment was reliably measurable
and are included above.
6. Like Collett & Adam, Hamburger's comments on this matter were
combined with his comments on whether the fair value of the investment
was reliably measurable. Those comments are included above.
7.       On the question of whether the monthly results were monitored against
forecasts and whether this was taken into account at subsequent valuation
dates, Liebmann's views were :
"Results were reviewed monthly by Jade Hamburger and, later, Mark
Matisonn.
At each valuation date the historic monthly results were reviewed in order
to determine trends. The relevance of historic results for valuation
purposes is that it assists the valuator in determining projected future
performance. The valuation is based on future performance and
consequently only takes into account the anticipated sustainable revenues
and expenses. Historic abnormalities which are unlikely to recur are
excluded for the purposes of valuation. I have been involved in the
purchase and sale of hundreds of businesses and these principles have
been applied without exception by the buyers and sellers.
10 Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.6 para.7.2.7.
9
Historic performance is a key factor in verifying projected performance.
But it is not prescriptive. Similarly, the reliability of prior forecasts
influences whether one can rely on future forecasts but there are other
factors to take into account.
Jade Hamburger and Mark Matisonn took all of these factors into account
in projecting future performance. In addition, in the interests of prudence
and to cater for uncertainties, they used the high WACC rate referred to
previously.
FH and KPMG found their assumptions to be reasonable. Corpcapital
relied on their views."
8.       On the question of whether the valuations were prudent and reasonable,
Liebmann's views were:
"The  Statements  acknowledge that  in  applying  prudence  Financial
statements must contend with the uncertainties inevitably surrounding
events and circumstances. Consequently the exercise of prudence cannot
result in the kind of certainty that a banker requires as security for a loan.
A prudent valuation is one which most carefully estimates value. (An
overly conservative valuation is not prudent.)
The Statements acknowledge specifically that where valuations must be
estimated this does not undermine the reliability of financial statements as
long as the estimate is reasonable.
The requirements of prudence and reasonableness in arriving at the
valuation of Netainment were satisfied by:
A rational analysis of historic performance.
A rational basis for estimating future performance.
Testing of estimates of future performance against independent and
objective market information.
Testing the valuation methods (and their results) against alternative
methods (and their results).
Incorporating   an   extraordinarily   high   WACC   rate   into  the
valuation model to ameliorate uncertainties.
Comparing the resulting valuation to comparable case studies.
Testing  the  valuation   against   independent   indicative  values
provided by third parties interested in acquiring the investment.
Using valuation techniques used by other independent market
participants.
Subjecting the valuation to an internal process of control which
resulted in the fair value accounted for being lower than the
indicative valuation in each instance.
12
Subjecting the fair value to audit."
" BL, supplementary statement, p. 18.
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9.
Professor GK Everingham, an expert appointed by Corpcapital, submitted a
statement to the  inspectors in which he gave his views on  certain
accounting and disclosure, as well as valuation issues. He prefaced his
comments on the Cytech valuations by observing that:
"...the valuation was not undertaken by independent third parties and that the
figures are so material that, in my opinion, this should have been done in order to
provide credibility to the reported figures. This observation must be qualified
somewhat in that Corpcapital possessed the expertise to perform the valuation
internally, and it was subject to review by their auditors. The fact that it is confirmed that there was no independent opinion given should have alerted the inspectors to the motive of the executives. Liebesman, Sacks and hamburger were CAs and knew the requirements of GAAP and the Companies Act. Why then did they not seek independent opinion or disclose to the board? The inspectors cannot produce a finding which overrides GAAP and the Companies Act. If this is accepted it would mean that in all material matters the simple test is that the executive team must have the expertise to perform the function. If they do, then external checks and balances, as required by GAAP and the Companies Act are unnecessary. The test then would be, do manangement have the competence? This would be ludicrous.
To my mind the fact that an independent party did not undertaken the valuation
does not necessarily imply that the valuation is unreliable but would imply that
the valuation should be subject to particularly close scrutiny before incorporating
its effect in the income statement for the year."13
10.
While Everingham did not indicate who should perform the "particularly
close scrutiny", Abrahams felt strongly that in the circumstances and given
the risks and uncertainties relating to this investment, and given the possible
or potential conflict of interest of the executives with regard to their own
remuneration being related, even indirectly, to profit, the non-executive
directors should have been intimately involved in this process. I am surprised that Everingham, who has written a book on Corporate Governance should be confused on this issue.
12
BL supplementary statement, pp.20-21.
13
Everingham's statement, p.15 para.2.
14
Various references in Abrahams' statements, including: Applic p.82 paras.2.4-2.5; p.161 para.8.5.2.6,
Abrahams' supplementary statement of 24 November 2003, p.30 para.64; p.23 para.39.
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11. Armitage pointed out that from March 2001 a period of unprecedented
volatility followed with the Nasdaq index declining towards the 2000 level
and below in the next two years. Actually the volatility commenced in December 2000. In either case, the year end for the merger was in August 2001, after the crash. The Cytech valuations continued to rise astronomically. How do the experts account for this?
12. He gives numerous examples of businesses listing or selling at phenomenal
prices, only to decline rapidly thereafter. These are irrelevant. They were companies listed on the stock market. Cytech was not. These companies complied with disclosure requirements. Cytech did not. The valuations of these companies were set by the market. Cytech’s valuations were unilaterally set by management. The valuations of NSADAQ were not taken as notional profits into other companies. Cytech’s valuations were used as the base to inflate Corpcapital’s profits.These examples included Yahoo,
Amazon.com, Netscape Communications Corp, Theglobe.com, as well as
Mark Shuttleworth's Thwate business which was sold to Verisign in
December 1999 for $5 75m worth of Verisign shares, which he cashed in
shortly thereafter when the Verisign shares were trading at $200 per share.
By early 2002 the price of Verisign shares had declined to $8 per share. There is no relevance here.5
13. Armitage points out that it is important to understand that this was the time
and the environment in which Netainment operated. Over three-quarters of
the shares listed on the Nasdaq are IT/Internet/Internet-related shares and in
the investment community it is considered a fair proxy for the global
valuation of internet shares. According to who? I do not accept this. It is comparing apples and bananas.
14. In explaining the relevance of this to Netainment he points out the
following:
15 Armitage's statement, pp.5-6.
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"The explanation of the environment above is important from the perspective of
Corpcapital/ Cytech for the following reasons:
There was a strong global belief (among investors and the 'man-in-the-
street') during this time period that the usage of the internet would grow
by a compound 30-50% for the foreseeable future. This, and more, was
discounted into share prices at the time.
It was understandable that Corpcapital would have used the views of the
research companies that it utilized for its forecasts for the sector. They
seemed very credible, given the global environment.
Businesses in this era were valued at very high levels at an early stage of
development. Because of the rapid rise of the internet very few businesses
had track records and investors were prepared to discount the future at a
very early stage of their life cycle.
The most extreme example I can recall of this was Lastminute.com which
listed on the London Stock Exchange in early 2000 at a value of GBP 1.1
billion, with only GBP200 000 of historic revenue. (In the year ended 30
September 2002 the business generated turnover of GBP35m, which is
marginally less than the US$55m turnover that Cytech forecast for 2002 in
its August 2000 forecast). Businesses were valued based on projections,
rather than history.
When shares listed, they routinely traded at levels far in excess of
traditional valuation parameters. Cytech was positioned for a listing and I
believe that had the company listed at the appropriate time, it is quite
possible that it could have traded at a value of well over US$100m.
The best South African example is Mark Shuttleworth's Thawte business.
This business sold for 172x its turnover.   With the benefit of hindsight,
this appears completely irrational.   The business which bought Thawte
(Verisign) never came anywhere near meeting its forecasts and the share
price has declined from a high of US$260 to a current US$10.
It is important to note that Cytech was never valued in line with the valuation
levels achieved on the Nasdaq and other IT-biased stockmarkets.
Traditional  valuation   methods   were   applied   in  the   valuation   of Cytech
(Discounted Cash Flow) and there was tremendous upside from this in the event
of a sale or listing. While the valuation methodology applied was appropriate and
conservative, the forecasts were overly aggressive (with the benefit of hindsight).
However, this must be viewed in the context of the consensus views of the growth
potential of the internet.
If one compares the timeline above with the Cytech valuations, my view is that
the rapid appreciation of the Cytech valuation does not appear unreasonable give
the circumstances. It was common at the time.
In fact, by not revaluing Cytech, Corpcapital could have been misleading
investors. In other words, if Cytech had listed or been sold prior to 2001, it is
probable that a value well in excess of the Corpcapital valuation would have been
achieved. If Corpcapital had continued to carry the investment at book value and
the value was realised, investors might have sold their Corpcapital shares without
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knowledge of the upside, which would have been considerable (70% of the
Corpcapital share price at the time).
To illustrate this point, Corpcapital's market capitalisation at 31 August 2000 was
R476m, which equated to around US$68m.   If Cytech had listed at a value of
US$100m, the Corpcapital portion of the value would have been US$47,5m,
which equated to 70% of the Corpcapital market capitalisation.
In my view the directors had a responsibility to indicate the fair value (at least
using traditional measures) at the time.
Comparisons of the timelines of the Cytech valuations and the Nasdaq index
seem, at face value, to indicate that Corpcapital should possibly have decreased its
valuation of Cytech more rapidly.   However, it must be borne in mind that the
valuation methodology never factored in the 'irrational upside' and that the same
'traditional'  valuation methodology was used throughout the period, taking
account of reasonable expectations based on the most recent trading period.
In addition, the valuations of the online gaming shares did not decline as much as
the Nasdaq, as to a certain extent their valuations were based on profits and cash
flows(or at least the prospect thereof) rather than hype. In fact, the PE's of online
gaming companies rerated to a premium relative to the index."
15.     In examining the overall reasonableness or otherwise of the valuations of
Netaiment from August 2000, Armitage summarises his views as follows:
"The methodology used was in line with the methods that are traditionally used to
value shares on the JSE. The DCF, PE and multiple of turnover are still routinely
used to value shares on the JSE.
In assessing the reasonableness of the valuation, one must distinguish between 1)
the structure/ inputs (eg. WACC, terminal value etc.) and 2) the forecasts. At a
high level, our view of the inputs and forecasts is as follows:
5.1
WACC
The 24% Weighted Average Cost of Capital is suitably conservative. To
put this in context, this is the highest WACC that I have seen for the
valuation of listed shares. The average WACC that I currently use for
listed shares is 15% (based on Rand earnings). Cytech applied a 9% "risk"
premium in the WACC (in addition to the 4.5% market risk premium) to
take account of the higher premium for gambling, which is suitably
conservative. In the JP Morgan valuation of AfriCam, they used a WACC
of 16%, for US$-based earnings.
The impact of a higher WACC is to reduce the valuation.
5.2
The forecast period
Corpcapital only used a three year forecast period in its valuation of
Cytech, which is very conservative for a DCF calculation, and takes
16 Armitage statement, pp.8-10.
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cognisance of the forecast risk. This is not true. They also forecast for a “terminal period” into perpetuity. In conducting DCF valuations on listed
shares, the industry "norm" is to use a five to 15 year forecast period, or
even 20 years in the case of mining shares. Generally the terminal value
assumes a much lower growth rate than that used in the forecast period, so
the shorter the forecast period, the lower the valuation.
The combination of a three year forecast period and a 3% terminal growth
thereafter is very prudent. Not so. The 3% growth for the terminal period  is the most aggressive used by listed companies in the US.
Notably, in order to justify ever-increasing valuations, Nasdaq analysts
generally increased their DCF forecast periods (with high compound
growth being sustained) to arrive at higher values.
Terminal value
The theory behind a terminal value is that at the end of the forecast period
the business still has a value (especially after a short three year forecast).
This value is calculated and then discounted back to a current value using
the WACC.
The methodology used to value Cytech is the Gordon's Growth Model,
where a terminal growth rate is assumed. The terminal growth rate is
generally a premium over inflation, ie. the real rate of growth of the
company in perpetuity. Corpcapital used a 5% terminal growth rate in its
August 2000 valuation and 3% thereafter (with the reasoning that the
inflation rate had declined).
In our view this is very conservative, as industry forecasts all predicted
growth rates in excess of 20% for an extended period, while Corpcapital
was forecasting the growth rate slowing down to inflation after year three.
An appropriate reasonableness check for the terminal value is the PE
multiple that this represents. For example, the US$44m terminal value in
the August 2000 valuation represents a 3.3x PE on the year 3 earnings.
This confirms our view that that terminal value is suitably conservative.
Forecasts
The forecasts are the numbers which "populate" the structure which
utilises the inputs above. I have stated that I view the structure of the DCF
and the inputs are suitably conservative.
It is a fact that, with the benefit of hindsight, the forecasts were regularly
too aggressive. This crucial statement appears to be lost in the static of justification. To put this in context, the achieved revenues, as a % of
what was forecast was as follows:
Aug 2000 forecast to 12 months ending May 2001: 88%
Feb 2001 forecast to 12 months ending Nov 2001:   70%
Aug 2001 forecast to 12 months ending Aug 2002:  68%
Feb 2002 forecast to 12 months ending Feb 2003:    47%
It must also be borne in mind that these forecasts were the basis for the
indicative valuations, many of which were decreased to arrive at the actual
valuation used (eg. value used 22% lower than indicative value in Feb
2002).
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While the 'under-achievement' of forecasts could justifiably be criticised,
the documentation provided to us indicates that the valuers certainly did
apply their minds to the forecasts and attempted to take all known factors
into account. In my experience, in a declining turnover scenario
management generally over-estimates the timing and extent of a recovery.
I do not view the first three achievements (88%, 70% and 68%) as a
material underachievement in the context of the environment. In my
experience the majority of businesses with exposure to the internet never
came anywhere near meeting their forecasts. This is shown in the
AfriCam, Wildlifewins and Moneyweb examples shown earlier. In
addition, very few Nasdaq businesses met forecasts, which resulted in a
90%+ decline in the share prices of most internet shares, for those that did
not liquidate.
It must also be borne in mind that the higher WACC and short forecast
period are intended to cater for forecast risk.
The declining percentages above would seem to confirm our view that the
valuation should possibly have been decreased faster, as it became evident
that the business would not reach the initial perceived targets.
However, I have not seen one internet forecast where the forecasts were
achieved and in the context of "achievement of forecasts", the ratios above
are among the best that I have seen in the "internet era". In the case of
AfriCam, for example, less than 10% of forecasts were achieved. The
demise of 90% of internet companies would confirm this statement.
5.5.     Outputs
The forward PE serves as a reasonableness check against the output from
the DCF calculation, and the forward PE's of the valuations at each
reporting period were as follows:
FwdPE
Aug 2000 forecast: 8x
Feb 2001 forecast: 7x
Aug 2001 forecast: 8x
Feb 2002 forecast: 6x
Aug 2002 forecast:     5x
In my view, the forward PE's above are very conservative given the PE's
prevalent at the time and the projected growth rates. To put this in context,
the forward PE of the JSE Securities Exchange currently (which is
considered to be undervalued) is 1 1.8x.
The Cytech August 2000 valuation was US$44.8m and the actual profit
achieved for the 12 months ended September 2001 was US$4.48m. This
equates to an actual PE of lOx, which is well below market averages and I
believe conservative.
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5.6.      General conservatism
Throughout the valuation processes I also found evidence of general
conservatism, which would seem to indicate that management applied its
mind to achieving a fair valuation. Evidence of this is as follows:
The forecasts were continuously downgraded to take account of
new factors and current trading conditions.
The terminal growth rate was reduced from 5% to 3% in the
August 2001 valuation.
The WACC was not reduced when interest rates declined in the
US.
Some of the indicative valuations were scaled down for the
purposes of the final valuations reflected in the Corpcapital
accounts. For example:
Aug 2000 value used of US$21.3m vs indicative value of
US$27.0m
Feb 2001 value used of US$27.1m vs indicative value of
US$27.3m
Aug 2001 value used of US$26.3m vs indicative value of
US$28.9m
Feb 2002 value used of US$19.3m vs indicative value of
US$24.6m
Aug 2002 value used of US$ 10.4m vs indicative value of
US$11.5m
In February 2002 the compound turnover growth rate was 18% per
annum,  which   is  extremely  low  in  comparison  to  industry
forecasts.  It was only assumed that June 2001 revenue would be
reached again in May 2003."
16.     In examining the August 2000, 2001 and 2002 valuations of Cytech in
jo
particular, Armitage's comments can be summarised as follows:
(1) "A WACC of 24% was used for all three years and was regarded as
'suitably conservative'.
(2) Terminal growth rate of 5% for the valuation in 2000 and 3% for the 2001
and 2002 valuations. This he regards as in line with inflation and very
conservative given the industry forecasts and the fact that only a three year
forecast period was used.
(3) Effective forward PE: 2000 8x; 2001 7x; 2002 5x. He describes these as
being 'very conservative given industry valuations and the valuation of
17
Armitage's statement, pp. 17-20.
18
Armitage's statement, pp.20-22.
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virtually any stockmarket in the world (JSE 2000: 15x; 2001: llx; 2002:
ll,5x).'
(4)
Forecasted cash flows:
2000.
'... appears reasonable given industry forecasts and the experience of the
business to date.'19
2001.
'... management was probably not conservative enough in respect of the
impact of the software change. However, there was a precedent where a
competitor changed to the same software and there was relatively little
impact. The environment was changing and although management took
account of the softening trend, not enough provision was made for the
impact it would have on the business.... '2
2002.
'Conservative assumptions made on turnover growth and cost reductions
forecast.   Looks reasonable, but the risk of forecasting at this stage is
high.'21
(5)
Subsequent analysis.
2000.
'...I believe the forecast was reasonable given the facts known at the
time.'22
2001.
'The actual profit achieved for the year ended August 2002 was US
$2,2m, so the actual PE on the first forecast year of earnings was 25x.
This was largely due to only 32% of forecast profits being achieved, as
opposed to overvaluation in the first place. The valuation methodology
and process was sound, but the forecasts were impacted by the facts
above. This proved to be the most aggressive of all valuations. I do not,
however, question managements' belief in the forecasts at the time, as it
was an evolving industry which flattered to deceive.'23
2002.
'The actual profit achieved for the year ended August 2003 was circa US
$l,5m, so the actual PE on the first forecast year of earnings was 14,5x.
This still looks full, but not unreasonable'."
19
Armitage's statement, p.20.
20
Armitage's statement, p.21.
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Armitage's statement, p.22.
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Armitage's statement, p.20.
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Armitage's statement, p.21.
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Armitage's statement, p.22.
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Armitage's concluding comments are as follows:
"Having been integrally involved in the internet environment as both an analyst
and internet business founder and CEO, I do not believe that the Cytech valuation
was inappropriate or irrational given the circumstances. In fact, management had
a responsibility to shareholders to reflect a market-related value for Cytech. Had
this not been done, investors could have been misled and sold the share. (I have
not stated an opinion on the accounting treatment of the valuation).
I believe that management of Corpcapital followed a disciplined and diligent
process in arriving at the valuations. The valuation methodology used to value
Cytech was more conservative than I currently use for listed JSE shares.
For onlookers who did not have exposure to the internet environment, the two
factors which appear aggressive are 1) the growth rate in the forecasts and 2) the
speed at which the value was increased. However, if viewed within the context of
the market conditions at the time (and the examples shown earlier in this report), I
do not consider these out of the ordinary or unreasonable.
The Cytech valuation is one of the more conservative internet company valuations
that I have encountered.
Cytech missed its profit forecasts, but as I have shown above, almost all
management teams in this era forecast profits well ahead of what was eventually
achieved. It is easy to criticise the forecasts with the benefit of hindsight, but I am
comfortable that management applied their minds at the time of each valuation
and their expectations were not out of line with what was expected by the market
as a whole. Based on my experience, I would be surprised if more that 5% of
internet businesses achieved the forecasts they set in 2000.
The only criticism of the valuation which one could possibly justify is that it was
not decreased fast enough, in the context of the decline in the value of the Nasdaq.
However, I do believe that: 1) management was confident of reaching the new
forecasts, 2) the value was never actually based on Nasdaq valuations and 3) the
forecast risk was very high in a highly volatile environment. The high WACC of
24% took account of the high forecast risk.
However, as we have shown in our calculations above, even with the benefit of
hindsight (factoring in lower profits than forecasts), the valuations are still
defensible. This is not the case with the majority of internet businesses.
Based on the evidence I have seen, I do not believe management made any
conscious attempts to inflate the valuation of Cytech and in many instances
management tempered the justifiable forecasts. It is important to note that
subsequent to the August 2000 valuation (which is the one with which I am most
comfortable) not one input, assumption, or other variable was ever adjusted
upwards (ie. to increase the valuation) in the subsequent periods.   I believe that
19
the various values reflected in the balance sheet of Corpcapital were a reasonable
estimate of the value of the business at the particular point in time (except perhaps
for the initial phases prior to August 2000 when the investment was clearly
25
undervalued)."
18. Another expert appointed by Corpcapital to comment on the valuations of
Cytech, Mr Sean Meyersfeld, in his statement submitted to the inspectors,
largely endorses many of the views expressed by Armitage. Some of the
points raised by him are listed below.
(1) He emphasised the need to view the reasonableness or otherwise of
the assumptions used in the Cytech valuation on an ex ante basis, in
light of the information available at the time.
(2) The fact that Cytech is a US Dollar asset means that the assessment
of the reasonableness of the valuation of Cytech should be based
97
solely on the US Dollar valuation of the asset.
(3)
In the August 2000 valuation, 67% of the $56.8m value of Cytech is
ascribed to the period beyond the three year period which
management had explicitly forecast. However, the 24% discount
rate applied in the valuation has the effect of discounting future cash
flows to the extent that 92% of the asset's total value lies in the first
no
fifteen years.
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(4) With the average inflation rate in the US over the past twenty years
approximating 3%, the 5% terminal growth rate used in the 2000
valuation is considered high. However, he calculates that if 3% had
been used instead, this would have had the effect of reducing the
overall valuation by only 9%, and given that the fair value used in
the financial statements was reduced by 20% from the indicative
value calculated, this is not considered to be material.
(5) "The fair valuation of US $44.8m (August 2000) discloses an historic PE
of 28x (based on sustainable profit for the twelve months to August 2000
of US $1.6m). This represents a discount of some 30% to the historic PE
of the JSE Information Technology Index, of 35% to the JSE Computer
and Software Services sector, and of 80% to NASDAQ. On a forward
basis, using forecast profits for the period to May 2001, the PE multiple
drops to 8x. We point out that even on the basis of the actual profits
generated over this period, of US $4,6m, the multiple of lOx compares
favourably with the 13x pre-tax multiple paid by Stanley Leisure for two
unprofitable casinos in March 2000, and the 32x forward EBITDA
multiple of Starnet Communications at the time."

(6) "The valuation of US$55.4m (August 2001) discloses an historic PE of
12x (based on sustainable profits for the twelve months to August 2001 of
US$ 4.5m), below the 14x implied by the February 2001 valuation, and
significantly lower than the 28x multiple implied by the August 2000
valuation. Despite the reduction in the absolute rating (as well as the
absolute quantum of the valuation), on a relative basis the valuation for the
first time implies a premium to global technology indices. Cytech is now
valued at a premium of some 60% to the historic PE's of both the JSE
Information Technology and Computer & Software Services Indices.
Losses on the NASDAQ at the time render any comparison with that
Index PE meaningless. Nothing appears in the supporting documentation
to suggest why a re-rating of the business was deemed appropriate.
Notwithstanding the above, the 14x historic PE remains broadly in line
with the ratings of competitors such as Aspinalls.com (12.6x historic),
Stanley Leisure (16x  forward) and Power Leisure  (13.6x forward),
Meyersfeld's statement, pp.12 & 14.
Meyersfeld's sttement, pp. 13-14.
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suggesting that the online gaming industry as a whole experienced a re-
rating relative to major indices at this time."
19. Having performed a detailed review of the valuations from 2000-2002,
Knight found them to have been based on Netainment's actual performance
and the reasonable projection of expected future cash flow performance.
While the forecasts were regarded as "optimistic", Knight found the
projections to have been "robustly discounted and deflated in the
anticipation of significant risks to the company, thus reducing the
valuations." His view was that the valuations were not based on extant
market multiples and thus the so-called "irrational exuberance"
subsequently attributed to the stock markets in this period did not distort the
valuations.
20. Knight's view is that the February 2000 valuation appeared to have been
undervalued by around 30%.    He believes that a "fair valuation" was
feasible, even at this early stage in the life of the business.  With regard to
the August 2000 valuation, he comments:
"In the light of information on the underlying business model available at the time
this valuation appears optimistic. It would not have been unreasonable to
consider reducing this amount by around 20%. This reduction in value relates to
an estimate of the value of the jackpot pooling provided by MGS [MicroGaming]
which should not have been considered part of Cytech's value."
31
Meyersfeld's statement, p. 18.
32
Knight's statement, p.3.
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21.     He goes on to state:
"The combined effect of an undervaluation in February 2000 and overvaluation in
August would reduce the apparent sharp increase between the two dates."
In fairness to Corpcapital, he points out that their indicative valuation of
Netainment at August 2000 was reduced by 20% for financial reporting
purposes.33
22.     Other comments by Knight on this issue, included:
"It is normal practice to review historic performance and make
adjustments for those items that are unlikely to recur. Since I too feel this
is a valid concern, I investigated each adjustment. In most cases I think
there was a valid justification for the adjustment. In all cases I felt the
adjustments were not significant and thus would not materially affect the
valuations.
It would have been helpful for the valuation reports to have identified at
least three possible values for each annual cash flow number, for example
1) optimistic, 2) likely and 3) pessimistic. In this way a rudimentary
simulation would have generated a range of values against which
performance could have been measured. In other words deviations from
expectations could have been more effectively done. This was not done.
However, I do not think this criticism invalidates the valuations and other
types of sensitivity analyses were in evidence. ..."
23.     Cohen points out that:
"Things had not run well at Cytech as had been anticipated in the period up to this
forecast: the failure of the English Harbour merger had also soured the
relationship with MicroGaming Systems, Cytech's software supplier; Cytech had
hired a new CEO who had instituted an inconsistent marketing strategy and
increased overheads to support his expansion strategy; Cytech had decided to
change software suppliers.
Cytech was not the victim of a 'bursting industry bubble', but of a series of poor
management decisions. ...
33
Knight's statement, p.8.
34
Knight's statement, p.l 1.
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In the face of industry challenges such as increasing customer acquisition costs
and credit card processing problems, the leading online casino players continued
35
to grow both revenues and cash profits during this period."
24. In commenting on the use of a 24% WACC by Corpcapital, Cohen is of the
view that the Stanley Leisure business is a fundamentally different business
and should have been ignored. The Merrill Lynch use of 14.4% cost of
capital for online casinos was, however, a fair benchmark and he believed
that the use of the 24% WACC by Corpcapital was conservative by
comparison and "conforms with my rule of thumb for US businesses at high
risk stages".36
25. He believes that the August 2000 valuation was a conservative one. On the
August 2001 valuation he comments:
"Growth forecasts were more conservative; however, management assurances and
the general positive state of the industry around Cytech ... led the valuators to be
loath to reflect the stock market crash fully. ... However, I believe they were still
justified in believing that what had been an exceptionally successful business to
date could pull out of its temporary slump."
26.
The comments of the Corpcapital executives and the various experts in
favour of the investment in Netainment having been fairly valued at the end
of the 2000 and 2001 financial years is summarised as follows:
Cohen's statement, pp.140-141.
Cohen's statement, p. 140.
Cohen's statement, pp. 140-141.
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the monthly results were reviewed in detail by the executives on a
regular basis;
the (internal) valuators had an intimate knowledge of the business;
the actual monthly results were taken into account in forecasting
future cash flows and trends;
it was appropriate for items of a non-recurring nature to be reversed
from actual results in determining sustainable profit;
there was a proven, effective software system in place for the casino
from the outset;
there were positive cash flows (profits) from the outset;
there was a strong upward trend in revenues and profits for the first
30 months;
the actual results for the first year following the August 2000
valuation were not out of line with the forecasts;
some  experts  believed  it  to  be  appropriate  to   ignore  tax  in
Netainment as it was based in a tax haven;
some experts believe that the circumstances prevailing in the
industry at the time meant that a sound track record was not
important;
industry forecasts were that the use of the internet would grow by a
compound 30%-50% per annum;
25
the limitation of the high individual forecasts to a 3 year period with
a terminal growth rate of 3% in perpetuity thereafter was very
conservative;
the uncertainties that existed did not necessarily undermine the
reasonableness of the valuations.   The high WACC used took the
uncertainties into account;
at 24% the WACC was very conservative;
the   auditors   found  the  assumptions   used   and  the  valuations
themselves to be reasonable;
the result of using a 24% WACC means that the effect of forecasted
profits beyond a 15 year period on the valuation is negligible;
while traditional valuation models were, in many cases, considered
to be too conservative and inappropriate during this irrational period
(the "IT bubble"), the Netainment valuations were based on the DCF
method using actual and forecasted net cash flows in a traditional
manner;
a Merrill Lynch report (January 2001) validated the approach,
methodology   and   material   industry   assumptions   used   in   the
Corpcapital valuations;
the initial indications were that the software switchover and the
casino migration occurred successfully;
26
most of the anticipated future cost reductions that were included in
forecasts materialised, although some came into effect a few months
later than expected.   The effect of these on the valuations was not
considered to be material;
the valuations were compared with results using alternative models,
such as the PE method, and were found to be reasonable;
there was a belief that there were genuine sale and/or merger
prospects for the business at figures higher than the valuations;
the indicative valuations arrived at were reduced by the board for
purposes of inclusion in the financial statements
(from $27,3m to $21,3m in August 2000 and
from $28,9m to $26,3m in August 2001);
the absence of an active market in Netainment shares did not
preclude a fair value being determined; and
one expert, appointed by Corpcapital, believed the February 2000
valuation to be undervalued by +30% while the August 2000
valuation was overvalued by ±20%.   Another expert, appointed by
Corpcapital, believed the August 2000 valuation was conservative.
27.     The comments made by various experts to the effect that the valuations of
Netainment were not fair are summarised as follows:
actual results of Netainment were unaudited;
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many of the adjustments to actual profits in respect of "non-
recurring" expenses should have been reversed - at best they should
have been spread over the forecast period;
it was not appropriate to rely on general industry projections in
making forecasts;
the valuations were extremely sensitive to the achievement of
forecasts - the non-achievement of the forecasts amplified the effect
of the final valuation because of the terminal value used;
the actual results versus forecasts were not monitored closely
enough, particularly during 2001;
some of the cost reductions anticipated when making the forecasts
should not have been taken into account - others became effective
some months after they were expected;
Netainment was a very young business with only 20 months
operating history at August 2000; it was also operating in a new
industry;
the forecasts were too aggressive;
Fisher Hoffman described the forecasts as optimistic in 2000;
the forecasts did not provide for taxation on the profits despite the
fact that a prospective purchaser of the business would probably not
be based in a tax haven - one of the valuation consultants appointed
28
during the merger process raised this issue but Corpcapital chose to
ignore it;
there were regulatory threats facing the industry and this together
with the credit card issue in the United States should have resulted in
more caution being exercised in making the forecasts;
the use of a 5% terminal growth rate in 2000 was too aggressive;
the changes to the software in 2001 was high risk - the WACC was
not increased and the forecasts were too aggressive and did not
adequately take this into account;
the additional potential costs of terminating the MicroGaming
contract were not provided for;
the uncertainties and significant risks facing the business were not
presented to the board  and particularly, to the  non-executive
directors to assess their impact on the valuations - this should have
been done bearing in mind the materiality of the revaluations
(particularly in 2000), the fact that the revaluation was  done
internally and that the valuators were potentially conflicted in view
of the fact that their bonuses were based on the overall profit of the
group;
the valuators should have reacted more rapidly in 2001 (and 2002) in
decreasing the valuations in view of the decline in the NASDAQ and
in Netainment's own monthly profits;
29
the   valuations   should   have   identified   three   values   based   on
optimistic, realistic and pessimistic outcomes for consideration by
the board and against which to measure actual results;
the declining results in 2001 and 2002 were a function of poor
management decisions and this should have been recognised and
taken into account in the forecasts;
the valuator used forward PE's for Netainment when making his
comparative statistical reasonableness checks, against historical PE's
of the other companies;
despite the inconsistencies and inefficiencies of the Netainment
management, the valuator still relied on their assurances when
making the forecasts;
the independence of the internal valuators was in question;
in view of the uncertainties and risks, as well as the materiality of
the revaluation and the potential conflict of interest of the internal
valuators, the board should have implemented the decision to
appoint an external valuator, particularly in 2000;
the MicroGaming "veto right" was  not taken  into  account in
assessing the marketability of the business;
Meyersfeld, an expert appointed by Corpcapital, pointed out that
using the historic PE valuation as a basis of comparison, Netainment
was valued in August 2001 at a 60% premium to the historic PE's of
30
both  the  JSE  Information  Technology  and  the  Computer and
Software Services indices;
although many efforts were made to sell the business or to merge it
with other similar companies, the fact is that nothing came of these;
it was open to doubt whether Netainment was saleable at its carrying
values, given the right of MicroGaming to "veto" such a transaction;
although actual revenue growth from October 1999 to August 2000
showed a trend which supported the revenue forecasts, the
assumption that this growth rate would continue for the next 36
months, increasing the August 2000 monthly turnover by +225%
was not prudent and reasonable in the circumstances;
while forecasted revenues in the August 2001 valuation were
decreased, the forecasted profits as a percentage of revenues was
more aggressive;
the actual profits reflected a more volatile pattern, but did indicate a
general upward trend, however, to assume that the monthly profit of
August 2000 ($400 000) would grow to above $lm in 36 months
was not prudent and reasonable in the specific circumstances.
28. The inspectors are of the view that the R4,5 million valuation attributed to
the investment in August 1999 was fair, taking into account the information
available at the time and having regard to the materiality of the amount.
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29. Having regard to the many factors for and against whether the values in
2000 and 2001 were fair values and the conflicting opinions of the bevy of
experts, the inspectors cannot find that the Netainment investment in those
years was not fairly valued.
30. The inspectors nevertheless express the following views:-
(1) The 2000 valuation of Netainment was not "unjustifiably inflated to
boost profits artificially and possibly fraudulently", as suggested by
Frangos.
(2) While it is accepted that the valuations were subject to extensive
debate amongst various executives and executive directors, in view
of the significant uncertainties and risks related to the investment,
the detailed valuations workings (including all the assumptions on
which the valuations were based), and the full details of the
uncertainties and risks should have been debated at old Corpcapital
board level in finalising the value to be included in the financial
statements. This should have been coupled with the debate as to
what information was to be disclosed in the annual financial
statements.
In its final submissions, Corpcapital contended that:
32
Trengove,   the   only   non-executive   director   on   the   old
Corpcapital board, was a member of the audit committee;
the key issues memorandum of Fisher Hoffman was tabled
and discussed at audit committee and board meetings;
that memorandum included the material assumptions and
risks related to the valuations;
the draft financial statements were tabled and discussed at
audit committee and board meetings.
The inspectors remain of the view that more detailed information
should have been given to the board, such as the six monthly
indicative valuations prepared by management, in view of the
materiality of the investment; the high risks associated with it, and
the fact that it was unlisted and unrealised.   The board of the new
Corpcapital had a similar view, hence its resolution at its first
meeting on 16 October 2001:
"Noted the prospects for Netainment and the disproportionate exposure to
a single asset that was unrealised and unlisted. Agreed that in view of the
significant value of the company, a presentation on the company would be
arranged for the next board meeting."
The WACC in the valuations is considered to have been prudent.
The inspectors were of the prima facie view that the forecasts of the
net cash flows in the 2000 and 2001 valuations were optimistic and
even aggressive, and that an appropriate level of prudence was
33
lacking in arriving at the forecasts; but they acknowledged that the
high WACC used did result in a lower valuation, thus negating some
of the optimism in the forecasts. In their final submissions,
Corpcapital reiterated some of their views, as well as those of some
of the experts appointed by them, referred to above, to the effect that
the high WACC rate, the three year initial forecast period, and a 3%
terminal growth rate (used from 2001 onwards) all contributed to
conservative valuations of Netainment/Cytech. They were of the
opinion that those factors negated all of the optimism in the
forecasts.
The inspectors' view is that given the high level of risks with which
the Netainment business was faced, it was appropriate to have a
prudent (high) WACC rate, but that the profit forecasts should have
been prepared as a separate input into the valuations, and that this
exercise should itself have been done with an appropriate degree of
prudence.
The NASDAQ's decline in 2000 and 2001, the actual valuations of
Netainment, and the possible corrections that should have been made
to the valuations of Netainment, are shown in this graph prepared by
Collett & Adam:
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Value if Nasdaq index was followed - based on
31/08/2000 valuations
The decline in Netainment's actual profits in 2001 appears from
annexure "FR6" hereto and in particular from this analysis:
February
$526 000
April
May
June
March
$379 000
$228 000
$210 000
$102 000
July
$185 000
The inspectors' prima facie view was that the decline in the
NASDAQ and in Netainment's profits should have triggered a
reduction in the forecasts and ultimately in the valuation at a more
rapid rate in 2001 and 2002, and these declines should have been
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debated specifically and extensively with the auditors and the
consultants involved in the valuation exercise for the merger, with
the view to assessing the effect thereof on the valuation of
Netainment and ultimately on the valuation of the old Corpcapital
shares, for the purposes of the swap ratios.
Corpcapital's response was to express the view that:
there was no legitimate connection between the NASDAQ
and the forecast used in the valuations: "A fall in NASDAQ is
indicative of changing market perceptions with respect to the
valuation of a broad basket of companies";
the declines in the NASDAQ and the profits of Netainment
were extensively debated with the auditors and the merger
consultants.
The inspectors' view remains, for these reasons:
the   NASDAQ   index   comprises   mainly   internet-related
companies;
•JO
KPMG were unaware of the decline in profits  ;
once the actual profits were not in line with the forecasts
made in the February 2001 valuation, appropriate adjustments
should have been made to the forecasts and ultimately in the
valuations in August 2001 and in 2002.
See para.l 1 section 5 ch.VII.
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(5)     The Corpcapital Investments executive committee decided on 12
May 2000 that the investment in Netainment "would be re-valued by
external valuation".39    That decision was confirmed at subsequent
meetings of the executive committee of old Corpcapital on 7 June
2000 and  11   July 2000.40       At the meeting of the executive
committee of Corpcapital Investments on 14 July 2000, it was
minuted that:
"A major auditing firm would be requested to undertake a thorough
valuation of the business. Discussions were being held with Arthur
Andersen, PwC and KPMG."41
At the meeting of the old Corpcapital executive committee on 18
July 2000 it was agreed that the organisation to be involved in the
valuation of Netainment would be followed up.   On 24 July 2000
Deloitte & Touche (UK) sent Hamburger an e-mail in these terms:
"I had a further conversation with one of my colleagues in our valuations
section to see if he could suggest any one who could help you. His view
was that none of the big five accountancy firms would be keen to
undertake a valuation exercise because of the risks associated with the
market at present. He suggested approaching an investment bank who
specialises in this area, such as Broadview...". 2
On the following day, 25 July 2000, the old Corpcapital executive
committee decided that the valuation of Netainment "would be
performed   internally   and   forwarded   to   Fisher   Hoffman   for
39
Cytech(4)270.
40
Cytech(4)344,87.
41
Cytech(4)344, Cytech(5)87.
42Cytech(5)166.
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comment."        At a meeting of the board of Corpgro held on 3
August 2000:
"It was reported that the valuation of the asset for disclosure purposes had
been discussed with Fisher Hoffman, who had advised against a separate
valuation from an alternative firm of auditors. The routine method of
internal valuation based on the consistent methodology, and reviewed by
the group auditors, had been agreed.'
(Katzenellenbogen of Fisher Hoffman disputed that Fisher Hoffman
had advised against an independent valuation of Netainment.   His
evidence was that Fisher Hoffman said that it was not necessary to
do so in terms of any accounting standards and it was for old
Corpcapital to decide whether they needed an external valuation.
Had old Corpcapital "tendered an outside valuation, we would have
certainly not said no, you must not have it."45)   Ellerine's evidence
was that he participated in the discussion at the Corpgro board. His
recollection was that the cost of obtaining a valuation was between
£80 000 to £100 000.  His view was that the benefit did not justify
the cost:
"I was satisfied about the executive skills and integrity to achieve a
reasonable estimate for the purposes of fair value and in the independence
and competence of Fisher Hoffman and in particular, Peter
Katzenellenbogen. I concluded that an external valuation would add very
little given the depth of skill and attention that the subject was receiving
from Corpcapital's executives and Fisher Hoffman."46
43 Cytech(5)167.
44Corpcap(2)180.
45
Record 950-951.
46
Statement of Ellerine, para.47.
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The inspectors find that the decision to appoint an independent
valuator should have been implemented in 2000 in view of the
following factors:
the materiality of the investment;
the significant increase in the valuation in 2000; and
the potential conflict of interest arising from the executives
responsible for the valuation benefitting by way of a bonus
determined by the overall profit of the group.   Everingham,
one of the experts appointed by Corpcapital, observed:
"... that the valuation was not undertaken by independent third parties and
that the figures are so material that, in my opinion, this should have been
done in order to provide credibility to the reported figures. This
observation must be qualified somewhat in that Corpcapital possessed the
expertise to perform the valuation internally, and it was subject to review
by their auditors. To my mind, the fact that an independent party did not
undertake the valuation does not necessarily imply that the valuation is
unreliable; but would imply that the valuation should be subject to
particularly close scrutiny before incorporating its effects in the income
statement for the year."
Statement of Everingham.para.2 p.15.
Section 5: The valuation of Cvtech done by the valuators during the merger process
in 2001
1.       In his letter of 16 August 2002, Wixley stated that:
"As part of the merger arrangements in 2001, the investment in Cytech was
valued by KPMG in March 2001 as part of their due diligence work on
Corpcapital. Their valuation of R241 million was reviewed and approved by both
Deloittes and PwC who were carrying out the due diligence for the other
companies in the merger. This valuation adds substantial support to the
valuations recorded in the accounts at 28 February 2001 and 31 August 2001."'
On 23 August 2002 Liebesman, in a letter to Ellerine, referred to the
"... appointment of independent valuators, the scope of their mandates and their
valuation methodologies were the subject of discussion and various reports to the
non-executive merger committee and the board."2
One of the "differences of opinion" referred to by Frangos  in his
resignation letter of 2 December 2002 was:
"- No independent valuation, despite the potential conflict of interest. The
valuation took place in a different context at the time of the merger, and at
the time of the audit for August 2002, at my instigation."3
At the AGM on 15 January 2003, Wixley commented that he had taken
cognisance of the fact that the valuations of Cytech had been supported by
KPMG in 2001 and by PwC in 2002.4 The board stated in the press release
of 19 January 2003:
1
Applic719.

2
Applic 724.
3
Applic 260.
4CorpCap(l)110.
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"Since the inception of the group's acquisition of Cytech the valuations ascribed
to its business were tested for reasonableness by KPMG, PwC, Deloittes and
Fisher Hoffman."5
2.       Payne, in his summary of evidence, found:
"As part of the merger valuations in 2001, Deloitte & Touche, KPMG and PwC
reviewed management's valuation of all investments. The KPMG valuation at
February 2001 amounted to R211 200 000, which was reflected in the interim
financial statements at that date. ... These valuations were all based on
information supplied by Corpcapital management and did not constitute an audit."
One of the findings made by Payne was that the:
"... The reviews performed by other audit firms in 2001 ... confirmed the
valuation model, as well as the valuations established by management, but did not
include an audit of the underlying information provided by management."6
3.       In March 2001 KPMG Corporate Finance ("KPMG") produced a fair and
reasonableness report.   The purpose of the report was stated to be the
following:
"1.1.2 At the request of the directors of Corpcapital Limited and for the
purposes of inclusion in the circular to shareholders of Corpcapital
Limited and Corpcapital Bank Limited, regarding the restructuring of
the Corpgro Group, KPMG Corporate Finance have been engaged to
comment on whether the offer to the shareholders is fair and
reasonable."7
As part of that engagement, the valuation of Netainment, prepared by the
management of Corpcapital at 28 February 2001, was reviewed by KPMG
5
Applic 276.
6
Applic 290-291, 280.
7
KPMG 10.
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for reasonableness.      The conclusion KPMG came to in the fair and
reasonableness report was the following:
"10.3.12 Based on the information received from management, we are of the
opinion that the value of Netainment is in the order of $65 million. The
Corpcapital portion of 47.5% is valued at approximately ($30,875
million) R241 million."9
Throughout the  fair  and reasonableness report  it  is  stated that the
Netainment valuation was prepared by Corpcapital.
4. Messrs Carreira and Spies of KPMG were interviewed. Carreira is the
managing partner, Corporate Finance, Spies is a general manager. They
were adamant that they did not do a valuation of Cytech: they reviewed a
valuation done by management. In March 2001 it was not incumbent upon
the issuer of a fair and reasonableness opinion to do a valuation at all. The
evidence of Carreira and Spies was that:
it  was   not  KPMG's   valuation;   the   valuation   was   done   by
management; KPMG only reviewed the valuation;
the R221 million used in the swap ratios was a directors' valuation,
on which KPMG had not done any work;
KPMG did not perform any due diligence.
8
Statement of KPMG para.2.2.1.
9
KPMG65.
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5.       The management valuations, in turn, contained the following disclaimer.
"DISCLAIMER NOTICE
This valuation has been prepared by Corpgro Capital (Pty) Ltd ('Corpcapital')
based on unaudited financial information supplied by, and discussions with, the
management and directors of Netainment NV ('Netainment') and Aqua Online
UK Ltd ('Aqua UK').
The information incorporated in this valuation has not been independently
verified by Corpcapital. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is or
will be made and no responsibility or liability is or will be accepted by
Corpcapital or by any of its officers, employees or agents as to, or in relation to
the accuracy, reliability or completeness of this valuation or any other information
of whatever kind, whether in oral or written form, made available to any
interested party or its advisors and any liability therefore is hereby disclaimed."10
In summary each indicative valuation of Netainment, according to the
disclaimer:
was prepared by Corpcapital, i.e. by management;
was   based   on   unaudited   financial   information   supplied   by
Netainment;
the information in the valuation was not independently verified by
Corpcapital;
no responsibility would be accepted by Corpcapital in relation to the
accuracy, reliability or completeness of the valuation.
6.       KPMG itself relied on two disclaimers :-
the first one was contained in the fair and reasonableness report in
these terms:
Cytech(10)150.
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"1.1.6 We have not independently verified the accuracy, completeness or
reliability of any of the information on which this valuation for fair
and reasonable purposes is based and therefore have provided no
opinion on the factual basis of the valuation. We have received
representation from the directors of Corpcapital and Corpcapital
Bank, that the information supplied in order to perform the various
valuations is not misleading in the manner of its portrayal and
therefore forms a reliable basis for the valuation. If there were any
omissions, inaccuracies or misrepresentations of the information in
the valuations performed, it may have the effect of changing the
valuation opinion."11;
secondly, in the fair and reasonable opinion contained in KPMG's
letter of 5 September 2001 addressed to the directors of Corpcapital,
it was stated:
"In arriving at our opinion, we have assumed and relied upon, without
independent verification, the accuracy and completeness of the
information provided to us, or otherwise reviewed by us for the purpose of
this opinion, whether in writing or obtained following discussions with
management of the companies and we have not assumed and we do not
assume any responsibility or liability therefore."12
7. In their evidence, Carreira and Spies emphasised that their engagement was
to examine the valuation placed on Corpcapital with a view to assessing the
reasonableness of the swap ratio, and not so much to value Netainment in
detail. However, as part of their work they examined the Corpcapital
valuation of Netainment in February 2001. No detailed work on Netainment
was performed by them after this date. They questioned management in
about September 2001, as part of their update work on Corpcapital, as to
whether there was anything material that had happened since February 2001
11
KPMG 10.
12
KPMG 204.
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and they had received a negative response. Having been shown the sharp
decline in the profits of Netainment for the period February to June 2001 by
the inspectors, they indicated that they had not been shown this information
in 2001 and further that had they been aware of it, it would have had, in
their view, a significant effect on the valuation of Netainment at 31 August
2001.13
8.
On this matter, Hamburger indicated that:
"After February 2001 profits turned out to fall short of my forecasts. That was a
consequence of unpredictable factors. In fact, the use of a very high WACC had
the consequence that my values remained defensible even on the reduced profits.14
I believe that KPMG approached me during the period June to August. I must
have updated them on the casino's performance up to June 2001. Unfortunately I
cannot recall these discussions. (I do remember speaking to KPMG but I cannot
distinguish between the February meetings and the August discussions)."15
9.
Deloitte & Touche Corporate Finance ("D+T") was engaged by Corpgro on
22 February 2001 to issue a fair and reasonable opinion to shareholders of
Corpgro on the proposed merger of Corpgro and old Corpcapital. D+T
valued all the investments in Corpgro with the exception of old Corpcapital,
while KPMG valued old Corpcapital including Corpcapital's interest in
Corpcapital Bank. D+T reviewed the KPMG indicative valuation to assess
the reasonability of the approach for inclusion of Corpgro's interest in
Corpcapital in the Corpgro valuation. McDuff and Naidu, partners at D+T,
13
Evidence of Carreira and Spies, record pp.824-830.
14
Hamburger's supplementary statement dated 18 November 2003, p. 16 para.67.
15
Hamburger's supplementary statement dated 18 November 2003, p.14 para.58.
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were interviewed. McDuff described the process of reviewing KPMG's
work as follows:
"... we would take account of their status and reputation and if they are well-
regarded as capable of performing valuations and in our mind, a review would be
a review of their report, the raising of queries and a discussion engaging them on
those queries and if the report did not spell out the process that they had followed
to get the information they needed for management, we would have asked them
about that as well."16
Their evidence was that their role was primarily to understand the process
that KPMG had followed and the extent of the work that had been
performed on all of its valuations. McDuff had certain concerns about the
Netainment valuation: in particular the absence of a tax charge in the cash
flows, and that it would be difficult for the e-gambling industry to grow as
he felt that government would intervene in the industry in some way.
McDuff and Naidu did not see the documents underlying the KPMG
valuation. All that they read was the KPMG report (ultimately included in
its fair and reasonableness report). McDuff s concerns were discussed with
KPMG. His concerns were adequately addressed. Naidu said  :
"... we were focussing more on their process as opposed to their particular
valuation."
And in the fair and reasonableness opinion issued by D+T, it relied on this
disclaimer:
"We have relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, the
accuracy and completeness of the financial and other information used by us in
arriving at our opinion.  Furthermore, our opinion is necessarily based upon the
16
R674.
17
R662-674.
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market and trading conditions as they currently exist and can only be valuated as
at the date of this letter."18
10.
PwC was engaged on 23 May 2001 to prepare an indicative valuation of
Corpcapital Bank for use by the company to evaluate the proposed swap
ratios including an evaluation of the valuations by KPMG and D+T of
Corpcapital and Corpgro respectively.   On 22 June 2001 a meeting was
held with KPMG to discuss the results of their valuation work. PwC's view
of the Netainment valuation was that it appeared conservative:
"Corpcapital performed a valuation of the company and KPMG used the lower
range in order to conclude on a value. The upside potential appears to be double
that of the lower range. The valuation does however not consider the fact that
Netainment is not listed and therefore non-marketable. The impact of the latter is
however not considered to be material, given the fact that the lower range have
been used to indicate value; .,.".19
11.
Goldhawk is a partner of PwC and a director of PncewaterhouseCoopers
Corporate Finance (Pty) Ltd. His evidence was that the general approach
followed by KPMG appeared to err on the conservative side, taking into
account, for example, that significant growth had been recorded from
November 2000 to January 2001; Merrill Lynch expected significant future
growth; Cytech generated cash of $700 000 in January 2001, and so on.
,s D+T36.
I9G120.
20 Statement of Goldhawk p6.
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12.
Goldhawk explained that the KPMG valuation of Cytech, contained in its
fair and reasonableness report, was taken at face value:
"... we relied purely upon what was put on the table here, we did not go
behind it and look at any documentation."21
On a copy of the KPMG report are two notes in the handwriting of
Goldhawk's partner, Van Aswegen. The one note recorded that Van
Aswegen had a telephone conversation with Hantie Bouwer, who was a
partner in PwC's Global Risk Management Services Division with specific
knowledge of the internet gaming industry. Bouwer told Van Aswegen that
his knowledge of Netainment was limited but that he was aware of the
casinos, King Solomon and Lucky Liner, which he confirmed were
operational and reported good activity. The second note related to the $700
000 generated in cash in January 2001. Van Aswegen could not remember
who had given him the figures, but thought it was probably Shane Kidd of
Corpcapital.22
13.
The process of the review of the KPMG valuation of Cytech done by PwC
was described by Goldhawk in his interview. He said that there were two
legs to the review. The first one was a detailed review, going through and
discussing with KPMG each and every valuation contained in their
valuation file and understanding the issues behind the valuations, and,
21 R731.
22G97-103;R730-735.
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where appropriate, raising questions that became apparent. When the three
auditing firms got together, they compared notes, and raised concerns they
had about the valuations. They went through a whole interactive process
where they went through each valuation, the implications of each valuation,
and came to a conclusion. All three firms were comfortable with the
valuation for Cytech. In regard to Cytech, PwC relied upon the fact that
KPMG had the skills and the ability to do a proper job and PwC felt that
they could place reliance upon the valuation.23
14.
In its letter of 31 August 2001 addressed to the directors of Corpcapital
Bank, PwC said that it had considered, inter alia, the values of Corpgro,
Corpcapital and Corpcapital Bank as determined by the directors on the
basis of the advice received from their various advisors and concluded:
"We have relied upon, without independent verification, the accuracy and
completeness of the information provided to us, or otherwise reviewed by us for
the purpose of this opinion, including publicly available information, whether in
writing or obtained in discussion with management of Corpcapital Bank, and we
have not assumed and we do not assume any responsibility or liability
therefore."24
15.
Corpcapital' s contentions are that:
R746-7.
G92.
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the language used by KPMG in correspondence, formal reports and
in meetings with management, support the view that they performed
a valuation of Corpcapital and Netainment25;
the KPMG report of March 2001 demonstrates that KPMG did not
merely review Corpcapital's valuations of Cytech. Its mandate was
to review the valuations of old Corpcapital and in order to do so it
undertook its own valuation of old Corpcapital's assets, specifically
Cytech, albeit that in doing so it made reference to Corpcapital's
own valuation report and accepted the accuracy of the underlying
facts presented by management;
in KPMG's letter to old Corpcapital of 5 September 2001, KPMG
stated that in expressing its fair and reasonable opinion on the swap
ratios it reviewed the "independent valuations performed on Corpgro
and Corpcapital Bank". From this it is clear that they understood the
nature of the work done by the other independent accountants on
Corpgro and Corpcapital Bank to have been in the nature of an
independent valuation;
this is entirely consistent with the understanding displayed by D&T
in their letter of the same date to Corpgro in which they stated that
they had in turn reviewed the "independent valuations performed on
Corpcapital and its investments". D&T's understanding that KPMG
Affidavit of Hamburger, para.7.2 p.202, the Corpcapital final evidence file.
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had performed a valuation on CorpcapitaFs investments, necessarily
including Cytech as a large investment, was shared by the Group;
both of those letters were included in the relevant circulars to
shareholders with the consent of their authors. Consequently
shareholders were assured by D&T and KPMG that such valuations
had been performed by them.   D&T and KPMG were reciprocally
Oft
aware of the contents of each other's letters  ;
the disclaimers that are made by Corpcapital, KPMG and D&T are
standard  practice amongst persons  issuing valuations.     These
disclaimers do not undermine the valuation.   Their purpose is to
limit legal liability arising from the valuations.
16.     The inspectors find that:-
KPMG did not do a valuation of Netainment. KPMG indicated at
the time in its disclaimers that they had not independently verified
the accuracy, completeness or reliability of the information on which
their fair and reasonableness valuation was based. Without an
independent verification of the accuracy, completeness or reliability
of the information, KPMG cannot be said to have independently
valued Netainment.    The independent verification was especially
Para.24 pp.74-84, affidavit of Liebmann: the Corpcapital final evidence file.
Affidavit of Konar, para.7.13 p.259, the Corpcapital final evidence file.
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called for because of the statements of fact in Corpcapital's
indicative valuations that their valuations were based on unaudited
financial information supplied by Netainment and that the
information had not been independently verified by them. The
evidence of Carreira and Spies of KPMG that they did not do a
valuation of Netainment must be accepted.
KPMG reviewed the valuation of management. KPMG arrived at
their opinion that the value of Netainment was in the order of $65
million on the basis of a review of the information received from
management. D&T and PwC, in turn, reviewed the fair and
reasonableness valuation of KPMG. D&T and PwC did not
themselves independently value Netainment. The review of the
KPMG fair and reasonableness report by D&T and PwC was a
review of the process followed by KPMG rather than a review of the
actual valuation of Netainment. At the end of a process of interaction
between the three auditing firms, all three were satisfied with the fair
and reasonableness valuation of Cytech by KPMG.
Corpcapital genuinely and reasonably believed that the pre-merger
process followed by the three audit firms had vindicated the
methodology and outcome of the valuations of Netainment
performed by old Corpcapital.
14
Corpcapital cannot be criticised for contending in its press release of
19 January 2003 that the valuations ascribed to the business of
Cytech were tested for reasonableness by KPMG, PwC and D&T.
The only small quibble in that regard is the statement that that had
occurred "since the inception of the Group's acquisition of Cytech".
Section 6: Disclosure in the financial statements (1999-2001)
1. Another major question is whether the disclosures made in respect of the
Netainment/Cytech investment in the old Corpcapital and Corpgro financial
statements (1999 & 2000) and in the new Corpcapital financial statements
(2001) were in accordance with GAAP and the Companies Act.
2. Abrahams, in his initial report which formed part of Frangos' application to
the Minister, pointed out various items which, in his view, were not
adequately disclosed by old Corpcapital and Corpgro concerning the
investment in Netainment/Cytech. Due to lack of information at that stage,
Abrahams was not aware that the investment was a joint venture. In a
subsequent statement to the inspectors following his giving of evidence, he
adapted his initial report taking into account the fact that the investment
was a joint venture and had been so from the outset.
3. The investment in Netainment/Cytech was accounted for in the 1999-2001
financial statements in terms of GAAP statement AC 133 at fair value, in
accordance with AC 119.36, on the basis that it was acquired and held
exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near future.
2
4. Whereas AC 133 does not specifically require investments in joint ventures
to be disclosed separately in the financial statements of the venturer,
AC 119.47 requires a "listing and description of interests in significant joint
ventures and the proportion of ownership interest held in jointly controlled
entities" to be disclosed.
5. There is a difference of opinion amongst some of the experts (Abrahams,
Collett and Adam on the one hand versus Coppin and Wilmot on the other)
as to whether Corpcapital was obliged to comply with all the disclosure
requirements of AC 133 in view of its implementation date having been
extended to financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2002, and as to
whether the disclosure requirements of both AC 133 and AC119 had to be
complied with.
6. The view of the inspectors is that three matters point strongly towards
disclosure being a GAAP requirement:
(1) AC 119.47 (first sentence) requires disclosure for all j oint ventures;
(2) AC 119.36 requires that the investment be accounted for in terms of
the statement on financial instruments: recognition and measurement
(either AC 133 or IAS39) which specifically indicates that in such
3
circumstances the disclosure requirements of both statements should
be complied with1, and
(3)      the materiality of the investment called for its separate disclosure in
termsofAC100.ll.
7. It is the opinion of the inspectors that Netainment should have been
disclosed separately in the 2000 and 2001 financial statements of
Corpcapital as a joint venture (albeit held for the short-term) together with
a description of the business and the percentage interest held therein by
Corpcapital (47,5%). In addition, the accounting policies note should have
included a policy to the effect that associates and joint ventures acquired
and held exclusively with a view to their subsequent disposal in the near
future were accounted for at fair value, while the definition of associates
included in the Corpcapital Group financial statements should have been
amended by the exclusion of the reference to "long-term interest", in
accordance with the definition as per AC110.
In its final submissions, Corpcapital contended that Coppin's view, in his
earlier submission, had been that there are different viewpoints on various
aspects of accounting and disclosure within the accounting profession, and
1
AC133, para.02(a) and IAS39, para 1(a).
2
Corpcapital's final evidence file, p.41 para.27.2.
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that this should be taken into account by the inspectors. The view
expressed by Coppin and Wilmot in their final submission3 was that certain
of the information found to be lacking by the inspectors in the 2000 and
2001 financial statements of Corpcapital was either included in the annual
reports (albeit outside of the financial statements) or could have been
determined indirectly from other information provided in the financial
statements. The inspectors, however, remain of the view that this
information was not disclosed in the financial statements in accordance
with the Companies Act and GAAP.
8.       A summary of the  other main shortcomings  in disclosure raised by
Abrahams are as follows:
Schedule 4 (Companies Act)4
Old Corpcapital (2000),  Corpgro (2000)  and new Corpcapital
(2001):
Paras 66(2), 67(1) and 72 in respect of information material to
an appreciation of the affairs of the company should have
been disclosed in the Directors Report concerning
Netainment.
3
Coppin's final submission, para.4-6.
4
Applic, pp.87-88.
5
Para 42(a) in respect of separate disclosure of income from
listed and unlisted investments as well as the realised and
unrealised portions thereof were not disclosed.5 Abrahams
concedes that a sophisticated reader could deduce from the
notes on deferred taxation what the unrealised profit on the
revaluation was. However, in his opinion, the information
was material to an understanding of the financial statements
and should have been explicitly dealt with, preferably on the
face of the income statement or, less desirably, in the notes,
and fully explained.
Para 42(5) in respect of disclosure of the amount of income
which was abnormal in amount (i.e. the Netainment
revaluation surplus) although typical of the ordinary trading,
was not made.
Old Corpcapital (2000) and Corpgro (2000):
Para 27 in respect of the name of the investment and the
percentage holding in Netainment was not disclosed.
This requirement is similar to the disclosure requirements of
AC119.47 and has been dealt with above.
GAAP statements:7
5
Applic, p.149 para.8.1.4.
6
Applic, pp.151 & 172.
7
Applic, pp.87-90.
Old Corpcapital (2000), Corpgro (2000) and new Corpcapital (2001)
In terms of AC 100.11, items which are "material enough to
affect evaluations or decisions" should be disclosed. The
amounts of the revaluations of Netainment and the
assumptions relative to those valuations were material and
full disclosure in respect of this investment and the
underlying assumptions impacting the revaluations were
necessary for an understanding of the result of operations and
state of affairs of the companies.8
These disclosures should have included the quantum of the
revaluations recognised in income from this unlisted
investment each year and the forecasted revenue assumptions,
including the assumptions regarding the revenue growth.
"If market research was to be relied upon in estimating future
growth in revenues, that information should have been
disclosed."10
The comment in the operational review of Corpcapital in
2001 that the fair market value "is validated by consistently
realising more than the carrying value of the investment" was
not relevant to Netainment where sales had not taken place,
Applic, p.81 para. 1.4.
9
Applic, p.85 paras.4.3.1.1 and 4.3.1.2; p.178 para.10.3.1.
10
Applic, p.l54para.8.3.2.

and under-emphasised the risks associated with the
Netainment investment.11
AC 125.49, in respect of full details of accounting policies and
methods, and para 81, in respect of additional information, in
regard to "fair value".
Corpgro (2000) and new Corpcapital (2001):
AC 132.19 was not complied with in that uniform accounting
policies with regard to the accounting treatment of
investments were not used.
Abrahams referred to AC 101.12 which states:
"An enterprise whose financial statements comply with Statements of Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice should disclose that fact. Financial statements
should not be described as complying with Statements of Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice unless they comply with all the requirements of each
applicable Statement and each applicable approved interpretation."13
His views were: old Corpcapital (2000), new Corpcapital (2001): in the
absence of disclosure of the information required by the abovementioned
GAAP statements, the annual financial statements were not appropriately
described as having been prepared in accordance with GAAP.14
ii
Applic, p.86, para.5.2.
12
Applic, p. 167 para.9.4.2.
13
Applic, p.88 para.8.2.
14
Applic, p.88 para.8.5; p.89 para.9.1.4; p.90 para.10.2.3.
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10. Collett and Adam expressed views which were largely similar to
Abrahams' views with regard to, what was in their opinion, inadequate
disclosures relating to the Netainment investment in the financial
statements of old Corpcapital and Corpgro (2000) and new Corpcapital
(2001).
11. As far the 1999 financial statements of old Corpcapital were concerned,
Collett and Adam were of the view that the R4,5m value of the investment
"could be considered immaterial which could possibly account for the non-
disclosure of the investment in Netainment".15
12. Their major criticism of the 31 August 2000 financial statements of old
Corpcapital was that despite the unrealised revaluation surplus of
Netainment contributing 85% to "Investing Income" and 60% to "Profit
before tax" (and therefore clearly being very material), no specific
reference to the investment was made in the financial statements.16 The
only reference in the report was in the "Executive Review" (which does not
form part of the financial statements on which the auditor reports) where
the highlights for the year included the statement "Netainment - further
15
Applic, p.146 para.6.5.
16
Applic, pp.416-417 para.6.6.
9
development of successful early stage venture capital investment into a
leading international online gaming and leisure group."
13. They pointed out that the 2000 financial statements of Corpgro also did not
make any specific reference to the investment in Netainment, despite its
materiality to the group.
14. They also point out that during 2000 to 2002, when exchange rate
improvements had a positive effect on revaluations, no disclosure of their
effects on profits or valuations were made. However, when the rand
strengthened and it impacted negatively on the profits and value, such
negative influence was highlighted in the interim results on 28 February
2003. They were of the view that, in terms of AC 103.15 and the
Companies Act, s 299(2) and paragraph 66(2) of the Fourth Schedule, such
exchange rate effects should have been disclosed separately.19
15. The other points raised by them concerning the 31 August 2001 financial
statements of Corpcapital are by and large similar to those raised by
Abrahams , and their conclusion, like Abrahams, was that the 2000
financial statements of Corpgro and old Corpcapital as well as the 2001
17 Applic, p.417 para.6.6.5.
,8Applic,pp.415-416.
19
Applic, pp.453-454.
20
Applic, pp.418-419.
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financial statements of Corpcapital did not comply with the requirements of
GAAP and the Companies Act and therefore, did not "fairly present" the
financial position and results of the group for the 2000 and 2001 financial
years.21
16. Wilmot and Coppin analysed the criticisms contained in the first reports of
Abrahams and Collett and Adam and prepared a report setting out the
results of their analyses. Their report indicates that only those comments in
the submission to the Minister that related to whether the financial
statement complied with the requirements of GAAP and the Companies Act
were considered. Their report does not deal with whether the values placed
on the shares in Netainment were fair or reliable market values.
17. Their report examines the meaning of s 286(3) of the Companies Act,
which states that financial statements are required "in conformity with
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, [to] fairly present the state of
affairs ... and the profit or loss of the company ..." . Referring to the
opinion prepared by Kentridge SC for the Accounting Practices Board in
1977, the point is made that the phrase "generally accepted accounting
practice" can be taken to cover any practice which the bulk of the
21
Applic, pp.458-461; p.413 paras.4.1.1-4.1.2.
22
Statement of Wilmot and Coppin, p.l para.2.
23
Statement of Wilmot and Coppin, p.7 para. 1.3.
11
accounting   profession   would   regard   as   being   within   the   range   of
permissible alternatives.24   In commenting on the fact that the directors
have some discretion that they can use in preparing financial statements,
they point out that:
"In order to comply with both the Companies Act and GAAP the discretion that
the directors have is limited to those areas of GAAP where GAAP is not
prescriptive."
18. Wilmot, in his letter accompanying the report, confirms specifically that, in
his view, the accounting treatment of the Cytech investment in the Corpgro
and Corpcapital financial statements was appropriate and that the treatment
did not constitute a contravention of GAAP.
19. As far as the accounting policies adopted and the disclosures made are
concerned, he indicates that these were in accordance with other listed
entities engaged in similar activities.    In this regard he examined the
financial statements of Brait S.A., whose operations he believed were
closely aligned to those of Corpcapital.  It was apparent from his study of
the Brait financial statements that the basis of valuations of short-term
investments was identical to that of Corpcapital in that gains and losses on
revaluation of investments were taken to income. He adds:
"No details are given of either the names of the investment, their fair values, or
the assumptions used in arriving at the fair values. Accordingly, it is not possible
24
Statement of Wilmot and Coppin, p.8 para.1.5.
25
Statement of Wilmot and Coppin, p.9 para. 1.8.
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to determine which of the investments contributed significantly to the unrealised
gains/losses reflected in the income statement, and the basis on which those
values were determined. In this respect, therefore, the accounting treatment and
disclosures are no different from those of Corpcapital."
20.     Abrahams, in commenting on these points made by Wilmot, says the
following:
"22 In making his determination Wilmot indicates that he 'reviewed the
accounting policies and financial disclosures of similar entities and
examined Research Reports of Financial Analysts'.
23 The similar entity that Wilmot refers to is Brait S.A. He sets out the
accounting policy in regard to 'Proprietary Equity Interests and
Proprietary Investments'. He does not however seek to explain why these
policies are relevant to Corpcapital or indeed what the common features
and distinguishing features are in relation to these policies.
24 In particular he does not explain how material investments in 'associates'
or 'joint ventures' are accounted for by Brait S.A.
25 He also does not point out that Brait S.A. specifically indicates that 'The
directors determine the fair value for the group's interests in private equity
funds under its management by applying the guidelines of the British
Venture Capital Association and the valuation indicators appropriate to the
underlying listed or unlisted investments, and that Corpcapital do not
contend that they follow these guidelines. (Matisonn specifically points
out that this is not GAAP and by implication that Corpcapital were not
bound by these guidelines). Wilmot does not however indicate whether
Brait S.A. apply the guidelines in their entirety and disclose inter alia the
details suggested in para 3.5 for investments amounting to 5% by value of
the portfolio.
26 I have no knowledge of the operations of Brait S.A. but I am given to
understand that the operations of Brait S.A. and Corpcapital are not
analogous in that the former as a matter of policy does not take interests in
early stage ventures.
27 However, even if the example was relevant, and I have no information that
would lead me to believe that it was, it is important to bear in mind that
non-compliance with GAAP or failure to make appropriate disclosures
material to the fair presentation of financial statements is not remedied by
Wilmot, letter dated 22 October 2003 accompanying the statement of Wilmot and Coppin.
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the fact that others may do something similar in practice (even if the
specific facts and circumstances are the same). This may be relevant to a
discussion on gaap but not on GAAP."
21. By referring to the disclosures made by one listed company, Wilmot can
hardly be arguing that the bulk of the accounting profession supports this
particular practice. He also does not indicate whether the disclosures being
referred to are specifically prescribed by GAAP or whether they fall within
the range of permissible alternatives as discussed in their report.
22.     In commenting on the "inference in the submission that the accounting and
disclosures   of  Cytech   were   inappropriate,   and   concealed   material
information from the users, Wilmot says the following:
"5 A review of Financial Analysts' reports issued on Corpcapital, and its
predecessor entities, during the period August 1997 to November 2001
gives no indication of any concerns either as to the appropriateness of the
accounting policies adopted or confusion as to the extent of unrealised
revaluation gains included in earnings. On the contrary, it is evident that
the analysts fully understood that revaluation gains and losses on
investments were reported in income and that these valuation adjustments
were unrealised. In the only reference that I can find to Cytech
(previously Netainment), Investec Securities in a report dated 1 October
2001, made the following statement and I quote:
'Closer scrutiny of Corpcap's value highlights that its portfolio - mainly
Infinex, Netainment and its corporate finance operation, represents 30% of
its value. Infinex consists of payroll-based lenders (Grand Finance,
Izwelethu) and a credit agency (Norman Bisset). This leaves that most of
the revaluation came from Netainment, an online gaming operator.
CorpCap invested R30m in 1998 and the present management valuation
amounts to some R150m - an aggregate return of 250% p.a. This is an
extraordinary return and is not likely to be repeated or sustainable going
forward.'
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, pp.8-9.
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This statement clearly indicates that the analysts were aware of the
significance of the contribution to earnings of Cytech and were sounding a
warning to investors at that stage that these profits were unlikely to be
sustainable. Therefore the inference in the submission that the accounting
and disclosures of Cytech were inappropriate, and concealed from the
users of the financial statements the materiality of the unrealised gains
28
applicable to this investment, is not sustainable."
Strauss, the author of the Investec Securities research note, testified that he
could not have written the note by looking only at the publicly available
information - he was obliged to obtain information from management.29
23.     Abrahams comments on this matter raised by Wilmot as follows:
"28 Wilmot comments on his reviews of Financial Analysts' reports and notes
that concerns as to the appropriateness of the accounting policies were not
in evidence etc for the period August 1997 to November 2001. He then
indicates that a report of 1 October 2001 from Investec Securities makes it
evident that 'analysts fully understood the revaluation gains and losses.'
He goes on to state on the strength of this one report, that 'This statement
clearly indicates that the analysts were aware of the significance of the
contribution to earnings of Cytech and were sounding a warning to
investors at that stage that these profits were unlikely to be sustainable'.
Corpcapital themselves however did not indicate in their afs that these
profits 'were unlikely to be sustainable'.
29 What Wilmot also does not discuss or consider is that it appears that the
profits were equally 'unlikely to be sustainable' in the 2000 year (when
Cytech was revalued from R4.5m to R149), and that the financial analysts
made no comment at all in that year. I have no explanation for this
apparent anomaly and a potential explanation is that the information was
simply not available to them from a reading of the afs.
30 In addition Wilmot does not indicate what sources were available to the
financial analysts and whether they obtained their information from the
financial statements or whether this information was supplemented by in-
depth discussions with management. I am unable to comment on this. It
is however clear whether or not the afs complied with GAAP and/or
achieved 'fair presentation' was solely a function of what was disclosed in
Wilmot's letter of 27 October 2003, accompanying the statement of Wilmot and Coppin.
Record 612-643.
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those afs.   It was for the Directors to ensure that what was disclosed in
those afs achieved this purpose.
31 In the circumstances, in my opinion, the information provided by Wilmot
in his letter of 27 October 2003 does not promote his argument that
'Therefore the inference in the submission that the accounting and
disclosures of Cytech were inappropriate and concealed from the users of
the financial statements the materiality of the unrealised gains applicable
to this investment, is not sustainable.'
32 Indeed in my opinion, the information, could and does equally promote
TO
the inference referred to above."
24. It is noteworthy that the figures used in the Investec Securities report
referred to by Wilmot are, in fact, materially inaccurate. Corpcapital
"invested" Rl,83m in Netainment in 1998 and not R30m and the 31 August
2001 valuation was in fact R221m and not R150m. In his report, Abrahams
makes a good point when he indicates that the source of these figures is
unclear and what needs to be determined is whether the information
provided in the financial statements complies with GAAP and/or achieves
fair presentation and not what financial analysts may secure from other
sources.   (Emphasis added).
25. On the question as to whether the unrealised element of the revaluation
surplus included in the net profit was adequately disclosed, Coppin and
Wilmot were of the view that this information was available from an
examination of the cash flow statement.   Everingham concurred with this
30
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, pp.9-11.
31
Abrahams' supplementary statement dated 24 November 2003, p.10 para.30.
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view for the year 2000 and indicated further that for 2001 the unrealised
investing income was clearly and separately identified.    On the 2000
financial statements of old Corpcapital and Corpgro, Everingham stated:
"20 To sum up, therefore, it should be evident to a reasonably diligent reader
of the 2000 financial statements, that less than half of the income was of a
predictable or recurrent nature and that a significant portion of the balance
comprised fair value adjustments on investments. As suggested earlier, it
would have been informative for users to have had a better indication of
the breakdown of the non-annuity element of income and in particular, the
fair value adjustments; however, there is no disclosure requirement in
Statements of GAAP to do this. There is clearly sufficient information in
the annual report as a whole to enable the user to differentiate between
predicable income and the less predictable income relating to the higher
risk investments."
26.     In referring to this  issue  in the 2001   financial  statements  of new
Corpcapital, Everingham stated:
"The annual report as a whole may be criticised for not having given due
prominence to this in the unaudited section of the annual report; it was left to the
reader to discern this from a proper perusal of the statutory financial statements.
While this may be regarded as less than ideal, I do not believe that it transgresses
the fair presentation requirement of the Companies Act."
27. The inspectors fmd that the requirements of the Companies Act and GAAP
with regard to the disclosure of the unrealised element of the revaluation
surplus were complied with:
the information was available in the Cash Flow Statements in
both 2000 and 2001;
Everingham's statement, p.9 para.20.
Everingham's statement, p.ll para.21.
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the information was also provided in note 19 to the 2001
Corpcapital financial statements;
a number of experts were of the view that the financial
statements of 2000 and 2001 did provide adequate
information in this regard for purposes of complying with the
requirements of the Companies Act and GAAP.
28.     With regard to the contention that the increase in the carrying value of the
investment in 2000 should have been disclosed separately in the income
statement or notes thereto, in terms of para 42(s) of Schedule 4 to the
Companies Act, and/or in the Directors Report in terms of para 66(2) of
Schedule 4, Coppin states:
"... from my reading of financial statements it appears that the above
requirements are generally interpreted as applying to transactions outside the
normal trading activities of the Group, which an have an abnormal impact on the
income statement, and not to the normal trading activities of a Group ..."
Coppin adds that the Group has provided information in the income
statement and in the notes to the income statement and that the level of
information is similar to that provided by many other companies.    He
believed that it was clear from the accounting policies that investments
were shown at fair value and that changes in their value were included in
"investing, trading and fee income" in the income statement.
34
Coppin's statement, p. 12 para.2.1.2.
35
Coppin's statement, p,13 para.2.1.2.
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29.
The inspectors find that the increase in the value of the investment should
have been disclosed separately in the income statements, or notes thereto,
of old Corpcapital and of Corpgro, for the 2000 financial year in particular,
as well as in new Corpcapital for 2001:
having regard to the specific requirements and the wording of paras
42(s) and 66(2) of Schedule 4 to the Companies Act; and
because of the materiality of the investment in Netainment,
30.
On the question as to whether the unrealised revaluation surpluses included
in net profit should have been split between the listed and unlisted
investments (and separately disclosed), Coppin points out that there is no
such requirement in respect of profits and losses on the sale of investments,
and that there is some doubt as to whether this Schedule 4 requirement
(para 42(a)) is intended to include revaluation surpluses. The examples of
the types of income given in the Schedule 4 paragraph are interest,
dividends and other specified income. He points out further that Schedule 4
was drafted before it became common for unrealised increases in the values
of shares to be included in the income statement and that AC 133 does not
make a distinction between listed and unlisted investments.
Coppin's statement, pp.14-15.
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31.
The inspectors are of the view that the fact that Netainment was unlisted
should have been disclosed in the annual financial statements of old
Corpcapital and Corpgro (2000) and new Corpcapital 2001:
having regard to the requirements of paragraph 27 of Schedule 4 to
the Companies Act as well as to AC 100.11 and AC 101.06; and
because of the materiality of the Netainment investment.
32. With regard to the contention that uniform accounting policies were not
used in the Group in the treatment of investments, and thereby not
complying with AC 132.19, Coppin points out that this contention is based
on the argument that investments over which old Corpcapital and
Corpcapital Bank had significant influence (joint control) were regarded by
one company as an associate (joint venture) but not by the other. He
disputes the contention and indicates that if certain investments were
acquired exclusively with a view to their disposal in the near future and
others were not, then different accounting treatments would be required for
the different investments in terms of AC110 and AC119.37
33. The inspectors find that while certain associates held for the long-term were
equity accounted, and others (including a joint venture) held for disposal in
Coppin's statement, p.32 para.3.4.1.
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the near future were accounted for at fair value, this was in accordance with
GAAP.
34.
With   regard   to   the   contention   that  the   disclosure   requirements   of
AC125.49(a),   125.81   and  133.168(a) were not complied with  in the
Corpcapital   Group   financial   statements   for   2000   and   2001   (these
disclosures relate to general information on the investment, including the
significant assumptions applied in estimating the fair value), Coppin states:
"... it is evident that these contentions are based on the premise that Cytech
should have been shown as a separate class of asset. This is based on the
significance of the valuation of Cytech to an appreciation of the financial
38
statements."
Coppin counters this argument as follows:
"... accounting standards require items of a similar nature to be dealt with in a
like manner, supported in some cases by a listing of significant assets....
To contend that one asset should be shown separately in a class of its own when
there are other similar assets is not a specific required consideration in terms of
39
accounting standards."
35.
In considering whether the required disclosures have been provided for the
class of assets in which Netainment was included, Coppin indicates:
"4.2.4 The accounting policies do give the basis to value unlisted investments
and state 'fair values of unlisted investments are based on discounted cash
flow and/or discounted earnings valuation models' in both 2000 financial
statements whereas the 2001 and 2002 financial statements state 'fair
values for unquoted equity instruments are estimated using applicable
price/earnings or price/cash flow ratios refined to reflect the specific
circumstances of the issuer'."
Coppin's statement, p.35 para.4.2.2.
Coppin's statement, p.35 para.4.2.2.
Coppin's statement, p.35 para.4.2.4.
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In his view the information on the overall assumptions that relate to the
various classes of assets to the extent considered necessary by Abrahams,
Collett and Adam , is not commonly provided, and Coppin believes that "it
is unlikely that the contention would be a generally held view by preparers
and users of financial statements ...' '
His view is that the disclosures were sufficient to justify the financial
statements as being in compliance with GAAP.
36. The inspectors are unable to find that the disclosures regarding the
investment in Netainment for the 2000 and 2001 financial years were not in
compliance with the requirements of AC 125.49(a), AC 125.81 and
AC133.168(a):
in view of the differences of opinion expressed by the experts as to
whether the level of general disclosures in relation to the Netainment
investment in the 2000 and 2001 Corpcapital Group financial
statements comply with the requirements of AC 125.49(a), AC 125.81
andAC133.168(a);and
in view of the doubt concerning whether the Netainment investment
should be classified as a separate class of financial asset for
disclosure purposes.
41 Coppin's statement, p.36 para.4.2.5.
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37. With regard to the contention by Collett and Adam that the effect of foreign
exchange profits on the revaluation surpluses for 2000 and 2001 should
have been disclosed separately, Coppin indicates that AC112 does not
require the exchange differences relating to non-monetary items to be
disclosed separately in the financial statements. Also, he points out that
AC 133 and IAS39 do not require separate disclosure of the effect of foreign
exchange differences on a specific investment. His view is, therefore, that
such separate disclosure is not a GAAP requirement.
38. The inspectors are of the view that the separate disclosure of the effect of
foreign exchange differences on the revaluation surpluses was not a GAAP
requirement:
AC 112 does not require the exchange differences relating to non-
monetary items to be disclosed separately in the financial statements;
AC 133 and IAS39 do not require separate disclosure of the effect of
foreign exchange differences on a specific investment.
39.
On the contention by Abrahams and Collett and Adam that based on the
non-disclosure of various material items referred to above as required by
the Companies Act and GAAP, the annual financial statements of the
Corpcapital Group for 2000 and 2001 were not appropriately described as
23
having been prepared in accordance with GAAP and with the Companies
Act, Coppin was of the view that, apart from a few minor breaches in
disclosure which were insignificant (i.e. not stating that a list of investments
was available for inspection at the registered office of the Group; not stating
that Cytech was a joint venture; and not making it sufficiently clear in the
financial statements that the intention was that certain associates (and a
joint venture) were being held for disposal in the near future), the Group
could state that their disclosures for 2000 and 2001 were in accordance with
generally accepted accounting practice without any material deviation.42
40.     The inspectors are of the view that there is some doubt as to whether the
items identified above as not complying with the disclosure requirements of
the Companies Act and GAAP could have influenced the economic
decisions of users, having regard to the following requirements of GAAP:
"Financial statements should not be described as complying with
Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice unless they
comply with all the requirements of each applicable Statement and each
applicable approved interpretation. (AC 101.12).
Information is material if its omission or misstatement could influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
Materiality depends on the size of the item or error judged in the particular
circumstances of its omission or misstatement. Thus, materiality provides
a threshold or a cut-off point rather than being a primary qualitative
characteristic which information must have if it is to be useful.
(AC 100.30).
42 Coppin's statement, pp.45-46.
24
Materiality provides that the specific disclosure requirements of
Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice need not be met if
the resulting information is not material." (AC 101.33).
41. The inspectors are, therefore, unable to find that the old Corpcapital and
Corpgro financial statements for 1999 and 2000 and the new Corpcapital
financial statements for 2001 did not fairly present, in all material respects,
the financial position of the company and the Group and the results of their
operations in accordance with GAAP and in the manner required by the
Companies Act.
Section 7: The accounting policy (2002)
1. In the annual financial statements of old Corpcapital (1999 and 2000),
Corpgro (1999 and 2000) and new Corpcapital (2001), the Netainment
investment was:
accounted for at fair value with the revaluation surpluses each year
included in the net profit for the year and in headline earnings, and
not specifically disclosed either as an associate or a joint venture.
2.       In the unaudited interim results of new Corpcapital for the six months
ended 28 February 2002 dated 10 April 2002, the following was stated:
"Accounting Treatment of Investments
These results reflect the first reported trading period of the Group following the
merger of Corpgro, Corpcapital and Corpcapital Bank, approved by shareholders
on 1 October 2001. Prior to the merger Corpgro consolidated or equity accounted
its investments whilst Corpcapital and Corpcapital Bank accounted for their
investments at fair value. The Group has adopted consistent principles for the
classification and accounting treatment of investments, recognising the differing
characteristics of each investment. This removes as much subjectivity as possible
in the recognition of income.
Investments in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures where the Group has
control or exercises significant influence and its investment is not intended to be
temporary, are consolidated or equity accounted in terms of AC 132 or AC110.
All other investments are accounted for at fair value.
As a result the valuation of investments is more conservative, the quality of
earnings is improved and reporting is more transparent.
The Group's audit committee has approved the adoption of this treatment. For
ease of comparison it has been adopted from 1 September 2001 and pro forma
comparatives have been shown."
3.

In the 2002 annual financial statements of new Corpcapital:
2
the investment was accounted for in accordance with the equity
method with 47,5% (i.e. approximately R8m) of Cytech's net profit
being included in Corpcapital's net profit for the year and in its
headline earnings;
the carrying (fair) value of the investment as at the beginning of the
financial year (R221m) was regarded as the "cost" for equity
accounting purposes, and this was written down to a figure of
RllOm at the end of the year, with the amount written off being
described as goodwill. This write-off, being goodwill, was charged
against net profit for the year, but was reversed for purposes of
calculating headline earnings;
the change in the method of accounting for Cytech was not regarded
as a change in accounting policy or a fundamental error and,
therefore, the comparative figures were not restated;
the only reference to this change in the accounting treatment of
Cytech (and a number of other less material investments) in the
financial statements was in note 37 on "Associates" in which pro
forma figures for the carrying values of these investments at the end
of the prior year were given, with the explanation, "Comparatives of
3
investments reclassified as associates in 2002 are given for ease of
reference."1
In a "Key financial highlights" section of the annual report, which
does not form part of the financial statements, but nevertheless was
referred to in the Directors' Report, the following is stated:
"Accounting Treatment of Investments
Following the merger of Corpgro, Corpcapital and Corpcapital Bank, the
group adopted consistent principles of classification and accounting
treatment of investments. This treatment was adopted from 1 September
2001 and introduced in the interim results to February 2002.
Investments in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures where the group
has significant influence, and control is not intended to be temporary, are
consolidated or equity accounted in terms of AC 132 or AC110. All other
investments are accounted for at fair value.
The effect of this consistent treatment is that certain investments that were
previously accounted for at fair value are now equity accounted. As a
result the valuation of investments is more conservative, subjectivity is
removed from income recognition, the volatility of earnings is decreased
and reporting is more transparent.
Pro forma comparatives for 2001 have been given for ease of reference.
Note 37 of the annual financial statements on page 92 shows the
comparative carrying values of investments now treated as associates ..."
4. In the "Five year review" which is part of the "Key financial highlights"
section and which includes, inter alia, Headline profit before tax and
exceptional items, Headline earnings, Headline EPS (but notably not EPS),
Ordinary DPS, and Return on equity, the 2001 figures are restated on a pro
forma basis, but the 2000, 1999 and 1998 ones are not restated.4
1
Corpcapital 2002 annual financial statements, p.92.
2
Corpcapital 2002 annual financial statements, p.60.
3
Corpcapital 2002 annual financial statements, p. 10.
4
Corpcapital 2002 annual financial statements, p. 12.
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5. It is noteworthy that the write-down of the Cytech investment in 2002 was
charged against net profit for the year, but was reversed out in the
determination of headline earnings, the expense being regarded as a write-
down of goodwill, as referred to above. Furthermore, despite Wixley5 as
well as Wilmot and Coppin6 downplaying headline earnings as not being as
important as the traditional earnings (or net profit) figure, reference is made
in the "Key financial highlights" section as well as in the "Five year
review" only to headline earnings with the net profit figures being ignored.
6. In the summary of evidence in the Payne Report it was said:
"During 2002 the audit committee and board of Corpcapital discussed accounting
policies in the light of the merger. Each company had its own unique needs due
to the nature of its investments, but the uniform basis of accounting was required
as all the investments were now in one company. Mark-to-market accounting for
unlisted investments was thus abandoned in favour of equity accounting. On a
technical level, this was a change in the basis of accounting, not a change in
accounting policy. I concur with this treatment and the way it was disclosed."
7.
In his submissions to the Minister, Frangos contended that the change in
accounting policy was indeed timely for the executives of Corpcapital and
o
the true reasons for the change needed to be independently investigated.
Frangos referred to a schedule in the Payne Report which contained the
following information:
7
Evidence of Wixley, record 1735-7.
Evidence of Wilmot and Coppin, record 1224.
Applic 289.
1 Applic para.4.4.11 p.30.

	Date
	Value
	Change
	Accounting Treatment

	31/08/99
	R4,5m
	R2,5m
	Mark-to-Market/"Fair Value'

	31/08/00
	R149m
	R144,5m
	Mark-to-Market/"Fair Value

	31/08/01
	R221m
	R72m
	Mark-to-Market/"Fair Value

	31/08/02
	RllOm
	(Rl 1 lm)
	Equity Accounting

	28/02/03
	R65m
	(R45m)
	Equity Accounting


Frangos stated that the issues surrounding the accounting treatment of
Cytech and other similar investments was raised at an audit committee
meeting of Corpcapital held on 20 March 2002. At that meeting a decision
was taken that in future Cytech should be equity accounted. The
justification for the decision was that it was not a change in accounting
policy, but a change in the "classification of the asset". Frangos submitted
to the Minister that neither the Collett Report nor the Abrahams Report
support this conclusion, regarding the earlier mark-to-market treatment as a
"fundamental error" which necessitates a complete restatement of prior year
accounts. Cytech should at all times have been equity accounted. This
would have had a material impact on the value of old Corpcapital, on
bonuses and restraint payments and on the share price. It would also have
changed the swap ratios in the merger.
What is relevant with respect to Corpcapital, submitted Frangos, is the
timing of the change to the accounting policies.    The value increased
6
dramatically in 2000. At the end of 2001 the value of Cytech had increased
to R221 million. The accounting policy was changed in 2002. On the new
equity accounting basis Corpcapital took about R8 million into profits. Had
Corpcapital not changed from the mark-to-market accounting policy, it
would have had to record a disastrous loss of R118 million to the bottom
line of Corpcapital.9
8.       On 27 May 2003, the JSE wrote to Corpcapital in which the issue was
debated in the following passage:
"Secondly, in the 2002 annual financial statements, you have equity accounted for
several investments that were previously shown as investments.   The questions
arising from this accounting treatment are:
i)        Why were these investments not equity accounted for in the 2001 results,
as the percentage shareholding appears to be similar, and significant in
both years?
ii)       Why is this new treatment not a change in accounting policy?
Hi)       Why were the investments reclassified in the 2002 balance sheet (with the
2001  comparatives apparently restated), yet the comparative income
statement was not restated, but rather a pro-forma column was presented?
iv)       If the comparative balance sheet has been restated, then why is there not
more disclosure around this fact in terms of AC 101 par 41?"
9.       On 9 June 2003 Corpcapital replied to the JSE's letter of 27 May 2003 in
these terms:
"- The merger of Corpgro Limited (Corpgro), Corpcapital Limited
(Corpcapital) and Corpcapital Bank Limited (Corpcapital Bank) was
approved by shareholders on 1 October 2001. Corpgro Limited changed
its name to Corpcapital Limited and became the sole listed company.
Prior to the merger the three companies operated distinct and different
businesses and had their own management strategies and philosophies.
9 Applicparas.4.4.4.1.2,4.4.8 and 4.4.11 pp.16-30.
7
In the case of Corpgro's Proprietary Investments, its approach was to
manage and develop the businesses over time. Corpgro regarded its
investments as long-term assets and, where it held control or had
significant influence, accounted for them as consolidated subsidiaries or
equity-accounted associates.
Corpcapital's strategy, on the other hand, was to realise its investments in
the short term. Its accounting treatment was therefore to carry the
investments at fair value, whatever the extent of its shareholding.
After the merger, the Corpgro management philosophy and strategy
prevailed and was applied to certain qualifying investments formerly held
by old Corpcapital. The classification of investments was reviewed. In
the result specific investments were no longer regarded as disposable in
the near future or within the confines of any timetable. For these reasons
certain investments were reclassified. There was no change in accounting
policy - all that happened was that there was a change of intention and
approach in relation to certain investments.
After the merger the audit committee of Corpcapital comprised Tom
Wixley (chairman) (from mid February 2002), Wim Trengove, Eric
Ellerine and Nic Frangos, all non-executive directors.
The merged group adopted consistent principles for the accounting
treatment and classification of investments, recognising the differing
characteristics of each investment. Investments in subsidiaries, associates
or joint ventures where the group had control or exercised significant
influence and where its investment was not intended to be temporary, were
consolidated or equity accounted in terms of AC 132 or AC110. All other
investments were accounted for at fair value."
10. On 2 July 2003 the JSE informed Corpcapital that based on the answers
supplied by it, the JSE was not convinced that the treatment of investments
that had now been equity accounted for was in accordance with GAAP.
11. Corpcapital responded on 31 July 2003, attaching a letter with the same
date from Ernst & Young, signed by Coppin, the national director of
accounting and auditing. Coppin stated:
8
"The issue is whether an associate that is required to be accounted for on the
equity method, whereas previously it was not required to be accounted for on the
equity method, is a change in accounting policy.
In this case it appears there was a change in intention regarding certain
investments during the year, in that investments acquired with the intention of
being held for sale were no longer held for disposal in the near future. AC 110
does not deal with situations where associates previously not equity accounted for
are required to be equity accounted for, which can arise on a change in intention
in holding an investment or when severe long-term restrictions that significantly
impair its ability to transfer funds to the investor are removed.
In this situation, as noted above, the stated accounting policy has not been
changed and has been applied consistently to both years, but different results have
arisen because of changed circumstances. The changed circumstances are
themselves not a change in accounting policy. When a change in accounting
policy occurs it is normal for the comparative figures to be restated on the basis
that the new principle would have been appropriate to use previously, whereas in
this case it was not appropriate for equity accounting to be used in the previous
year for these investments."
12.     Coppin said that it appeared that there was a change in intention regarding
certain investments during the year in that investments acquired with the
intention of being held exclusively for sale were no longer held for disposal
in the near future.   He made the point that Abrahams did not appear to
accept the change of intention. Coppin continued:
"My understanding is that old CorpcapitaPs strategy was to realise its investments
in the short-term, while Corpgro's approach was to manage and develop its
investments over time and that after the merger of the two companies, the Corpgro
management philosophy prevailed. This resulted in the classification of certain
investments being reviewed in the 2002 financial year as they were no longer
regarded as being held exclusively for their disposal in the near future. Cytech
was such an investment. Where, however, the financial statements can be
criticised is that more explanation could have been provided regarding this change
of intention. While the change was disclosed in the financial statements, it
focuses on adopting consistent principles of classification and accounting
treatment of investments, instead of the change in intention. However, the result
of the change in intention is reflected in the financial statements."
10
JSE bundle pp.1, 6, 7, 19, 23; Evidence of Ms Wimberley, Record 2076.
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Statement of Coppin, paras.3.3.3-3.3.4.
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13.     The inspectors provided Abrahams with copies  of the statements of
Hamburger, Matisonn, Joselowitz, and Coppin.   In his second statement,
Abrahams dealt with the "purported change in intention as regards the
holding of Cytech", by referring to minutes of meetings and the statement
of Hamburger. Abrahams then came to the following conclusions:
"130 The change was significant and accordingly fell to be debated by the
Board and the Audit Committee and specifically disclosed in the afs. I am
informed by Frangos that no such debate took place at either the Board or
Audit Committee level. The changed accounting treatment was also
explained in the 2002 afs without reference to change in intention. The
Payne Report also does not deal with this purported change in intention.
133 In any event the argument that there was a change of intention is difficult
to sustain. Coppin contends that the investment in Cytech was held
'exclusively for the purpose of re-sale in the near future'. While I have
indicated above that I have questions as to whether the investment was
acquired 'exclusively' for the purpose of re-sale, the question that now
falls to be considered is whether there was a change of intention relating to
the holding or whether there was simply a change in Corpcapital's ability
to sell the investment as a result of the various set backs over the period.
134 It is submitted that on the facts as disclosed in the various Audit
Committee documents and in the afs, the intention ab initio was to dispose
of Cytech at an appropriate stage and this intention did not change in 2002
while Frangos remained on the Board. The Directors continued to actively
seek to dispose of Cytech. They were aware in 2001 and in 2002 that they
had specific and significant issues that they needed to address before they
would be able to dispose of Cytech but the intention of holding the
'investment' for re-sale had not changed. The time period in which they
would reasonably be able to succeed in their intention however did change
and their ability to implement their intention within a short period had
changed."12
14. Katzenellenbogen of Fisher Hoffman testified that during the 2002 financial
year, Corpcapital realised that the short-term realisation of
Netainment/Cytech was no longer probable and its investment would be
12 Second statement of Abrahams, paras.130-139 pp.51-53.
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held and managed for the long-term benefits of profit distribution to
shareholders. Therefore the results were equity accounted to reflect the
reclassification of the investment.13
15. The evidence of Sacks was that since the inception of old Corpcapital,
Grolman was the voice for strictly applying old Corpcapital's strategy of
acquiring investment for a speedy realisation. Liebesman was the voice of
Corpgro strategy which was to hold assets for the long term. After the
merger, Liebesman as CEO of the single group, brought more of his
influence to bear on the old Corpcapital strategy. Post the merger the
management of Corpgro's and old Corpcapital's investments were fully
integrated under a single team. Steps were taken to focus on cash flow
generation from the investments and the high level of exit activity declined.
Grolman accepted the changed strategy. In a sub-audit committee meeting
on 12 March 2002 the committee discussed the accounting affects of the
change in strategy. Credo and Van Zyl presented a paper and performed
work following the meeting. Credo researched the accounting treatment of
the changed strategy together with van Zyl. They consulted Fisher
Hoffman and PwC. Their recommendations were presented to the
Corpcapital audit committee on 20 March 2002 and were approved for
recommendation to the board on 26 March 2002, following a special sub-
13 Statement of Katzenellenbogen, para.4.12 p.28; para.18.2 p.31 of second statement.
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audit committee meeting on 25 March 2002. The change in classification
was welcomed by the group's major shareholders and the market.14 The
evidence of Liebesman, Liebmann and Grolman was to similar effect.15
16. The contemporaneous minutes and documents referred to by Sacks in his
statement are now analysed. The "accounting policy comparison"
document debated at the sub-audit committee meeting on 12 March 2002
proposed that investments held with a medium to long term time horizon
would be equity accounted or consolidated (depending on the size of the
stake) instead of fair valued. One of the investments that would be affected
by the change was Netainment. Under the heading "Equity accounting",
the following was stated:
"Equity accounting
Under this policy the investments will be held at equity accounted cost. In case of
Onelogix the results (and balance sheet) will have to be consolidated, (see
separate table for equity accounted earnings)
To apply this policy the group:
must be able to demonstrate significant influence (normally assumed if the
holding exceeds 20%)
must be able to demonstrate a change in intention from Aug 2001.
In the case of all of these investments there is a continuing intention to sell, but
given current market conditions this seems unlikely in the near future."16
According to the minutes of the sub-audit committee meeting of 12 March
2002,  the   committee  reviewed  the   accounting  treatment  for  certain
investment banking assets and discussed reviewing the policy:
14
Statement of Sacks, paras.177.6-1.77.10.
15
Statement of Grolman, paras.16-20; Statement of Liebesman, paras.98-102; Evidence of Liebmann,
record 1328-

16 MS93.
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"... in view of the differing intentions with regards these investments. Noted the
current policy of carrying the investments at a determined fair value. Practically
the investments were being held between three to five years due to market
conditions i.e. weakness in the capital markets. Further noted the change in
emphasis to focus on private equity/investment banking. Discussed the prospect
of equity accounting or consolidating certain investments depending on the nature
of the holding."17
17. An audit committee meeting was held on 20 March 2002. The members
present were Wixley (chairman) and Ellerine. Frangos was not present.
The following was minuted:
"8        Accounting! treatment of investments
8.1
Principles and Background
The committee noted the accounting principles of the three group
companies were as follows:
Corpgro's accounting treatment was to consolidate or equity account its
investments in accordance with accounting statements;
Corpcapital - managed  investments were carried at fair value and
adjustments reflected in the income statement;
Corpcapital Bank - investments were marked to market (except for
Redefine - shown as an associate).
In view of the merger of the three companies being of such close
proximity to the 2001 financial year-end, there was insufficient time to
address the inconsistent accounting treatment across the group.
8.2
Proposed Policy
The different methods of accounting for investments, according to
accounting statements, were discussed and it was noted that there were
few exceptions to AC110 and AC 132. The group would therefore have to
either consolidate or equity account its investments according to GAAP.
Investments other than subsidiaries, associates or JV's would be
considered available for sale assets and accounted for at fair value. Fair
value adjustments to investments held in the short term would require
reflection in the income statement.
8.3
Implications of the change
The committee agreed that the group had established accounting policies
and that the change was a change in classification of investments rather
than a change in policy."
MS89.
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18.
Wixley testified that a document was handed out at the meeting which
listed various investments. One page contains a number of handwritten
notes that he made during the meeting. Against the three investments,
Netainment, CFI and Aqua, he wrote "will hold for some time". By this he
intended to mean that those investments could no longer be treated as held
for disposal in the near future and thus had to be accounted for on the
equity basis. Because those investments had previously been held for sale
in the near future, there had been a change in intention and those
investments had therefore to be reclassified. For assets such as Cytech, the
fact that management might have preferred to sell them quickly was
irrelevant, as the developments in the online gaming industry and the
decision to adopt new software necessitated that they had to be held for
1 Q
some years, since the sale at an acceptable price had become improbable.
19.
On 25 March 2002 a meeting of the Corpcapital sub-audit committee was
held. Sacks was the chairman. Wixley attended. It was minuted that the
purpose of the meeting was to approve the revised document on accounting
treatment of investments and the financial statements of the group.1
Statement of Wixley, paras.8-9.
19 MS99.
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20.     At the meeting of the board of Corpcapital  on 26 March 2002 the
accounting policy on investments was discussed.   Sacks and Wixley were
present.    Frangos was not present.     Credo referred to the document
"accounting treatment of investments" which was part of the board pack.20
According to the minutes of the board meeting, the board approved the
proposal to change the accounting treatment on investments recommended
by the audit committee. What was minuted in regard to that proposal was:
"R Credo referred to the proposal on accounting policy on investments and noted
the types of investments within the group and their related accounting treatment.
Short-term trading assets would be marked to market in terms of AC133. Assets
to be equity accounted or consolidated would be those that were under group
control or where the group exercised significant influence. These assets would be
held for longer with the aim of disposal at a premium."21
21.     In support of the contention that the intention specifically in relation to
Cytech had also changed, Liebesman said the following:
"Accordingly, for all of the Corpcapital investments previously held for
realisation purposes and accounted for on a marked to market basis, we initiated
steps to change this short term focus and to adopt what had previously been the
Corpgro investment strategy. This is evidenced in numerous interactions with and
regarding each business Corpcapital had been invested. With reference to Cytech,
[Hamburger] and I met [Harpaz] and [Rose] in London in January 2002. This
change, and a commitment to see to it that a minimum dividend policy was
adopted, were specifically on the agenda and resolved at that meeting. ... The
effect of this change in classification regarding Cytech in February 2002 is such
that suggestions of an ulterior motive are demonstrably without substance."22
22.     Wixley made the following statement to the inspectors:
m MSI 13.
21
Corpcap(3)29.
22
Statement of Liebesman, paras. 101-102.
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"At the time that the decision was made to re-classify these investments, I had no
idea that the issue would assume the proportions that it appears to have done in
the minds of the investigators. Before the final decision was made, careful
attention was paid to all of the relevant issues by management, the members of the
sub-audit committee, the main audit committee and the board as well as the
auditors. This issues has also been queried by the JSE Securities Exchange (I
understand this was at the instigation of [Frangos] or his advisers) and the person
who deals with GAAP compliance at the Exchange is satisfied with our
explanation and the treatment the company adopted. I am still firmly of the view
that the decision was appropriate."23
23.      That statement of Wixley calls for the following comment-
The issue of reclassification has assumed the proportions that it
appears to have done in the minds of the inspectors (incorrectly
referred to by Wixley as "investigators") for good reasons. Firstly,
Frangos contended in his submissions to the Minister that the change
in accounting policy was timely for the executives of Corpcapital.
On the new equity accounting basis Corpcapital took about R8
million into profits. Had Corpcapital not changed from a mark-to-
market accounting policy, it would have had to record a disastrous
loss of R118 million to the bottom line. Coppin conceded that the
statement in the submission to the Minister that the change of
accounting had a distorting effect in that the previous increases in
value were included in "above the line" profits in 2000 and 2001 but
the 2002 decreasing value was included in "below the line" profits
Statement of Wixley, para. 10 p.5.
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was "correct accounting".24 Secondly, as appears below, there is
doubt as to whether there was, as a matter of fact, a change of
intention in regard to Cytech.
Wixley's understanding that the issue was queried by the JSE at the
instigation of Frangos or his advisors was incorrect. The query was
prompted by Deon Basson's article. The first letter of the JSE is
dated 27 May 2003. The JSE saw Frangos on 17 June 2003.25
Wixley said that the person who dealt with GAAP compliance at the
JSE (Ms Wimberley) was satisfied with Corpcapital's explanations
and the treatment the company adopted. On the contrary, the
evidence of Ms Wimberley was that after the exchange of
correspondence with Corpcapital and the meeting with Corpcapital
on 4 August 2003, the issue of the accounting treatment of certain
associates was still of concern to the JSE. The fact that two
accounting experts (Coppin and Abrahams) had opposing views
indicated that it might be a grey issue. It felt that it was not
appropriate to refer a grey issue to the GAAP Monitoring Panel
("GMP") of the JSE as it would be difficult to establish a GMP
which was not conflicted and, even if able to do so, if there was an
appeal to the Listings Advisory Committee ("LAC"), it would be
24
Statement of Coppin, para.3.3.16 p.30.
25
JSE letter to the inspectors dated 1 December 2003; Evidence of Ms Wimberley, Record 2074.
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difficult to put together an LAC because of further conflicts. In any
event, the issue revolved around the potential restatement of the
2001 annual financial statements. The information about this matter
was already in the market and it did not seem beneficial to pursue
the matter any further.26
24. The initial view of the inspectors was that, while there may have been a
change of intention in regard to other investments, there was no change of
intention in regard to Cytech - the intention remained to hold Cytech for
the purpose of sale in the near future:-
The interim results of 10 April 2002 and the 2002 annual report of
Corpcapital did not refer to a change of intention.  The justification
given for the change in accounting treatment of investments in those
two public documents was the adoption of consistent principles in
the new merged entity.
In the minutes of the audit committee meeting of 20 March 2002 and
the board meeting of 26 March 2002 there is no reference to a
change of intention.
In early 2002 Corpcapital continued to seek a buyer.  Hamburger's
evidence was that in January 2002 he and Liebesman met PwC
Corporate Finance ("PwC London").  PwC London represented that
26 JSE letter to the inspectors dated 1 December 2003; Evidence of Ms Wimberley, Record 2075-2080.
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they had online casino experience. PwC London was mandated to
sell Cytech. Hamburger received an engagement letter from PwC
London on 26 February 2002, which was signed on behalf of
Corpcapital and the trusts which held the interests of Harpaz and
Rose in Cytech. According to the PwC London engagement letter, it
was engaged to assist Corpcapital and the trusts "... in the potential
disposal of your combined 95% shareholding in Cytech Limited to
one specific acquirer agreed upon by PwC London and the sellers."
According to Hamburger, PwC London believed that UK listed
companies   like  Ladbrokes,  Gala  and  Paddy  Power  could  be
97
interested in Cytech given the predominance of non-US players.
Hamburger also testified that in late March 2002 Rose entered into
informal acquisition discussions with Sportingbet. The discussions
were not progressed as the Cytech shareholders believed that the
initial indications of pricing by Sportingbet were below expectations.
Ladbrokes and Paddy Power showed initial interest in the Cytech
business as a result of the PwC London initiatives at company
valuations approximating US$20 million.   These discussions never
no
progressed past a preliminary stage.
First statement of Hamburger para.209 p.50; Cytech( 12)32,79.
First statement of Hamburger paras.218 and 222 p.53.
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On 24 July 2002 PwC London e-mailed Hamburger with a report
that Ladbrokes was not willing to pay cash for the business; that
Paddy Power had made an initial offer of $10 million - $15 million;
that an option would be to approach wealthy individuals in Israel and
Greece; that PwC London was speaking to Wollenberg, a lawyer
who represented a number of gaming organisations.29
In a telephonic interview with Harpaz, who was in Australia at the
time, he was asked by the inspectors about the intention he and Rose
had to sell Cytech.    He said that their intention was to sell the
business and they tried to do so numerous times.  In answer to the
question whether there was a change of intention in that regard in
late 2001/early 2002, Harpaz stated:
"No, I think the - no, I think - like I said whenever there was a corporate
opportunity to sell we pursued it with vigour, but may be towards the end
may that - at certain stages that got stronger, in other words there was
more interest and we tried harder, and different periods there was no
interest and we thought well OK we will not sell now and we will sit tight
and wait."
He had a vague recollection about the mandate given to PwC in
early 2002.   He remembered speaking to Sportingbet, but said that
Rose would have a better recollection as he had quite a good
relationship with Blandford, the CEO of Sportingbet.30
Cytech( 12)209.
Record 1610-1611.
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25. Corpcapital's response to that prima facie view was to canvass the issue
again in its final submissions in the affidavits of five of the directors and
two members of management and in the reports of three experts. Ellerine
recalled that at the beginning of 2001 Liebesman informed him that it had
become evident that Cytech would not be sold in the immediate future: it
was simply not opportune to realise the investment for a number of reasons,
including market circumstances and operational issues within the
investment. Liebesman told Ellerine that he was not worried at all because
holding the asset and building the business would ultimately see
Corpcapital get a good return in line with overall business strategy. Some
weeks later, Liebesman informed Ellerine that he had been to London to
visit the business in order to see that Corpcapital's influence was felt
particularly to arrange that Corpcapital would be receiving minimum
dividends.31
26. Liebesman repeated in his affidavit what he had said before in regard to the
change of approach to investments, with the new Corpcapital deciding to
adopt the Corpgro approach and that after the merger, through the balance
of 2001 and in early 2002 the consensus within Corpcapital was that all
investments, with a few very specific exceptions, would be held and built
up through operational influence.  It followed that Corpcapital would then
31 Affidavit of Ellerine, para.8 p.5, the Corpcapital final evidence file.
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be looking to extract cash flow through dividends, management fees and
interest. In January 2003 Hamburger and Liebesman went to London to
discuss with Harpaz and Rose how the new approach would impact on
Cytech. Within Cytech, the change in the software operating platform was
material and untested, and would need to be able to show a track record
before a sale, merger or a listing could have been achieved. In these
circumstances, an event driven strategy was unrealistic and would not have
been likely to realise value. They understood this and they kept close to the
markets, investment banks, legal and corporate financial advisors active in
this industry. Liebesman discussed this with his co-executive directors,
Hamburger and other investment banking personnel. The strategy therefore
became to go back to basics and reposition and reduce overheads in the
business, even though this would take time and reduce short-term value.
Cash dividends became a focus. This was specifically agreed with Harpaz
and Rose during the London meeting. Hamburger arranged a meeting with
PwC in London that served to keep them abreast of industry trends and in
touch with their network. When PwC said they might have a buyer for
Cytech and wanted a mandate to enter into discussions, Liebesman was
interested to see what they could come up with although he expected little.
Liebesman certainly did not drive a potential sale process, as is evidenced
by the delay between the meeting and Hamburger's signature of the
mandate some one to two months later.    When Wixley joined Corpcapital
22
in mid-February 2001, Liebesman took him through the investments and
Corpcapital's approach to all of them. Specifically in regard to Cytech,
Liebesman explained to him that the circumstances of Cytech had changed
recently so that their investment could not realistically be sold in the short-
term.32
27. Hamburger said that a strategy session was held on 5 November 2001 in
London. Hoff, who was running the business, was specifically asked for a
"strategy for exit and expected timing". At the meeting Hoff expressed the
view that he did not believe the business was saleable because of Cytech's
lack of intellectual property ownership; Netainment was not a dominant
player in the market; established gaming industry players were entering the
industry, and the existence of legal uncertainties in the industry.
Hamburger disagreed with Hoff. He believed that the business, especially
with the enhanced profitability anticipated for the new software and Aqua
contracts, would make an attractive acquisition target in the future.
Hamburger reported the meeting's feedback to Liebesman. At a meeting of
the Corpcapital Investment Banking Exco of 14 November 2001 it was
minuted that there was no exit strategy currently on the table for Cytech.34
At the January 2002 London meeting with Harpaz and Rose, it was agreed
32
Affidavit of Liebesman, para.6 p.138, the Corpcapital final evidence file.
33
Cytech(l 1)275.
34
Cytech(l 1)288.
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to refocus energies on building a sustainable business platform.    They
wanted   to   tighten   up   on   costs   and   "get-back-to-basics".      All   the
shareholders   wanted   to   run   the   business   with   the   focus   on   cash
distributions. A dividend pay out of 50% of quarterly earnings was agreed.
Other than a remote possibility of a merger with Golden Palace, no other
exit opportunities were identified. Harpaz and Rose were not confident of
achieving a trade sale of the business.  In a Netainment Exco report dated
14 January 2002 it was recorded:
"Corpcapital and management have agreed to run the business with the focus on
cash generation and monthly dividends. From January 2002, the marketing spend
will be limited to one third of the previous month's drop and the dividend will be
50% of the profits."
In regard to the meeting with PwC in London, Hamburger said that he and
Liebesman agreed that if an acceptable offer was available for Cytech, they
would be interested.   A no risk mandate was agreed with PwC.    The
engagement letter was signed in March 2002.   The mandate specifies that
PwC were only to introduce Cytech to one specific acquirer. Subsequently,
PwC   proposed  another  potential  purchaser  and  they   agreed  to  this
additional introduction.    In Hamburger's opinion it would have been
difficult to dispose of Cytech at that time, but he knew that there was no
down side in signing the PwC mandate.   The PwC introductions proved
unsuccessful.    Rose's preliminary discussions with Sportingbet did not
24
progress further than a meeting.   Hamburger concluded his affidavit by
stating:
"If, however, an unexpected yet acceptable offer were received we would
consider it. This was true of all investments, not just Cytech."35
28.
Sacks emphasised that the fact that they remained interested in the
possibility of selling Cytech did not mean that that was their exclusive
intention and in fact they knew from internal discussions amongst
themselves and Rose, Harpaz and Hoff that the possibility was remote. At
the end of 2001, beginning of 2002, whilst Corpcapital's focus was
definitely not on exclusively holding assets such as Cytech for disposal in
the near future, that did not mean that Corpcapital would not take advantage
of extra opportunities for any of its investments. No private equity or
investment banking house would close that door. The mandate to PwC was
a side show and not the main event. Cytech management believed, and
Corpcapital agreed, that an acceptable exit was not achievable in the short-
.
36
term.
29.
Wixley said that he only became aware as a result of the s258 investigation
of the discussion by Liebesman and Hamburger in January 2002 with PwC
regarding a possible sale of Cytech.   However, that information does not
35
Para.10 p.203 of Hamburger's affidavit, the Corpcapital final evidence file; see, too, affidavit of
Liebmann, para.25 p.84, the Corpcapital final evidence file.

36
Para.14 p.156 of affidavit of Sacks, the Corpcapital final evidence file; para.3 p.l 85 of affidavit of Kidd,
the Corpcapital final evidence file.
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alter his view that Cytech was correctly dealt with in the financial
statements in February and August 2002. In all of his extensive discussions
at the time with other directors, the financial executives of the Group and
with the auditors, no distinction was made between the purpose for which
the investment was being held and the intention with regard to the other
investment banking assets. In February and August 2002 the investment
banking investments, including Cytech, were no longer held exclusively
with a view to their sale in the near future. Any offer to buy one of the
investments at a reasonable price would have been seriously considered by
the company, but in the case of Cytech in particular there was less
likelihood of a sale. Wixley again referred to his handwritten note against
the names of Aqua, Netainment and Cytech "will hold for some time".
Cytech, accordingly, was clearly not held "exclusively for sale in the near
future" (Wixley's underlining). The appropriate accounting treatment
therefore was to equity account Cytech and the other investment banking
assets.
30. In their final submissions, Fisher Hoffman said that they were satisfied at
the time, and subsequently, that there was a clear change in the
circumstances surrounding the Cytech investment and that the change in
classification and resulting change in inclusion in the financial statements,
was appropriate and correct.   At no time were they under the impression
26
that the intention in relation to the investment did not in fact change in a
manner which justified the accounting adopted. Apart from this change of
intention, they were aware that management had come to the conclusion
early in 2002 that they did not have prospects for selling their investment in
Cytech in the near future. Once this was the case, the enquiry about change
of intention becomes irrelevant because the requirements of the statement to
equity accounting is then peremptory.37
31. The experts reiterated their view that the enquiry is whether in terms of
AC110.07 Cytech was "held exclusively with a view to its disposal in the
near future". If Corpcapital was wanting to sell the investment, this did not
in itself mean that it was being held exclusively for sale; they could have
realised that the possibility of finding a buyer was not high and that if there
was a buyer who was prepared to pay a reasonable price for the investment
they would be open to receiving an offer, but they were obliged to be
realistic in assessing whether it was more likely than before that a buyer
would not be found. If circumstances had changed and as a result their
view was that a sale was not likely in the near future then they were
required to equity account for the investment irrespective of any preference
they may have had to sell the investment. Wilmot commented that while
there is little doubt that their intention in the initial years was to hold
37 Final submissions of Fisher Hoffman dated 18 March 2004.
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exclusively for the purpose of sale in the near future, the failure of the
Group to find a suitable buyer at an acceptable price over an extended
period must have caused doubt to be cast on the sustainability of the
argument that Cytech was "held exclusively with a view to its sale in the
near future".38
32.     The inspectors find that there was a change of intention in regard to
Cytech: -
Old Corpcapital, Rose and Harpaz tried to sell the Netainment
business during the pre-merger period without success;
In November 2001, Hoff, who was responsible for running the
business on a day-to-day basis, was of the view that the business was
not saleable;
In late 2001/early 2002 the strategy of the merged entity changed,
Corpcapital deciding to adopt the Corpgro strategy of holding assets
for the  long-term rather than the  old Corpcapital  strategy of
acquiring assets for a speedy realisation;
The change in strategy was conveyed to Wixley when he joined
Corpcapital and at the audit committee of 20 March 2002 he noted
that Cytech would be held for some time;
Reports of Everingham, para.3 p.265, Coppin, para.2 p.267, Wilmot, para.l p.274, the Corpcapital final
evidence file.
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The board, including executive and non-executive directors, and the
external auditors, Fisher Hoffman, accepted at the time that there
had been a change of intention;
Cytech management and Corpcapital believed that it was improbable
that a buyer for Cytech at an acceptable price would be found in the
short-term;
The unsuccessful attempts in early 2002 to sell the business were not
necessarily  inconsistent  with  the  change  in  intention -  if an
acceptable   offer  had  been  received,   Corpcapital   would  have
considered it;
From early 2002 Corpcapital no longer held Cytech "exclusively for
sale in the near future".
Section 8: Was the investment in Cytech fairly valued in 2002?
1. On 16 August 2002 PwC was engaged by Corpcapital to estimate the
recoverable amount of Cytech at 31 August 2002 as required by AC 128 for
assessment of impairment. During August and September 2002 PwC had
numerous meetings and discussions with Hamburger, Matisonn and other
members of Corpcapital management regarding the valuation. On 2
October 2002 PwC met with the audit committee to present their
preliminary findings. PwC made a presentation of "Main Assumptions and
Issues to Audit Committee". It was agreed that PwC would make their full
presentation to the audit committee on 10 October 2002. Prior to that date,
the presentation was delivered to Corpcapital for distribution. On 9
October 2002 PwC met with Frangos, who made various representations to
them in regard to the valuation.1
2. On 10 October 2002 PwC tabled a supplementary report, which raised
additional concerns that they had and also concerns raised by Frangos, at an
audit committee meeting. Goldhawk presented the "Critical Assumptions
Impacting on Management Forecasts" to the audit committee. He wanted
the board of Corpcapital to sign off on the assumptions and representations
made to PwC by management. Goldhawk testified:
1 Statement of Goldhawk paras.3-6 p 10; G221; G228; R757-759.
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"All of these issues here, virtually everyone, we were raising them because we did
not have proof of them and therefore we said: 'members of the board and
members of the audit committee you must take cognisance of the fact that we
have done an evaluation based upon this and we are not satisfied that they are
correct, therefore you have to step in the breach.' ... And it was for that very
reason that I had to go this route because had there not been confirmation that this
is the case then the valuation cannot be sustained on that basis. ... I used the word
'critical', and they were, and that was the reason that I had decided, particularly in
the light of the work we had done, and also representations from Mr Frangos, that
I wanted to table all of the issues full frontal to the full board."
The critical assumptions were the following:
"-        Management forecast revenue to grow between 10% and 14% (using the
revenue for the six months ending 31 August 2002 as the base case
scenario) primarily from entry into new markets and affiliate programs.
Management believe that the Aqua admin fee will be re-negotiated at the
end of August 2003 and has forecast this fee to reduce from 7.5% of net
drop to 3.8%. This represents a drop of some USD 500 000 per annum.
The minimum IMS monthly royalty per the IMS agreement is the greater
of USD 100 000 per month or 6.5% of gross revenue.   Management
indicated that the minimum royalty is currently being re-negotiated and
the minimum is forecast to reduce to USD90 000 by November 2002.
This represents a further saving of some USD 120 000 per annum.
Management advised that CFI are currently finalising their agreement with
the Royal Bank of Scotland which will reduce the CFI fee from 5.5% to
4.5% of purchases. This will represent a saving of some USD 150 000 per
annum.
Marketing efficiency is forecast to improve based on Cytech's strategy of
focusing on niche territories which have less competition and higher
marketing efficiency.  This represents a drop in expenditure of some 8%
of turnover representing a saving of some USD1 200 000.
Fixed and variable overheads are forecast to increase by 10% and 6.5%
per annum, respectively.   Management indicated that cost savings as a
result of the relocation of staff to South Africa amount to approximately
USD60 000 per month which is supported by the monthly accounts.
Jackpots as a % of revenue are forecast to decrease from 3% in 2002 to
2% representing a further cost saving of USD 150 000 per annum.
Management forecasts PAT margins to increase from 13% in 2002 to
approximately 30% in 2003 principally as a result of the above potential
cost savings.
An internet casino license fee amounting to approximately USD6 000 per
month  is paid to the Mohawk Council  of Kahnawake (the license
2 R760,765,766.
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agreement was not available for perusal).  Management have advised that
the license can be renewed indefinitely.  If no renewal can be negotiated,
this may have a negative effect on costs and operations.
Cytech is incorporated in a tax haven and is forecast to have a zero %
taxation rate.
Cytech does not have a fixed dividend policy.  Management advised that
no STC will be payable on the dividends (if any) declared as the money
will not be returned to South Africa.
Management believe that the positive/negative effect of working capital
requirements does not materially impact on the value of the business. We
have not identified any issues which show this to be an unreasonable
assumption.
Capital expenditure is forecast to equal depreciation.   This amounts to
approximately USD200 000 per annum depreciated over 3 years.
Management indicated that they are unaware of any material liabilities or
contingent liabilities that may impact on the valuation."3
4.       Goldhawk told the audit committee that there were additional factors to be
taken into account, namely:
"- The internet gambling industry is fraught with a tremendous amount of
uncertainty. This is due to the potential long-term implications of reduced
credit card transactions and changes to gambling legislation that may
result in some onerous requirements for the gambling industry. New
gambling regulations (licensing, marketing, money laundering, credit
card) may increase the cost base, negatively impacting on profit margins
and revenue.
Weak economy. A downturn in consumer spending particularly in the US
would likely curtail gambling revenues.
Barriers to entry are high but competitor numbers are growing. Smaller
operators may soon lose market share to larger competitors with stronger
worldwide marketing capabilities. Land based casinos may capture a
major portion of the market share if they were to enter the industry. This
could have a positive effect if they were to place a significant value on the
user base.
Management indicated that the transfer to the IMS software contributed to
the 60% decrease in revenue in 2002. The IMS software has a lower
lifetime value per player than the Microgaming software. This may
negatively impact on future revenue and marketing expenditure forecasts.
Fashion risks. The end user can be 'fickle' and switch to the newest, more
entertaining games very quickly. The development of new products could
be key in market share retention and development.    Competitors are
3 G258; G259
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launching new interactive real life online gambling software.    Cytech
warranted that throughout the 7 year term of the IMS agreement it will
only use the IMS system in the operation of an online casino and will not
use any other system or software.
The IMS contract is for a minimum of 7 years and carries very onerous
cancellation terms.
We have not been provided with copies of the contracts with Aqua and
CFI.
Future growth depends on marketing capabilities and access to working
capital. Affiliate programmes are generating low-quality signups although
several are generating positive cashflows. This may negatively impact on
future marketing expenditure.
An important factor in a slot's popularity is the math imbedded in the
machine - the frequency and the amount of the payout.   This may put
pressure on jackpot expenditure.
Key man risk exists in that the operations are reliant on a couple of key
persons.
There is no written shareholders agreement which can have a negative
impact in the event of any dispute.
The financial statements of Cytech and its predecessor, Netainment, have,
to the best of our knowledge, never been formally audited.   We have
therefore   had   to   rely   on   unaudited   management   accounts   and
responsibilities."
5. Goldhawk expressed his view to the audit committee that in valuing Cytech
it would be appropriate to include as an assumption a tax rate of 30%.
Liebesman and the other executive directors, according to Goldhawk, were
vocal at the meeting in suggesting that Goldhawk had not understood
Corpcapital's tax structure. He stuck to his guns. At the request of Wixley,
he furnished Wixley with the tax status of similar companies so that the
audit committee could consider his representations on tax. The valuations
that Goldhawk placed on Cytech ranged from R39 million to R159 million,
4 G260; G261
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depending on various assumptions. The conclusion he came to was that the
value of Cytech was R84 million, subject to the critical assumptions.5
6. On 15 October 2002 PwC provided Corpcapital with the AC 128 valuation
of 47,5% of the ordinary shares of Cytech Limited as of 31 August 2002.
The conclusion was in these terms:
"Based on our analysis, we estimate the:
Before taxation Value in Use and the Net Selling Price of 47,5% of the
ordinary shares of Cytech on a non-marketable basis to be R120 million
and R86 million as of 31 August 2002, respectively, and the
After taxation (applying a 30% notional tax rate) Value in Use and the Net
Selling Price of 47,5% of the ordinary shares of Cytech on a non-
marketable basis to be R84 million and R60 million, respectively.
After taxation (applying a 30% notional tax rate on the residual) Value in
Use of 47,5% of the ordinary shares of Cytech on a non-marketable basis
amounts to R109 million.
The Recoverable Amount will be the higher of the Value in Use and the Net
Selling Price."6
PwC's AC 128 valuation was subject to a number of "limiting conditions".
7.        On the same day, 15 October 2002, Goldhawk wrote a letter to Wixley in
which he stated:
"As discussed at the meeting, we have requested management to confirm in
writing the various representations made to us substantially in the form of the
attached draft letter. At the time of writing, we have not received the written
confirmation and therefore our opinion cannot be finally signed off at this stage.
Subject to there being no material variations to the attached draft, our opinion
letter will not change."
5
G262-264; R773-775; Audit committee minutes para 6; CorpCap(6)63.
6
G267.
7
G270.
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Nearly four months later PwC received a letter signed by Hamburger on a
Corpcapital Investments letterhead in which Corpcapital confirmed that
various representations set out in the letter were, to the best of their
knowledge and belief, true and correct.  One of the representations was the
following:
"9 The unaudited financial information ... supplied to PwC ... for [Cytech]
and utilised in your analysis present fairly, in all material aspects, the
financial position and results of operations for [Cytech]. The balance
sheets that were contained in the financial information were not completed
for some months."
8. Goldhawk testified that the valuation of Cytech was "a directors'
valuation". PwC's valuation of R84 million was not reliably measurable
unless the board of Corpcapital confirmed that all the critical assumptions
had been correctly made.
9. Accordingly, Payne's finding that PwC "valued" or "determined the value"
of Cytech (to be R110 million) was correct10 if the board of Corpcapital
confirmed that all the critical assumptions had been correctly made.
10. At a special audit committee meeting consisting of only non-executive
directors which was convened on 16 October 2002 it was resolved:
8
G272.
9
R787, R794-796.
10
Payne Report, applic 290-291.
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"PWC's valuation of Cytech was accepted. Tax would be applied on the residual
value of the asset and the final value of Rl 10 million was agreed.""
On the following day, 17 October 2003, the value of R110 million for
Cytech was conveyed to the board.
11.     A dispute has arisen between Wixley and Goldhawk about whether the
previous valuations of Cytech should have been restated at previous
accounting dates.    An analysis of the documents prepared at the time
reveals that on 15 October 2002, in a letter addressed to Wixley, Goldhawk
stated:
"I note that a preliminary review of the company's shares at 31 August 2001
indicates that the value attributed to the shares may have been overstated.
However, more work will have to be done on the historical financial information
13
should you wish us to provide you with a definitive opinion."
The minute of the meeting of the audit committee of 16 October 2002,
which Goldhawk attended for a time, contained no reference to restatement
of the values of Cytech.14 However, at the audit committee meeting on 27
March 2003, which Goldhawk did not attend, the minutes of the meeting of
16 October 2002 were amended, in this regard, as follows:
"PwC expressed the view, which was endorsed by the committee, that no
restatement of previous financial years' figures was required in respect of
previous Cytech valuations."
11
Corpcap(6)63.
12
Corpcap(3)67.
13
G270.
14
Corpcap(6)63.
15
Corpcap(6)74.
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Goldhawk gave evidence on 6 October 2003. He said that what he would
have conveyed to the audit committee was along the lines of telling the
committee that the previous financial statements did not contain a
fundamental error in that the difference in valuations was not so material
that those accounts were wrong: consequently they did not have to recall
them and reissue them. But, said Goldhawk, he did not give the audit
committee a clean sign-off in the sense that he conveyed that he was
satisfied with the previous valuations of Cytech. Goldhawk said that he
was asked if he would confirm that previous valuations were "... OK and I
said I would have to do significant additional work." What Goldhawk said
he told the audit committee was that "... in arriving at our valuations we
will look back and we will see what is coming through from that to get the
trends and that sort of thing. It was not specifically going back and
reviewing the quantum of those valuations." So at no time did he support
the previous valuations.16 When the evidence of Goldhawk came to the
attention of Wixley, he wrote a letter on 20 October 2003 to Goldhawk in
which Wixley, having referred to Goldhawk's letter of 15 October 2002,
said that it was with that statement in mind that he included an item on the
agenda of the meeting of 16 October 2002 requiring a consideration of the
values at the previous accounting dates, namely, 31 August 2001 and 28
February 2002. He continued:
16 Evidence of Goldhawk, record 781-788.
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"I also clearly remember asking you a direct question regarding the possible need
to restate the valuations of Cytech at previous accounting dates. You replied that,
although with the benefit of hindsight the value of 31 August 2001 may have been
too high, you saw no need for any restatement.    This was accepted by the
committee and is supported by the minutes of the meeting which include the
following:
'PwC expressed the view, which was endorsed by the committee, that no
restatement of previous years' figures was required in respect of previous Cytech
valuations.'
The decisions of the committee regarding the valuation of Cytech at 31 August
2002 and the confirmation that no restatement of previous years was required was
reported to the Board on 17 October 2003 at its meeting to approve the 2002
financial statements. All the members of the audit committee were present."
Wixley requested Goldhawk, as a matter of urgency, to confirm to him in
writing whether he was in agreement with what Wixley had recorded in his
letter, and if not, what Goldhawk's version was.17   Wixley handed to the
inspectors a draft letter by Goldhawk to Wixley dated 5 November 2003 in
which Goldhawk said that he did not have any detailed contemporaneous
notes of the meeting of 16 October 2002 and that he necessarily had to rely
upon memory in respect of much of the detail contained in Wixley's letter.
He attended the meeting for a short period early in the morning and did not
recall having been present for the whole meeting.   He had a note that he
was back in office in Sunninghill at 08h30 am. The letter continued:
"With regard to the subsequent paragraphs relating to the possible restatement of
the value at 31 August 2001, I believe that your recollection is not dissimilar to
mine. I recall a general discussion as to the potential need for restatement and a
discussion of the various factors that had changed since that date which had
severely impacted on the value of Cytech. We also confirmed that the basis of
valuation undertaken at that date was similar to that which we had used. We also
had cognisance of the fact that KPMG had reviewed the valuation at a date near to
the year end. For all these reasons, I believe that we concluded that it was
probably not necessary to amend the valuation at that date.
,7TW232.1.
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I note however that I do not recall any formal resolution being tabled at the
meeting in the form in which it is contained in the Minutes of your meeting. I
also note that I was not requested to confirm such a view in writing. The only
request I received was to amend the valuation letter to include a third alternative
valuation in which tax was only provided on the residual valuation. This I did and
forwarded it to you by e-mail at 11.05 am the same morning."
12.      Some of the comments made by Hamburger on the events leading up to the
August 2002 valuation were as follows:
"219.1 Revenue and profits were significantly behind budget.
219.2  Infrastructure was relocating to South Africa and the business intended to
scale down infrastructure in London.
221      A Business Week article dated April 29th 2002 contained the following
insight:
221.1 European online betting would grow from $3.5 billion in 2002 to
$15.5 billion in 2005 (over 140% per annum).
221.2 Merrill Lynch believed that Europe 'offer[ed] the best environment
for online gaming companies in the world'.
221.3 Entrepreneurs would find ways around the credit card issue.
223 The Bear Stearns' gaming analysts forecast that industry revenues in 2003
could drop by 16% from 2002 revenues.
224 The value of the business was ultimately undermined by the following
factors:
224.1 the multi-product growth strategy that has not been successful yet.
The quiz initiative failed and the increased overhead was not
required to support other products;
224.2 the systemic industry issues (credit card issue which began in June
but which did not affect the business until the second quarter of
2002);
224.3 the software migration in October 2001 that proved a mistake as
the software is of a lesser quality to the MGS software;
224.4 Evan was a disappointment (overheads increased without a
concomitant growth in turnover or profits).
TW233.
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226     PwC   were  engaged   to   perform   an   independent   valuation   of the
business."19
13.
Collett and Adam pointed out that PwC had concluded that the value in use
was as follows:
Before taxation: R88 million to R120 million range
After taxation: R60 million to R84 million range.
With the value reflected in the financial statements being Rl 10 million, this
implied that a valuation "before taxation" was approved by the directors, or
alternatively that the directors did not accept PwC's range of valuations.20
14.
Collett and Adam believed the profit forecasts to be "highly optimistic" and
that they were apparently based on the following "justifications":-
"-        Management believe that the Aqua admin fee will be renegotiated
reducing fees from 7.5% to 3.8% of revenue (drop).
Management  indicated   that  re-negotiation   will   reduce   royalties  by
$120,000 per annum.
Management advised that CFI will reduce its fee from 5.5% to 4.5% of
purchases resulting in a saving of $150,000 per annum.
Marketing efficiency is forecasted to improve, resulting in a saving of $1,2
million,
Management forecasted PAT margins to increase to 13% in 2002 and 30%
in 2003 as a result of the above cost savings.
11.25.11
Insofar as it could be relevant, the above intentions and/or views of
management of Cytech (Netainment) should have been weighed
against the various negative factors set out in the PwC report.
11.25.13
AC128 states the following: 'future cash flows should be estimated
for the asset in its current condition. Estimates of future cash flows
should not include estimated cash inflows or outflows that are
expected to arise from:
Hamburger's statement, p.53.
19
20 Applic, pp.447-448 paras.l 1.25.3 and 11.25.4.
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(a) a future restructuring to which an enterprise is not yet
committed, or
(b) future capital expenditure that will improve or enhance the
asset in excess of its originally assessed standard of
performance'."21
15.
In rejecting the PwC valuation as being "not prudent" and "unacceptably
high and/or misleading", Collett and Adam said:
"11.25.15 Despite the obvious weakening of markets, increased competition
that would put pressure on profit margins (profit/sales) and the
actual profit margins achieved over these previous financial years
(2000-2002) which varied from 8% to 13%, the PwC-valuation
seemingly accepted that profit margins of 29% to 34% forecasted
for 2003 and 2005 ... were prudent and reasonable. It is difficult
to see how an independent minded valuator could consider such
profit forecasts as prudent and reasonable.
11.25.16
We are therefore not convinced that the beliefs or indications
and/or forecasts of Cytech's management justified valid
expectations that all the cost-savings would be realised."22
16.
Armitage's comments on the August 2002 valuation were as follows:
"WACC 24%:
Suitably conservative
Terminal growth rate 3%:
In   line   with   inflation.      This   is   very
conservative given industry forecasts and a
three year forecast period.
Effective forward PE 5x:
Very conservative given industry valuations
and the valuation of virtually any stock
market in the world (JSE = 11.5x).
Forecast:
Conservative assumptions made on turnover
growth and cost reductions forecast.  Looks
reasonable, but the risk of forecasting at this
■   stage is high.
Subsequent analysis:
The actual profit achieved for the year ended
August 2003 was circa US$1.50m, so the
21
Applic, pp.450-451.
22
Applic, p.452.
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actual PE on the first forecast year of
earnings was 14.5x. This still looks full, but
not unreasonable."23
17. As indicated above, the R109 million "valuation" for Cytech arrived at by
PwC was after taking into account tax on the residual (selling price), but
ignoring tax on the monthly forecasted profits of Cytech.
18.     Everingham's comments on this were as follows:
"... no tax was applied in relation to the profits and cash flows. The figures to be
used in the valuation should in principle be after tax numbers. If the jurisdiction
in which the entity operates is indeed one in which no tax would be paid in the
foreseeable future, it would be correct to disregard tax; if not, tax at the expected
effective rate should be allowed for."
19.     With regard to the criticism that the valuation took into account reduced
fees and expenses for certain key services, on occasions before finalisation
of contractual commitments, Knight's views were as follows:
"I have carefully reviewed the valuation process and on occasion estimates were
influenced, correctly, by intended future arrangements. According to the
representations made to me it seems that in all cases the expectations were
realised. In my opinion it would have been imprudent not to account for these
expected changes in the way they were handled. I do not believe that such
adjustments were reckless and nor do I believe that they detracted from the
fairness of the valuation."25
20.      The inspectors cannot find that the investment in Cytech was not fairly
valued at 31 August 2002:
Armitage's statement, p.22.
Everingham's statement, p. 19 para. 13.
Knight's statement, p. 11.
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the company's valuation of RllO million was within the range of
PwC's before tax estimates, and its R109 million valuation after tax
on the residual;
the preponderance of the experts support that valuation.
Section 9: Disclosure in the financial statements (2002)
1.
The inspectors having found that there was a change of intention in regard
to Cytech, the change from fair value accounting to equity accounting in the
2002 annual financial statements is considered to have been in accordance
with GAAP:
AC119.36 (as revised by AC102) allows fair value accounting for
joint ventures only where the interest was acquired and held
exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near future,
or where the joint venture operates under severe long-term
restrictions that significantly impair its ability to transfer funds to the
venturer.
2. In changing to equity accounting in 2002, Corpcapital did not account for
the change on a retrospective basis. This meant that the prior years' figures
for Cytech were not restated.
3. Abrahams as well as Collett and Adam were of the view that the change
to equity accounting (if it had been appropriate at all) should have been
accounted for either as a change in an accounting policy or as a
fundamental error in terms of AC 103.  Their reasoning was that either the
1
Applic, p.206 para. 11.21.1.2 and p.205 para. 11.21.1.1.
2
Applic, p.459 paras. 13.2.5 and 13.4.
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change was a change from one acceptable (allowed) basis of accounting to
another (change in accounting policy) or that the basis used in the past (fair
value accounting) had been incorrect and that the change should, therefore,
have been accounted for as a fundamental error. In either case, AC 103
required the restatement of prior years' (comparative) figures in line with
the new basis used.
4. Corpcapital contended that the change was neither a change in accounting
policy nor a fundamental error and that restatement of prior years' figures
was not required in the circumstances, nor indeed would it have been
appropriate. The change was merely a reclassification of the investment in
Cytech (and others) following the merger in 2001 as a result of the changed
intention referred to above.
5. In this regard, Abrahams pointed out4 that even if the change were viewed
as a reclassification of the investment as contended for by Corpcapital, the
prior years' figures should still have been restated in terms of AC 101.41.
6. In his response Sacks indicated5 that AC101.41 did not refer to a
"restatement" and that he did not believe that this paragraph required a
3
Audit committee minutes of Corpcapital, 26 March 2002, para.8.3.
4
Applic, p.209 para. 11.22.
5
Sacks' letter to inspectors dated 7 November 2003, p.4 para.8.
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restatement of prior years' figures in the case of a reclassification. He
pointed out further that certain pro-forma figures were, nevertheless, given
for the reclassified investments for the prior year for ease of reference.
7.
Coppin's view was that:
"... The issue is whether an associate that is required to be accounted for on the
equity method, whereas previously it did not meet the requirements to be
accounted for on the equity method, is a change in accounting policy".
He believed that there was a change of intention with regard to the Cytech
investment which required the change in the accounting treatment.   This
was not a change in accounting policy and it would not have been
appropriate for the new method to have been used in prior years and a
restatement of prior years' figures would have been incorrect.
8. Coppin further contended that the change was not a fundamental error in
that the accounting treatment in prior years has been appropriate and in
accordance with GAAP. The change in intention did not mean that the new
method was appropnate for the prior years.
9. Referring to AC 101.41, Coppin was of the view that this paragraph related
to:
6
Coppin's statement, pp.27-29.
7
Coppin's statement, p.29 para.3.3.10.
4
"... items whose classification is the same for both years and where the
presentation in the financial statements has changed. ... My opinion is also based
on the premise that it would not be correct to show the investment in Cytech in
the 2001 financial statements as an associate because that implies it was an equity
accounted associate, which it was not if it was acquired and being held
exclusively for disposal in the near future."
10.     Coppin points out that the accounting statements do not deal specifically
with the situation where an associate or joint venture accounted for at fair
value is subsequently accounted for on the equity method due to the
investment no longer being held exclusively with a view to its subsequent
disposal in the near future.9 He conceded, however, that:
"... the financial statements can be criticised in that more explanation could have
been provided regarded that change of intention. While the change was disclosed
in the financial statements, it focuses on adopting consistent principles of
classification and accounting treatment of investments, instead of the change of
intention. However the result of the change in intention is reflected in the
financial statements."
11. Another criticism raised by Abrahams as well as Collett and Adam was that
the carrying value of the Cytech investment at the end of the 2001 financial
year should not have been regarded as the "cost" of the investment in the
2002 financial statements following the change to equity accounting. They
believed that the original cost of the investment should have been
reintroduced at that time.   Had the prior years' comparative figures been
Coppin's statement, p.29 para.3.3.11.
9
Coppin's statement, p.27 para.3.3.3.
10
Coppin's statement, p.27 para.3.3.4.
restated in line with the equity method, this would have resulted in the
original cost being reintroduced.
12. Coppin responds to this by referring again to the fact that the accounting
statements do not provide any specific guidance on this particular matter,
but he does make reference to other examples in the statements where the
carrying value of the investment at the date of a change in accounting
method is required to be regarded as the "cost" for equity accounting
purposes from the date of change.11 He concludes that this matter also has
been accounted for appropriately in the 2002 financial statements.
13. Other matters concerning disclosure that were criticised by Abrahams as
well as Collett and Adam were as follows:-
The investment in Cytech was incorrectly described as an associate
and not as a joint venture. Also no accounting policy was disclosed
for joint ventures;
The information required to be disclosed in terms of AC 119.47
(second sentence) was not disclosed for Cytech as a joint venture. It
was combined with the similar information disclosed for associates;
11 Coppin's statement, p.29 para.3.3.12.
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The definition of associates in the "Principal accounting policies"
note should have excluded any reference to a long-term interest, in
terms of the definition of AC 110;
The specific write-off period over which goodwill associated with
the unlisted investment was to be written off (although the maximum
period was disclosed as 20 years and additional information relating
to the goodwill write-offs is given in the "Key Financial Highlights"
section of the annual report, which is not part of the financial
statements).
14. In their opinion, therefore, in the absence of disclosure in the financial
statements for 2002 of the information required by AC 103 with regard to a
change of accounting policy or a fundamental error, the financial statements
were not appropriately described as complying with GAAP.
15. With regard to the first 3 points referred to in 13 above, Coppin concedes
that on a strict interpretation of GAAP these matters were not disclosed
entirely in accordance with the relevant accounting statements, but he
argues that these are not material violations and would not have materially
affected the overall fairness of the financial statements. With regard to the
4th point relating to the specific write-off period of goodwill not being
12 Applic, p.212 para.11.30 and p.457 para.13.1.
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disclosed, he disagrees that the relevant statement (AC131) requires the
specific number of years to be disclosed "... the counter is that it is just
requiring whether the rebuttable presumption had been rebutted or not and
if so then AC 131.89(b) applies." He argues that the statement does not
specify the degree of accuracy required and that it could be argued that the
period has been given in the financial statements (i.e. less then 20 years).
He argues, therefore, that it cannot be said that the failure to disclose a
specified number of years as the write-off period is a contravention of
GAAP.
16.     The inspectors find that:
the change in the accounting treatment for the investment in Cytech
in 2002 from fair value accounting to equity accounting was neither
a change in the basis of accounting nor a fundamental error requiring
a restatement of prior years' comparative figures in terms of AC103:
the new accounting treatment resulted from the change of
intention in terms of which the investment was no longer held
exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near
future;
the new accounting treatment (i.e. equity accounting) would
not have been appropriate in the prior years and, therefore, it
8
would not have been appropriate to restate the prior years'
figures in line with the equity method;
the specific reason for the reclassification of and change in the
method of accounting for certain investments, particularly Cytech,
namely the change of intention, should have been clarified in a note
to the financial statements of Corpcapital for 2002;
as demonstrated by the different interpretations by the experts of
AC 101.41, the provisions of AC 101.41 are not clear as to whether
the "reclassification" of the investment in Cytech following the
change of intention require the Cytech figures of the prior years to
have been restated;
the investment in Cytech should have been disclosed as a joint
venture and the accounting policies note should have included a
policy on joint ventures as was done in the 2003 Corpcapital
financial statements;
the information required to be disclosed in terms of AC 119.47
(second sentence) should have been disclosed for Cytech as a joint
venture separately from the similar note for associates, as was done
in the 2003 Corpcapital financial statements;
the definition of associates in the "Principal accounting policies"
note should have excluded any reference to a long-term interest, in
terms of the definition of AC 110;
9
the specific number of years over which goodwill is written off
should have been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements:
AC 131.89(a) requires "the amortisation period adopted" to be
disclosed for goodwill.
17. The inspectors are unable to find that the Corpcapital financial statements
for the 2002 financial year did not fairly present, in all material respects, the
financial affairs of the company and the Group and the results of their
operations in accordance with GAAP and in the manner required by the
Companies Act, as the contraventions of GAAP referred to in paragraph 16
above are not considered sufficiently material to have influenced the
economic decisions of users.
Section 10: The impact the revaluation of Cvtech had as at 31 August 2000 on
bonuses and restraints of trade:
1.       In his letter of resignation, Frangos raised no specific complaint about the
Cytech valuation in 2000 and bonuses and restraints of trade. However, in
his submissions to the Minister, the following was stated:
"4.3.9 The conflicts arising from the aggressive and possibly fraudulent
valuations of Cytech are apparent when regard is had to the fact that on the
basis of the profit of old Corpcapital for the year ended 31 August 2000,
created via a dubious revaluation of Cytech, substantial executive bonuses
and restraint of trade payments, totalling in all approximately R60 million,
were paid. No cash existed to support such payments. It falls to be
investigated whether in that year fraudulent valuations were conducted to
generate fictitious profits, which in turn were used to justify substantial
payments to executives."1
2.       The gravamen of Frangos' complaint is that in the financial year 2000:
fraudulent valuations of Cytech were conducted;
to generate fictitious profits;
which in turn were used to justify substantial payments (of R60
million in bonuses and restraint of trade payments) to executives.
3. The inspectors have found that the valuation of Cytech at 31 August 2000
was not fraudulent. The revaluation from R4,5 million at 31 August 1999
to R149 million at 31 August 2000 generated unrealised profit. The profit,
however, was not fictitious.   The mere fact that the profit was unrealised
' Applic 15.
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does not in itself render it fictitious. What remains to be investigated is the
link between the revaluation of Cytech and the bonuses and restraint of
trade payments paid to executives in 2000, particularly in relation to 1999.
4.
The 1999 remuneration principles provided that:
a bonus would be "calculated on share of profits, percentage of
salary or any ad hoc discretionary awards. The bonus, where
possible, should be directly related to the individual's performance
and be measurable against this performance";
the maximum bonus pool on aggregate would be 15% of pre-tax
profit after charging cost of capital, taking into account risk factors
associated with that business, appropriate deductions to recognise
other charges, and where appropriate a notional hurdle rate of
return.2
5.
The bonuses paid by old Corpcapital in 1999 were in total R7,9 million,
made up as follows:
to executive directors R2,8 million; and
to staff R5,l million.  The bonus paid to Liebesman by Corpgro to
February 1999 was R2,3 million.
2Rem(2)125-126.
3 Statement of Sacks, annexure 2, paras.9-10.
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6. The application of the bonus formula in 2000 resulted in a bonus pool of
R15,03 million at old Corpcapital (R15,15 million being paid to
executives), while at Corpgro the formula yielded a pool of Rl2,07 million
(of which R3,33 million was paid).4
7. The bonuses of R15,15 million paid by old Corpcapital in 2000 were made
up as follows:
R7,95 million (of which Rl,75 million was non-discretionary) to
executive directors;
R7,2 million (of which R4,08 million was non-discretionary) to
staff. Corpgro paid Liebesman a bonus of R3,15 million.5 In
respect of the 12 month period to 31 August 2000, the remuneration
committee of Corpgro decided that Liebesman would be paid what
other executive directors received by way of bonus plus 50%. The
decision was not based on any formula.6
8.
The discretionary bonuses increased 23% including Liebesman and 19%
excluding Liebesman.
4 Statement of Sacks, annexure 2, paras.34 & 36.
6 Statement of Liebesman, para.79; Statement of Sacks, annexure 2, para.36
5 Statement of Sacks, annexure 2, paras.34 &36.
Statement of Liebesman, para.79; Statement of
7 Affidavit of Sacks, para.15.9-15.10 pp.163-4, the Corpcapital final evidence file.
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9.
In 2000 it was agreed to pay bonuses comprising a cash portion and a
deferred portion, partly in recognition of unrealised profits. The deferred
portion fell to be amended by the performance in the following year. The
bonuses of R15,15 million were paid as follows:
cash only
R751 300
cash and deferred
Rl 4,4 million
the cash and deferred bonuses of R14,4
million were split into two:
cash
R7 711882
Q
deferred bonuses
R6 686 118
10. The bonuses of the executive directors were agreed upon by the
remuneration committees of old Corpcapital and Corpgro. The bonuses to
be paid to staff went through a process over a period of months which
involved the human resources department and the executive directors of
Corpgro and old Corpcapital, including Liebesman, Grolman, Liebmann
and Sacks.
11. In determining bonuses, the Group would use the formula as a guideline
and usually as a maximum. Numerous other factors would then be taken
into account including the "quality" of earnings and "adjustments" to
8 Statement of Sacks, annexure 2, para.39; Rem(2)234.
accounting profit. Qualitative factors would include whether the executives
had fulfilled their objectives and mandates, many of which were not profit
related. In the 2000 financial year, old Corpcapital's unrealised income
comprised approximately 26,5% of total income. At Corpgro level, this
was approximately 21,3% of total income and approximately 8,4% of total
revenues (including sales of consolidated subsidiaries).9
12.      Corpcapital contends that:
while the valuation of Netainment in 2000 was obviously important
from a Corpcapital Investments perspective, it was still material, but
relatively less so, from a Corpcapital Group perspective where the
Group managed wider and broader income streams;10
except to the limited extent that the fair value of the investment in
Cytech influenced the determination of the maximum bonus pool in
old Corpcapital, Corpgro and new Corpcapital, the increase in the
carrying value of the investment in Cytech did not play any part in
determining the remuneration of executive directors;
there was never a conscious, subconscious or surreptitious effort to
influence executive directors' remuneration through the upward
valuation of Cytech or any other investment;
9
Statement of Sacks, annexure 2, para.38.
10
Statement of Sacks, annexure 2, para.38.4.
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remuneration,   especially  the   discretionary   bonus   portion,   was
determined on the strength of overall achievement of objectives and
individual performance based on a multitude of factors;
not least amongst the factors determining remuneration was the need
to retain the key executive directors.11
13. The total amount paid for restraints of trade from 1 September 1999 to 31
August 2000 by old Corpcapital was Rl 4 918 750, of which R4 718 750
was paid in shares (see annexure "FR4" hereto). The restraint of trade
payments were completely unrelated to Cytech, as appears from s 8
(restraint of trade payments), ch.IX (remuneration).
14. The inspectors find that:
the unrealised profits in old Corpcapital, which included the surplus
on the revaluation of Netainment, contributed to the bonus pool;
in arriving at the bonus for each executive director and member of
management, a number of factors were taken into account;
the revaluation of Netainment from R4,5 million at 31 August 1999
to R149 million at 31 August 2000 must have played a significant
role in the increase in 2000 in the discretionary bonuses awarded to
the executive directors and staff;
1' Statement of Liebmann, para.21.
there was no intention on the part of any executive director or
member of management to fraudulently inflate the value of
Netainment in order to generate a substantial bonus.
